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P U R P O S E

Our customers’ wishes are seeds that grow and 

become the future.

Seven Bank began in response to our customers 

who wanted to see ATMs in 7-Eleven stores.

Customers’ wishes came fi rst, that is our origin.

Times change,

and so do people’s needs and wants. 

They also become diverse.

While holding true to our core philosophy, 

we keep evolving to meet our customers’ wishes.

As a unique bank that offers, convenience, 

reliability and trust, Seven Bank continues to 

launch new initiatives that support people and society.

As a vital part of people’s daily lives, we remain inventive, 

striving to create new lasting value beyond traditional 

fi nancial services.

We strive to be closer to our customers, 

to help them fulfi ll their wants and needs easily.

Using cutting-edge technology and manpower, 

we challenge ourselves to move beyond the status quo.

We seek to create a better version of daily life for everyone.

That is our reason for being.

S T O R Y

Create a better 

version of daily life 

by going beyond 

the wishes of 

our customers.
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Become aware of the Purpose

We have provided a wide range of opportunities for employees to become aware of the Purpose, such 

as distributing video messages from the president, holding briefi ngs for each department, posting 

posters in the offi ce, and distributing background images for online meetings.

Personalization of the Purpose

Training was provided for directors and offi cers, 

general managers, promoted employees, and 

new graduates. Focus was placed on discus-

sion with members, with the aim of cultivating 

a deeper understanding by comparing his/her 

own behavior to the Purpose and fi nding the 

path to fulfi ll the Purpose.

Purpose Survey (Survey on permeation of the Purpose)

We conducted a survey of all employees to objectively confi rm their 

level of recognition and understanding of the Purpose. Based on 

such level, we study more effective permeation measures and deploy 

them throughout the Bank.

Our business began with the aim of meeting our customers’ wish 

to see ATMs in 7-Eleven stores. Since then, we have continuously 

created new services by repeatedly striving to realize our custom-

ers’ wishes.

As digitalization has made progress, our customers’ lives have 

changed signifi cantly, and our business also needs to undergo 

major changes.

When considering Seven Bank’s sustainable growth in the future, and what form the Bank take in the 

coming times, we fi rst needed to reconsider the reason for the company’s existence in society, so we 

formulated the Purpose of Seven Bank in April 2021.

Discussions on the formulation of the Purpose of Seven Bank were made between a total of almost 50 

people, including top management members and employee volunteers. Over about six months of listening 

carefully to the opinions and thoughts of all employees, the discussions got deeper and deeper. In the 

process, we reaffi rmed that the values that we have held dear since our founding are our unshakable 

origin. We started our business in order to realize our customers’ wishes to see ATMs in 7-Eleven stores. 

Over the 20 years since then, we have continued working to realize our customers wants and needs. This 

is still our reason for being and will continue to be so into the future.

Since the Purpose of Seven Bank was formulated, more and more employees have asked if we are 

going beyond the wishes of our customers. We are more determined than ever to meet the wishes of 

our customers, and we continue to pursue challenges with the Purpose as our decision-making axis and 

guidepost. Seven Bank continues to confi rm if we are going beyond the wishes of our customers at every 

stage of our operations while valuing internal dialogue, to create new lasting value.

Toward the next stage of growth in a way that refl ects the Purpose.

In order to fulfi ll the Purpose, it is important that each employee has a correct understanding of the 

Purpose and is able to decide and act based on the Purpose. We have positioned the fi rst year after 

the formulation of the Purpose as an awareness and learning phase, and have implemented a variety of 

measures to permeate the Purpose throughout the Bank.

Measures to permeate 
the Purpose within the Bank
Measures to permeate 
the Purpose within the Bank

BackgroundBackground

Background of 
online meetings, 
wallpaper for PCs

To fulfi ll the Purpose

Values that we have held dear since our founding and unshakable origin

Entrance of Seven Bank Headquarters
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As a fi nancial institution with roots in retail, 
we are drawing closer to customers, and 
enhancing convenience for both real and virtual

The business environment surrounding Seven Bank 

has been changing dramatically. With the continued 

advance of digitalization, conventional fi nancial 

functions are segmenting, growing more sophisti-

cated, and becoming seamlessly connected, which 

is accelerating the reorganization of the fi nancial 

industry at the global level. People’s lifestyles and 

values have also changed signifi cantly as a result of 

the COVID-19 pandemic. There is no doubt that in 

society the roles expected of fi nancial institutions 

and the functions required of them will increasingly 

change. During such a major transition period, what 

is important is how well we will anticipate the needs 

of customers and provide fresh and unique services 

and functions, which means transcending the 

traditional bounds of fi nance.

Most recently, with the increasing prevalence of 

cashless payment, cash-related needs have been 

rapidly diminishing—this is commonly heard. But 

going forward, in society, I don’t think all payment 

methods will become cashless for sure. Looking at 

government statistics, as cashless payment options 

have spread, the amount of cash circulating has 

also increased. I think it is important to provide 

a variety of options depending on each person’s 

lifestyle and particular needs, for shopping online 

or at real stores, and for meals delivered or out at 

restaurants, for example. As one of diverse choices 

in society, I think the role of our ATMs will continue 

to grow. Along with meeting cash-related needs 

while accommodating the shift to cashless payment, 

then we need to go beyond. Having ATMs function 

as infrastructure for various services, including 

those related to the administration of government 

programs, we enhance convenience in both real and 

virtual arenas. This is the position we need to take.

Drawing on the DNA we’ve embraced to create 
a new movement

What I have consistently striven to do ever since 

I fi rst joined the Bank is think from the customer’s 

point of view and to tackle new challenges. This is 

what I have learned from Seven-Eleven. Financial 

services are subject to very strict regulations and 

guidelines, and the industry’s conventional wisdom 

is associated with them. There have been cases 

being left to stand that have needed to change 

in order to respond to changes in the times and 

advances in technology. However, as a fi nancial 

institution rooted in retail ways of thinking, Seven 

Bank has focused on always seeing things from 

the customer’s point of view and providing what 

customers truly want.

Our ATMs are one result of this. At the time, 

there were no services that allowed deposits and 

withdrawals to be made with cards from various 

fi nancial institutions at a single ATM. The conven-

tional wisdom in the industry at the time was to 

limit deposits to one’s own bank because of the 

complexity involved in processing banknote jams 

that would sometimes occur when money was 

deposited. Overturning the conventional wisdom to 

put highest priority on customer convenience, we 

tackled a host of challenges, including developing 

new technologies, creating a remote response 

scheme, handling charges for various code-based 

payment methods, and accommodating Individual 

Number Cards, and as a result today we have over 

26,000 ATMs nationwide and have grown into social 

We aim to be a provider of social infrastructure

capable of meeting broad-ranging needs

beyond the framework of fi nancial services Masaaki Matsuhashi
President and Representative Director

Message from the President
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infrastructure that handles over 900 million ATM 

transactions annually.

What’s more, customers of Seven-Eleven expect 

to be provided with new products and services for 

more enriching, more convenient lifestyles. As a 

member of the Seven & I Group, we must accurately 

grasp the needs of customers and meet their 

expectations on a day-to-day basis, and we must 

continue to take on new challenges to this end.

One recent example is our Smartphone ATM 

service. Through use of a smartphone app, custom-

ers can deposit and withdraw cash at Seven Bank 

ATMs even without a card. Smartphone ATM was a 

groundbreaking movement that came out of chang-

es in the lifestyles of our customers, and it had a 

major impact on the industry. Our long-term goals 

going forward are to create the next new movement 

and have it spread throughout the industry and also 

to contribute to promoting digital transformation 

(DX) in Japan. We recognize that these are very lofty 

goals, but we intend to move our business forward 

guided by this vision.

Rapidly scaling up initiatives by promoting digital 
transformation and data utilization

Seven Bank has been carrying out its Medium-Term 

Management Plan (FY2021 – FY2025) since fiscal 

2021. Under the plan, we have a goal of realizing a 

second stage of growth by seizing the opportunities 

from changes in society, and to achieve this goal, 

we have three main focuses: growth strategy, 

contribution to solving social issues, and corporate 

transformation.

In the plan’s first year, in a difficult environment 

marked by economic stagnation from the pandemic 

and the further advance of cashless payment, con-

solidated ordinary income was ¥136.6 billion and 

consolidated ordinary profit was ¥28.2 billion. Both 

income and profit declined year on year but were in 

line with the plan. This fiscal year, the second year 

of the plan, we are projecting consolidated ordinary 

income of ¥149.0 billion, but we will also continue 

investing with a view to our next stage of growth, so 

we are putting consolidated ordinary profit at ¥28.0 

we will work to further expand the value provided by 

ATMs as a new social infrastructure that is close and 

convenient, and reliable and safe. 

In the financial services business, we are planning 

to continue increasing the number of accounts 

and use of personal loan services. Moreover, in 

fiscal 2022, we plan to launch securities brokerage 

services and steadily work to expand and enhance 

our service menu. Another challenge for us will 

be thoroughly pursuing Group synergies. With 

leveraging the Group’s enormous customer base, 

we will work to further ramp up our retail services by 

enhancing use of data.

In our overseas business, which is a growth field, 

it will be important for us to expand business quickly 

and consistently in the United States, Indonesia, 

and the Philippines, where we have already estab-

lished services. At FCTI, Inc. in the U.S., we will start 

to diversify services in the same way as Japan while 

working to increase operational efficiency. In the 

meantime, at PT Abadi Tambah MuliaInternasional 

(ATMi) in Indonesia and PitoAxMPlatform, Inc. in the 

Philippines, we are aiming to increase ATM installa-

tions, further stabilize operations and increase the 

number of transactions.

Working to resolve social issues through our  
main business, pivoting on five material issues

Seven Bank has positioned the promotion of 
sustainability as the basis for its management 
strategy. We have specified five material issues 
that the company as a whole, will proactively 
work on solving environmental and social issues 
through business activities. We believe that 

billion. The difficult environment is expected to con-

tinue for the time being, but by focusing on realizing 

an “ATM+” world that seeks to create new value, on 

financial services that pursue unique products and 

demonstrate synergies with the Seven & I Group, 

and on the overseas business, which will establish 

a dominating presence in three countries overseas, 

we will steadily increase the topline and by doing so 

work to achieve ordinary income of ¥170.0 billion in 

the plan’s final year.

This fiscal year, we will need to quickly scale up 

a variety of initiatives for which the seeds were laid 

last year. To this end, one of my missions is to pro-

mote DX and more active use of data strategically.

Continuing to expand the value of ATMs, even in a 
difficult environment, and moving to the next stage

In our domestic ATM business, which is our solid 

income base, the number of ATMs is continuing to 

increase due to replacement of ATMs by financial 

institutions and demand from train stations, airports, 

and commercial facilities. In addition, various 

initiatives are underway to build an ATM+ world that 

transcends the conventional concept of an ATM as 

a cash platform, with personal authentication, for 

example, and services linked to Individual Number 

Cards. For financial institutions, we have started an 

initiative in which personal authentication via facial 

recognition at ATMs is used to meet needs such as 

account openings, changes to notification items, 

and ongoing customer management.

Moreover, we have started to work with regional 

governments on providing a service that allows 

people to receive government benefits through our 

ATMs anytime, anywhere and without the need for a 

bank account. This is currently being implemented 

as proof of concept for benefit payments from 

Kakogawa City in Hyogo Prefecture utilizing the 

Individual Number Card and benefit payments 

made by Shibuya City in Tokyo in connection with 

its childbirth grant program. With regard to DX for 

administrative services, the value of ATMs is being 

reaffirmed as a concrete example of a type of user 

interface that leaves no one behind. And with these, 

providing safe and secure payment infrastructure 
through approximately 40,000 ATMs globally 
is connected to the resolution of social issues 
because such services provide the infrastructure 
as a solution to meet people’s various cash-relat-
ed needs.

We are also involved in multifaceted services 
for foreigners living in Japan so that Japan 
comes to be recognized as highly livable for 
everyone. These include an international money 
transfer service that can be used easily from a 
smartphone app, and in addition, credit cards 
and purpose-specific loans for foreigners living in 
Japan. Going forward, we will consider expand-
ing services in response to the needs not only of 
foreigners living in Japan but also foreign travel-
ers visiting Japan, who are gradually increasing, 
and through this work to realize multicultural 
symbiosis.

Seven Bank is a supporter of the Recommen-
dations of the Task Force on Climate-related 
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and is actively 
working to tackle climate change. With every 
new generation of ATM, energy consumption is 
cut substantially, and by reducing the frequency 
of ATM cash transportation as well, we are 
reducing CO2 emissions from the transport 
process. Moreover, we plan to procure renewable 
energy for all the electricity used by data centers 
that will be the foundation of our new system 
platform. In this way, in collaboration with Seven 
& I Group companies and our various partners, 
we will contribute to solving increasingly serious 
environmental problems.

Message from the President
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Improving IT skills of individual employees and 
establishing a data-driven culture 

To accelerate transformation of both organization 

and business model/process as one of growth 

strategies, we will continue promoting the Corpo-

rate Transformation (CX) Project. Companies must 

change to adapt to the social environment, and this 

project aims to transform the company focusing 

on “human resources, organization, and corporate 

culture” and “data-driven business models and 

processes” with a view to changing employee 

mindsets and evolving technologies. For a new 

movement, we need to create an environment for 

all employees can learn the latest technologies and 

also privilege to use diverse sets of data to promote 

operating efficiency or develop new products and 

services. However, technology is not everything. It is 

always important to think from the customer’s point 

of view. Rooted in this idea, utilizing diverse data 

and cutting-edge technologies while maintaining 

our specialization and high level of quality which 

are always required as a bank will help give us a 

strong competitive advantage. To this end, we are 

engaged in hybrid personnel reinforcements and 

organizational reforms to improve IT literacy in-

house while also acquiring outside IT professionals 

with extensive experience and skills.

Three values in my management philosophy

There are three key values when I run the company: 

Designing for total optimization, defining “Why” 

for encouraging empathy, facing with what society 

faces.

Designing for total optimization

When designing new services, there is a tendency 

for optimization to be in the department that is 

responsible. The ideal though is ongoing overall 

optimization with outsourcing partners and continual 

reconfiguration of DX design in line with the times. 

In the case of designing new services, an agile 

approach to development has become essential in 

which after a service is launched issues are prompt-

ly grasped and immediately resolved while upgrades 

are made on an ongoing basis. It is important to 

design the entirety including data optimization for 

grasping various phenomena from the development 

stage. We will constantly and flexibly meet customer 

needs and develop data-driven services that are 

seamlessly linked with the businesses of other 

companies.

Defining “Why” for encouraging empathy

Based on past experiences and successes, I think 

empathy is the most powerful driving force. By 

initiating new services that contribute to society 

and forming alliances with vigorous startups, a 

passion begins to burn in your heart, and when that 

happens, it becomes an incredibly powerful force. 

To collectively mobilize your colleagues and become 

a major force together, empathy management is 

important. Accordingly, instead of a top-down ap-

proach, each individual employee at the workplace 

questions themselves- “Why is this job necessary?” 

“How does this contribute to society?”—and then 

this is tied to output. In this way we will create an 

organization that allows for passionate discussion 

and debate with colleagues.

Facing with what society faces

Generally, there is a tendency to think of service 

levels to meet standards of one’s own department, 

In addition, we have a team called Seven Labo 

that promotes innovation company-wide with its an-

tenna up to changes taking place in society. Seven 

Labo acts quickly and flexibly beyond organizational 

demarcations to promote a variety of projects, 

and we would like to integrate this mode of orga-

nizational operation into the rest of the company. 

Like a Holacracy-style organization, we are aiming 

for organizational operations that are flat, without 

vertical relationships, and with strong emphasis on 

individual autonomy.

Developing unique services using the latest digital 

technologies, it is essential we further enhance 

our skills in data analysis and usage. Actually, in 

Indonesia, we use AI to select installation sites, and 

currently around 20% of ATMs have been placed 

at sites selected via AI. In order to fully integrate 

data-based business processes such as this, we 

launched a new organizational unit in April 2022, the 

Data Management Office (DMO). The office not only 

collects data departments want to use and provides 

data it has rendered visually, but it also works to 

ensure the security of data assets. Through such 

initiatives, we are aiming to firmly establish a da-

ta-driven culture at our workplaces.

company and industry—those organizations to 

which you yourself belong. With the industry 

reorganizing and DX accelerating, however, the 

comparison should not be with the organization or 

industry to which you are affiliated. What is needed 

are ideas or inspiration that create the industry’s 

new conventional wisdom, and this is done by 

grasping changes in society and its needs yourself 

and taking an approach that did not exist previously. 

Based on our own past experiences, unraveling an 

industry’s conventional wisdom strand by strand 

can not only improve convenience for customers 

but also generate new value for society. In this 

sense, an industry’s conventions are a treasure 

trove of innovation. Questioning the conventional 

wisdom and sincerely facing up to societal changes 

and customer feedback leads to the creation of 

innovation.

A path towards a second stage of growth to  
fulfill the Purpose

As a member of Seven Bank from the time of 

its founding, I have tackled various challenges 

to contribute to its growth. Society, however, is 

constantly changing. We will continue to create 

the future ourselves based on the same approach 

of discarding previous successes, questioning the 

conventional wisdom, and making changes.

In the future, in 2050, the environment surrounding 

convenience stores and banks will have changed, 

and the way people shop and the nature of financial 

services, too, will have no doubt changed greatly. 

To enable Seven Bank to continue to serve as social 

infrastructure that is close and convenient, reliable 

and safe in this age to come, we will get on track of 

our second stage of growth in line with our current 

Medium-Term Management Plan and make the 

utmost effort for further sustained growth and higher 

corporate value.

Going forward, we will continue striving to fulfill 

the Purpose and to meet the expectations of all 

stakeholders, from customers and suppliers to 

business partners and employees. Thank you for 

your continuing support.

Message from the President
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This integrated report includes information related to Seven Bank’s management policy, business performance, business overview, corporate 
social responsibility (CSR) and fi nancial position.
It has also been prepared to include comprehensive non-fi nancial information that supports our sustainable growth.
Forward-Looking Statements: This document contains statements
concerning the current plans, expectations, strategies and beliefs of Seven Bank, Ltd. (“Seven Bank”). Statements contained herein that relate 
to future operating performance and that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements may include, but 
are not limited to, words such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “strategy,” “expect,” “forecast,” “predict,” “potential,” “possibility” and similar 
words that describe future operating activities, business performance, events or conditions. Forward-looking statements, whether spoken or 
written, are based on judgments made by the management of Seven Bank, based on information that is currently available to it. As such, these 
forward-looking statements are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, changes in the level of demand for the 
services offered by Seven Bank, challenges Seven Bank faces in achieving further growth and various other factors. As a result of such risks and 
uncertainties, the actual business results of Seven Bank may vary substantially from the forecasts expressed or implied in forward-looking state-
ments. Consequently, investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Seven Bank disclaims any obligation 
to revise forward-looking statements in light of new information, future events or other fi ndings. The information contained in this document does 
not constitute or form part of any offer for sale or subscription of or solicitation or invitation of any offer to buy or subscribe for any securities, nor 
shall it or any part of it form the basis of or be relied on in connection with any contract or commitment whatsoever.

This report has been created to provide shareholders, investors and other stakeholders with non-fi nancial 
information on issues including the environment, society and corporate governance, integrated with 
fi nancial information, to describe how we create corporate value in an easy-to-understand format. The 
report has been prepared referencing the International Integrated Reporting Council’s (“IIRC”) “International 
Integrated Reporting Framework,” published in December 2013, and the Ministry of Economy, Trade and 
Industry’s “Guidance for Integrated Corporate Disclosure and Company-Investor Dialogues for Collabora-
tive Value Creation,” announced on May 29, 2017.
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Seven Bank’s Value Creation

Seven Bank’s Origin and Striving to Create New Value

  Seven Bank’s Origin    Striving to offer innovative 
fi nancial services

   Toward a Society in Which 
No One Is Left Behind

   Creating new value in a better 
version of daily life

“If there was an ATM at 7-Eleven, it would be more 
convenient …”
Seven Bank was established in 2001 in response to 
such customers’ wishes. We have worked to devel-
op secure and effi cient settlement infrastructure by 
providing ATM services that can be used “anytime, 
anywhere, by anyone, and with safety and security.”

Today, we have grown into playing a role as part 
of the social infrastructure with more than 26,000 
ATMs in 47 prefectures in Japan used by some 2.5 
million customers a day.

What we have held dear since our founding is to 
stand in our customers shoes. This is our unshak-
able origin and driving force for the future. We strive 
to realize new services that goes beyond the wishes 
of our customers through our ATM network.

An era in which many types of people participate in 
various ways. We introduced voice guidance ser-
vices to our ATMs in 2007 so that visually impaired 
customers can also access our ATMs with peace of 
mind. We have also supported the ATM transactions 
for cards issued overseas for tourists from overseas 
whose number has increased as a result of govern-
ment-led promotion of tourism. In addition, we have 
enhanced international money transfer services for 
foreign nationals in Japan to remit money to their 
home countries with peace of mind, and multilingual 
support provided on ATM screens and at Contact 
Center. In 2020, we commenced credit-related 
services and purpose-specifi c loan services for 
non-Japanese residents. We are pursuing conve-
nience for many types of customers, contributing to 
the realization of multicultural symbiosis.

The environment surrounding Seven Bank is 
changing dramatically. Recognizing that changes 
in society is a business opportunity, we respond to 
diversifying customers’ needs. Overseas, leveraging 
our knowledge in the operation of ATMs, we have 
expanded our ATM business in Indonesia and the 
Philippines, starting with the United States in 2012. 
In addition, leveraging know-how accumulated 
through fi nancial services, we are supporting 
settlement needs of more than 1,800 companies. 
We are also working on business diversifi cation, 
including provision of contract-based service that 
integrates back-offi ce support and systems, and 
fraud detection services to prevent fi nancial crime. 
The Seven Bank Group, including its subsidiaries, 
continues to create new value in a better version 
of daily life, going beyond conventional banking 
services and utilizing digital technology.

Seven Bank’s History

The wave of digitalization has brought about major 
changes in society such as electronic money and cash-
less settlements. Seven Bank began handling a top-up 
service at ATMs for nanaco electronic money cards in 
2007. Since then, we have offered services that are the 
fi rst service of its kind in Japan for the convenience of 
our customers, including “smartphone ATM service” that 
allows cash deposits and withdrawals using only smart-
phones, and “ATM cash receiving service” that enables 
companies to send money to individuals without using 
a bank account. Recently, we have started offering “My 
Seven Bank” App, which completes account opening in 
as little as 10 minutes through personal authentication 
using facial recognition and enables ATM transactions 
using smartphones, and transactions related to Individual 
Number Card at ATMs in cooperation with administrative 
and medical services. By striving to offer a number of 
fi rsts in Japan, Seven Bank transforms fi nancial services 
into something more convenient and accessible.
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Since its founding, Seven Bank has always stood in its customers shoes and continued to 
take on various challenges. Seven Bank’s ATM services that can be used anytime, anywhere, 
by anyone, and with safety and security now serve as social infrastructure that meets diverse 
needs. They are supported by the following strengths.

1

2

3

4

We have ATMs at Seven & i Group stores, 
including 7-Eleven, as well as airports, 
stations, commercial facilities, and tourist 
locations to meet diverse needs of our 
many customers in their daily lives. In 
addition to traditional cash deposit and 
withdrawal transactions, usage of our 
ATMs has continued to grow as a valu-
able point of contact between the real 
and virtual world amid the trend toward 
cashless settlement, including top-
up transactions to support diversifying 
settlement needs.

This ATM network, which has grown to 

serve as social infrastructure, is the core of 

our business and our unique strength.

Roughly 22.2 million customers visit 
Seven & i Group stores every day (fi scal 
year ended February 28, 2022). We utilize 
this Group’s customer base to develop 
and provide unique fi nancial products 
and services for the convenience of our 
customers. We work on to provide new 
customer experience values that seam-
lessly connect shopping and fi nance, 
going beyond conventional thinking, while 
constantly being aware of the customers’ 
point of view and new challenges. Toward 
demonstrating further group synergies, 
we strengthen collaboration with the 
Group companies to create new values 
that connect us with our customers in 
their daily lives.

Seven Bank develops its ATMs jointly with 
its partner companies. Our ATMs, always 
developed from the customers’ point of 
view and manufactured to the highest 
level of quality, are operating continuously, 
24 hours a day, 365 day a year.

In the event of any problems, we quickly 
restore service with partner companies. 
Responding to ATM outages, providing 
ATM security, and securing transport 
require collaboration with partner compa-
nies with highly specialized skills.

ATM Call Centers monitor our ATMs 
24 hours a day, 365 days a year, and 
our ATMs are able to achieve a 99.98% 
operating rate.

The development of the digital society 
also drastically changes the business 
model of fi nance. In addition to ATM 
services we have developed, we combine 
advanced DX with our expertise and 
know-how we have cultivated to date 
such as banking back-offi ce support and 
systems, authentication and security, and 
cash settlement functions, to create new 
business. Seven Bank’s ATMs serve as a 
service platform that enables collaboration 
with administrative and medical services, 
such as an Individual Number Card and 
a health insurance card. Leveraging such 
infrastructure, we aim to meet diverse 
customers’ needs, develop ways of using 
ATMs suitable for the present time, and 
further expand our social values.

Nationwide ATM network As a member of the Seven & i Group

Realization of The Non-Stop 24/365 ATM Integration of expertise unique to 
a bank and advanced DX

ATM as social infrastructure

Relationship of Trust with 
Partner Companies

Demonstrating Group synergies

Seven & i Group’s customer base

Brand strengtht that drives 
the ability to attract customers

Formidable presence

Establishing service platform

Corporate
continuous

culture of
challenge

Organizational
to generate

capabilities 
innovation

More than 26,000 ATMs 
throughout Japan

Alliance Network of 620 companies

Used by some 2.5 million customers a day

Development capabilities to achieve 
high quality and multifunctionality

Ability to perform thorough security 
and maintenance work

Unparalleled system operation capabilities

Highly reliable 
back-offi ce processing capabilities

Safe and secure 
fund management and fund transfer

Cutting-edge authentication technology
Advanced security functions

Growth StrategyValue Creation Management Foundation
Seven Bank’s Value Creation

Seven Bank’s Competitive Advantage and Management Resources
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vv

Value Creation Process

Financial capital Offer a safe, secure 
settlement infrastructure

Create a lifestyle through 
new fi nancial services

Create a society where
everyone can be active

Reduce the environmental 
burden

Realize multicultural 
symbiosis

Human and intellectual capital

Social and relational capital

Natural capital

Manufacturing capital

● Solid fi nancial base
Net assets (consolidated): ¥244.1 billion

● Steady management
Consolidated ordinary profi t: ¥28.2 billion

Ensuring around-the-clock operation of 
ATMs

Measures for preventing fi nancial crimes

Installation of new-type ATM 
(fourth-generation ATMs)

Development of new services addressing 
social issues

Services for visually impaired customers

Smooth procedures for those who are not 
smartphone users

Responses to fl exible working styles and 
work environments that are worthwhile to 
work in

Establishing an 
organization that 

leverages diversity 
(human resources and 

governance)

Reducing CO2 emissions

Reducing waste generation

Environmental conservation activities

Financial services for non-Japanese 
residents

Multilingual support system

● Active participation of diverse human resources
Ratio of female managers: 16.0%

 Ratio of mid-career employees to full-time 
employees: 74%

● Promoting corporate transformation
 Training sessions on data utilization: 

8 sessions with 76 participants

● Nationwide network
 Partner fi nancial institutions: 620 companies
 Customers for corporate services: more than 

1,800 companies
● Formidable brand strength
 Synergy with the Seven & i Group
● Trustworthiness as a bank

● Pursuing environmental burden reduction
 Power consumption of fourth-generation ATMs
 (compared to third-generation ATMs): 

approximately 40% reduction
 Recycling rate for disposed ATMs: 

approximately 100%

● ATM services that can be used anytime, 
anywhere, by anyone
Number of ATMs installed
   In Japan: 26,253
   Overseas: 12,804
Number of ATM transactions per year: 
more than 910 million in Japan
ATM operating rate: 99.98%
Languages supported for ATMs: 12 languages
Voice guidance services: available for all ATMs

Society with a 
diverse range 

of choices

Easy-to-live 
daily life

A world in 
which no one is 

left behind

Sustainable 
global 

environment

1

2

3

4

5

Management foundation
(for sustainable growth)

Business model
(solid competitive advantage)

Medium-Term Management Plan 
(for the second stage of growth)

Fulfi lling public 
mission and social 
responsibilities as 

a bank

Unique fi nancial service 
that realizes both 

“close and convenient” and 
“reliable and safe”

through ATMs around the world

Capital Output Outcome ImpactsBusiness activities

See page 28 See page 41 See page 59

ATM platform

Diverse services offered 
through more than 26,000 ATMs 
throughout Japan

Means of top-up for cashless 
settlements

Diverse services offered 
at ATM for administrative and 
medical services

Retail services

Demonstrating synergy from 
collaboration with the Seven & i 
Group

Diverse fi nancial products offered 
through the Bank’s app, such as 
intermediary for securities trading 
and post payment services

Financial services for non-
Japanese residents

Corporate services

Responding to needs for cash 
settlement by SMEs

Streamlining of operations and 
security measures for fi nancial 
institutions

Services overseas

ATM services to meet needs 
overseas

Sustainability Initiatives

Initiatives for the fi ve material 
issues

Cooperate with the Group and 
external contractors for solving 
environmental issues

In order for Seven Bank to achieve sustainable growth, it is essential to enhance both social and eco-
nomic value by leveraging our strengths and solving social issues through our core business. Aiming to 
fulfi ll our Purpose, we work to establish a foundation for the second stage of growth as well as to build 
a management foundation that supports long-term growth, for enhancement of our corporate value.

See page 28

Growth 
strategy

See page 59

Corporate 
transformation

See page 41

Solving 
social 
issues

Fulfi lling the Purpose

Create a better version of daily life 
by going beyond the wishes of 

our customers.

Growth StrategyValue Creation Management Foundation
Seven Bank’s Value Creation
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People’s lifestyles and fi nancial needs change with the times. Seven Bank recognizes that these 
changes are an opportunity, and together with our diverse stakeholders, including our customers and 
partner fi nancial institutions, aims to realize a better society and sound business development.

● Utilize ATMs as 
nationwide access 
terminals

● Build a platform 
combining multifunction 
ATMs and banking 
services

● Pursue the convenience of UI and 
UX, and develop unique fi nancial 
products

● Offer fi nancial access for non-
Japanese residents and tourists 
from overseas

● Create new customer experience 
value through group synergies

● Utilize ATM network worldwide

● Cooperation with diverse 
stakeholders

● Realize a symbiotic 
society with nature

● Establish a sound 
management foundation

● Cultivate a corporate 
culture in which diversity 
thrives

A company that offers social 
infrastructure capable to meet 
a wide range of needs beyond 

the fi nancial boundary

Create a better version of 
daily life by going beyond 
the wishes of our customers. 

Realize an ATM+ world

Establish sustainability management

Solve social 
issues and 
enhance 

corporate value 
through all of 
our business 

activities

Seamlessly 
provide fi nancial 

services 
necessary in every 

person’s life

Support DX of 
all businesses 
and services 
to enhance 

convenience for 
consumers

The 
Purpose

●  Increase in the number of non-
Japanese persons working in Japan

●  Issues related to the foundation of 
daily life of non-Japanese residents

  Material Issue 5: Realize multicultural 
symbiosis

● Increased risks from climate change
●  Growing awareness of the crisis in global 

environmental sustainability

 Material Issue 4: Reduce the environmental burden

● Promotion of diversity management
●  A society where diverse people can experience 

well-being

  Material Issue 3: Create a society where everyone can 
be active

● Concerns about security as digital settlement gains popularity
● Increasing sophistication and ingenuity of fi nancial crimes
●  Acceleration of streamlining of fi nancial institutions’ operations 

(decrease in the number of fi nancial institution counters and ATMs)
● Increased reliability and security as a fi nancial infrastructure
● Diversifi cation of settlement needs overseas

Material Issue 1: Offer a safe, secure settlement infrastructure

● Increased diversifi cation of values and lifestyles
● Changes in needs for fi nancial products
● Progress in cashless payment

Material Issue 2: Create a lifestyle through new fi nancial servicesSeven Bank so far

Born from voices of customers, 
“It would be great to have an 
ATM at 7-Eleven”

Realize a world where 
customers can use ATMs 
safely and securely anytime, 
anywhere

Vision

A unique bank that 
offers convenience, 
reliability and trust

Seven Bank at present

Seven Bank from now on

Accelerate business diversifi cation

The environmental changes and initiatives 
based on material issues

Growth StrategyValue Creation Management Foundation

Seven Bank’s Long-Term Vision

To be a true social infrastructure that is 
always needed

Seven Bank’s Value Creation
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Aiming to establish a dominant presence 
by realizing an ATM+ world

Seven Bank has grown on the basis of a business 

model of meeting cash transaction needs by pro-

viding convenient settlement infrastructure centered 

around ATMs. Going forward, we believe that 

expanding the value provided by ATMs, as the most 

convenient social infrastructure and service platform 

for diverse needs, will lead to the Bank’s next stage 

of growth.

This is expressed through the idea of an ATM+ 

world. Services that are made possible specifi cally 

by our ATMs, which are found in 7-Eleven stores 

and other close, convenient locations and have a 

variety of functions, will be created together with 

fi nancial institutions and operating companies that 

are our customers seeking to improve convenience 

for their customers, and it is our fi rm belief that this 

will greatly broaden the span of the conventional 

ATM world. We also believe that it will lead to the 

sustainable growth of the Bank.

With a view to giving further shape to its second stage of growth, Seven Bank has established 
a project team to realize an “ATM+” world that goes beyond the conventional concept of the 
ATM and has started designing new services and conducting a variety of demonstration exper-
iments. We interviewed Toshikatsu Kashiwaguma, the project team’s leader, on the concept of 
the ATM+ world and the direction of the demonstration experiments.

Creating a world where all procedures and authentication 
processes can be performed on ATMs

This was our concept from the time our new-type 

ATM (fourth-generation ATM) was being developed. 

To successfully evolve from a straightforward 

cash platform into a service platform that provides 

a variety of services, our new ATM is equipped 

with diverse functions not found on other ATMs, 

including facial recognition with a high-precision 

camera, a reading function for QR codes*, IC cards, 

and personal identifi cation documents like driver’s 

licenses and Individual Number Cards, and a func-

tion for sending information to smartphones.

We launched the new ATMs in September 2019, 

and they continue to be installed mainly in the 

Tokyo metropolitan area. Utilizing these functions 

for various needs also makes it possible to provide 

both fi nancial and non-fi nancial services, and we 

believe that through this the ATM+ world we envi-

sion can be realized.

This transitional period is a major 
opportunity for the ATM business

At the same time, considering the business environ-

ment surrounding our company, there is no doubt 

that fi nancial institution reorganization and digitali-

zation will further accelerate. We are currently in a 

transition period, moving toward a digital society. 

But because it not possible to completely make this 

transition, we believe there are major opportunities 

for our ATM business.

In a survey of individuals conducted by our 

team in fi scal 2022, it was found that convenience 

store ATMs ranked high, next to smartphones and 

computers, as the channels people have the highest 

expectations for with regard to banking procedures 

and identity verifi cation, which outranked real 

channels such as bank counters and post offi ces. 

Currently in Japan domestically, the smartphone 

Seven Bank’s ATM+ World

Seven Bank

Channel

Authentication, 
security

Back-offi ce 
support

Functions, 
infrastructure

From a viewpoint of both customers and business partners, making their 
wishes for new services and greater convenience a reality

Administrative 
procedures

Change of 
address, etc.

Back-offi ce support/
centralized processing

Personal 
authentication 

(proost)

Online/batch API

ATM

Facial 
recogni-

tion
QR linkIC 

reader
Cash card 

authentication
Media 
photos Data entryOCR

Deposits 
and with-
drawals

Top-up

Credit ratings

Fraud detection 
(Detecker)

AML/CFT

Public certifi cation 
for individuals

Web portal

Direct mail sending/
processing

Anti-phishing 
measures

ATM control/
customization

Inquiry response

Card verifi cation 
(one-time 
password)

SDK/OEM

Smartphone

Account 
opening ・・・

Life/non-life 
insurance 

applications
Hotel check-inCredit 

applications Hometown tax
Continuous 
customer 

management

Continuous 
functional 
expansion

Creating an “ATM+” World to 
Fulfi ll Our Purpose

*QR code is a registered trademark of DENSO WAVE INCORPORATED.

Growth StrategyValue Creation Management Foundation
Seven Bank’s Value Creation

Toshikatsu Kashiwaguma
Strategy and Development Division

Special 
Feature
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ownership rate is at a high level, but there are many 

people who feel that performing various procedures 

on a smartphone or computer is diffi cult, so we 

believe there is still room for growth in ATM usage 

opportunities. However, most fi nancial institutions 

are reducing active investment in ATMs, as well as 

branches, and the number of ATMs is also declining. 

By utilizing our ATMs instead like it was their own 

channel, convenience is maintained for that fi nancial 

institution’s customers, and the ATMs are also 

available to be used as a portal for new services. 

If we can explore new markets for this kind of 

opportunities, we believe that the value of our ATM 

will be reexamined as an effective channel that 

people actively utilize.

Presenting new uses for ATMs through 
accumulated demonstration experiments

A major issue in realizing an ATM+ world is the 

diffi culty that we have in gaining understanding 

of the concept of new value provided by ATMs from 

fi nancial institutions, general operating companies, 

and administrative and medical institutions. This is 

because most people see ATMs as being simply 

a cash platform primarily used for deposits and 

withdrawals.

This is precisely why we are conducting demon-

stration experiments and other testing with regional 

banks, operating companies, and local govern-

ments. We want to give both partner companies 

and their customers a concrete sense for ATM 

services that provide a highly convenient customer 

experience and improve business effi ciency. While 

the area covered is still limited, we fi rmly believe 

these various demonstration experiments will not 

only lead to development of the market but also to 

realization of an ATM+ world.

Toward provision of a multi- service 
infrastructure to solve issues facing 
regional banks

Regional banks are currently working to consolidate/

abolish their branches and ATMs and also stream-

line business processes through digitalization. As 

these measures have been carried out, some issues 

have been highlighted: a decline in customer touch 

points resulting from branch and ATM consolidation/

abolition and providing support for customers 

not accustomed to using digital technologies. In 

addition, measures to comply with laws to prevent 

money laundering and other fi nancial crimes are 

also essential.

With the business environment of regional banks 

changing signifi cantly, these banks face many man-

agement challenges, including meeting diversifying 

customer needs, strengthening customer contact 

points, and strengthening anti-money laundering 

measures, including customer management (cus-

tomer due diligence), which is strongly demanded of 

fi nancial institutions.

In order to contribute to solving the issues of 

regional banks, we have been promoting a variety of 

initiatives by utilizing its network of over 26,000 ATMs 

nationwide to provide an infrastructure offering diverse 

services, not only cash deposits and withdrawals.

We are aiming for a world where anyone can 

easily complete complex procedures at a nearby 

7-Eleven, such as account opening, notifi cations 

when moving, and authentication and PIN code 

unlocking when initiating banking services online 

or via an app, without visiting a bank branch in the 

midst of daily life.

For the fi rst phase, we are making it possible to 

complete notifi cations when moving (notifi cation 

for the change of address, telephone number, and 

email address) via the combination of an ATM and 

smartphone. We are fi rst confi rming customers’ 

receptivity and verifying the user interface and user 

experience.

Providing ATMs as a touch point for 
operating companies to increase contact 
with customers

Operating companies can be roughly divided into 2 

types. One is a company expected to digitize on a 

full-fl edged basis going forward. The other one is a 

company addressing digital-focused business models.

First of all, for companies expected to digitize 

on a full-fl edged basis going forward, we will 

provide services equivalent to the initiatives for 

regional banks discussed above. As a touch point 

to increase contact with customers, the companies 

could utilize Seven Bank’s ATMs to promote the 

digitalization of processes that have normally been 

handled at store counters or via postal mail and also 

as a real channel that allows customers to complete 

procedures simply and conveniently.

In the demonstration experiments, our ATMs are 

being utilized as a channel for procedures for initial 

service applications and to address defi ciencies in 

the applications.

Realizing a world where procedures for 
receiving benefi ts, etc. can be conducted 
on Seven Bank ATMs without visiting a 
government offi ce

Regarding services for local governments, we plan 

to work with fi ntech companies to develop systems 

that allow procedures to be easily conducted 

on ATMs and avoid the trouble of having to visit 

a government offi ce or sending postal mail. For 

Account opening

Regional 
banks Regional 

banks

Administration/
local governments

Operating 
companies

・Application procedures
・Notifi cations of changes
・Receipt of benefi ts

・Secondhand dealers
・Communications
・ Leasing, sharing economy
・Health, beauty, medical

Account opening Securities account 
opening

Visa expiration 
management

Life/non-life insurance 
applications

Individual Number Card 
collection

Change of address, etc.

Visa expiration 
management

Change of address, etc. Credit applications

Facial recognition 
transactions Policy renewal

Account closure

Continuous customer 
management

Facial recognition 
transactions

Continuous customer 
management Loan applications

Account registration for 
money transfers

・・・

・・・

Regional 
banks

・・・

・・・
・・・

・・・
・・・

Other fi nancial 
institution payment 
service providers

・・・

・・・
・・・

・・・
・・・

Information updating

Hotel check-in

Service applications

Administrative 
procedures

Duty-free procedures

Electronic contracts

Hometown tax

・・・

Other fi nancial 
institution payment 
service providers

Banks, shinkin 
banks, labor 

banks

Securities, life 
insurance, credit card, 
consumer credit and 
consumer fi nancing 

companies

Target Markets and Services

Growth StrategyValue Creation Management Foundation
Seven Bank’s Value Creation
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Seven Bank’s
Growth Strategy
Progress on the roadmap to 
our second stage of growth

Seven Bank’sSeven Bank’s
Growth Strategy
Progress on the roadmap to 

Seven Bank’sSeven Bank’s
Growth Strategy
Seven Bank’sSeven Bank’sSeven Bank’s

example, if local government benefi ts and other 

payments could be received on ATMs nationwide, 

residents would not be constrained by the operating 

hours of government service counters and could 

complete the procedures at a nearby 7-Eleven 

while shopping. This would also make it possible to 

conduct procedures anytime, anywhere regardless 

of location, whether visiting one’s parents or living 

with them temporarily after the birth of a child, for 

instance. Moreover, combining this with the ATM 

cash receiving service that allows money to be 

transferred without having an account, provided by 

Seven Payment Service, Ltd., a subsidiary of the 

Bank, will help streamline local government screen-

ing and account verifi cation processes.

In demonstration experiments in collaboration 

with Shibuya City, Tokyo, Kakogawa City, Hyogo 

Prefecture and govtech platformers, we are verifying 

demand and conducting service evaluations on 

digital applications and the potential for receiving 

benefi ts and other payments via ATMs.

Promotion by a project team made 
up of voluntary members with diverse 
backgrounds

We launched an internal project team in fi scal 2021 

for realization of an ATM+ world. The project team 

is not an organization formed by top-down order; 

its members are primarily young volunteers. The 

members have various backgrounds, and they 

participate in the project while sharing their thoughts 

and opinions with one another as they work toward 

the same goal. In order to meet expectations as the 

project leader, though still relatively inexperienced 

myself, I try to draw out the knowledge, experience, 

and other strengths of each individual member and 

drive the project forward while combining all of 

these strengths.

Society will continue to change. We will strive to 

skillfully catch the wave of these changes to create 

an ATM+ world that meets the needs of customers. 

And, by establishing ATMs as a service platform, we 

will have third parties participate that can embed 

new functions and create an ATM network as a new 

form of social infrastructure. I believe that this shall 

be the realization of continuing to generate “a better 

version of daily life,” which is our Purpose.

Please expect the most from Seven Bank as we 

work going forward to realize an ATM+ world.

Seven Bank’s Value Creation
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Continuous 
offering of values to 

customers and society

Seven Bank’s sustainable growth

Medium-Term Management Plan

Growth 
strategy

Contribution to solving 
social issues

Corporate 
transformation

Contribution to solving social issues

First stage of growth led by ATMs Medium-Term Management Plan period Realize the vision and accelerate 
the second stage of growth

Growth Strategy

Corporate transformation

Overseas strategy

Corporate strategy

ATM platform strategy

Summary and Review of Medium-Term Management Plan (FY2021–FY2025)

Our ATM platform strategy, a core area, will give shape to 
upgraded ATM services that go beyond the wishes of our 
customers in response to the cashless society and accelerat-
ing digitalization.

In our retail strategy, which is one of the growth fi elds, we 
will strengthen coordination with the Seven & i Group and 
develop unique fi nancial services, and we will also roll out 
international money transfer services and fi nancial services for 
foreign nationals.

For our corporate strategy, we are working to expand our 
business by developing back-offi ce support and security 
services leveraging the knowledge we have cultivated through our banking operations.

Moreover, leveraging know-how in ATM operations accumulated to date, we will move forward with global 
development of the ATM business through consolidated subsidiaries in the U.S. and Asia.

We will then develop multi-layered fi nancial services utilizing ATM user data.

● Evolve from cash platform to ATM+

● Expand growth fi elds that come after ATMs by 
leveraging our strengths (business diversifi cation)

● Review basic policy and structure of sustainability promotion
● Further develop initiatives for the fi ve material issues
● Cooperate with the group and external contractors for 

solving environmental issues

● Reform into an organization where independent 
human resources can play active roles

● Innovation of business model and process with focus 
on data utilization and effi ciency improvement

■  Seven Bank’s Approach to 
Management

To realize the continuous provision of value 
to customers in line with a society that 
changes with the times is what will lead to 
the sustainable growth of Seven Bank. 

In our Medium-Term Management Plan, 
which started in fi scal 2021, we position 
the fi ve years to fi scal 2025 as the period 
for giving shape to our second stage of 
growth. As a unique bank that succeeds 
in being close-by, convenient, reliable, 
and secure, we will continue taking on the 
challenge of new initiatives that provide 
support for people and society, with a 
focus on the three pillars of growth strate-
gy, contribution to solving social issues, 
and corporate transformation.

■ Overview of Plan

■ Positioning of Medium-Term Management Plan Period

Growth Strategy of Medium-Term Management PlanVision of Medium-Term Management Plan

Domestic 
business

Core ATM platform strategy

Growth
Retail strategy

Corporate strategy

Overseas 
business Overseas strategy

Diversify Business and Give Shape to the Second Stage of Growth
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Growth Strategy and Expansion of Business Fields

¥170.0 
billion¥148.5 

billion ¥137.2 
billion

¥136.6 
billion

¥149.0 
billion

Establishment – 2020 2021 – 2025

Realize corporate transformation and the second 
stage of growth by making active investments for 

the future

Consolidated 
ordinary income

2025 (Target)2019 2020 2021 2022 (Plan)

Period for giving shape to the second stage of growth

2026 – (Fiscal Year)

Retail strategy

Domestic business

strategy social issues transformation

Core area Growth fi elds Overseas strategy

Overseas business

Growth StrategyValue Creation Management Foundation
Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

Continuous 
provision 
of value

Sustainable growth

Medium-Term Management Plan

Growth 
strategy

Contribution to 
solving social issues

Corporate 
transformation
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Fourth-generation ATM
Third-generation ATM

(Million)

Non-banks, etc.:  total of securities companies, life insurance companies, credit card companies, credit 
companies, consumer fi nance companies, QR code settlement companies, etc.

(Units)

667667659659727727749749739739

242242
17717712112180807575

96.596.5
90.590.592.192.192.392.394.194.1

2017 2020 202120192018

815 829 849 836
910

(Fiscal Year)

Deposit-taking fi nancial institutions
Non-banks, QR code settlement companies, etc.
Daily average transactions per ATM (number)

2020 20212019(Fiscal
Year)

16,07519,65624,065

1,150 6,020 10,178

ATM Platform Strategy (Core Area)

For our ATM platform strategy, one of the growth strategies in our Medium-Term Management 
Plan (2021-2025), we will focus on upgrading for a new stage and work to increase the social 
value of ATMs.

With the acceleration of a cashless society, top-up transactions for electronic money and smartphone settle-
ments are increasing in number. In addition, partnerships with new local currencies issued by local govern-
ments are also increasing.

At the same time, commercial and transportation facilities have increasingly been requesting the installation 
of Seven Bank ATMs capable of cash top-up transactions.

As a familiar entry point into the digital society, we intend to further enhance the presence of ATMs.

Establishing a Presence for ATMs in the Cashless Society

Evolution From a Cash Platform to a Service Platform

Replacement with Fourth-Generation ATMs

Installed in major train stations, etc.

With banks working to streamline operations through branch reorganization and other measures, we will 
leverage the extensive operational know-how in ATMs cultivated by Seven Bank to date to move forward with 
joint operation of ATMs with other banks. Joint ATM operations with Seven Bank not only lowers operating 
costs for other banks and the like but also helps improve convenience for their customers.

Supporting Streamlining by Financial Institutions

Joint ATMs with the TOHO BANK, LTD. 
(installed in York-Benimaru)

Digitalization is accelerating at fi nancial institutions and in government administration. Many procedures that 
had been conducted face-to-face at banks and government offi ces can now be conducted on a smartphone.

Seven Bank would like to realize the digital society that allows people to choose the method that best suits 
them from among various options, whether the person is familiar or unfamiliar with using a smartphone.

We will expand services that allow fi nancial, administrative, and other procedures to be completed through 
our over 26,000 safe and secure ATMs located close-by throughout the country.

Through ATM+, we will help digitize society in which no one is left behind.

Fourth-generation ATMs with ATM+ functions are being installed as replacements in the Kanto area as of 
September 2019, and we expect to complete the process for over 26,000 ATMs nationwide in fi scal 2024. As of 
March 31, 2022, the upgrade has been completed for around 40% of the total, which is more than 10,000 ATMs.

●  Applications for Individual 
Number Card Points

●  Applications to Use an 
Individual Number Card as 
a Health Insurance Card

●  Receipt of local government 
benefi ts

● Account opening
●  Cardless deposits and with-

drawals (facial recognition)
●  Various procedures (change 

of address, etc.)

●  Automated hotel check-in
●  Membership applications 

for secondhand buying and 
selling

Realization of 
Digital Society 

in which 
No One is 

Left Behind

Financial

Operating 
companies

Administra-
tive

Smartphone data linkage

QR code* reading

Facial recognition function

Note:  Demonstration experiment underway aimed at full-fl edged 
rollout (as of March 31, 2022)

Number of ATM Transactions and Their Breakdown

● Advanced camera and high-precision facial recognition technol-
ogies achieve personal authentication that is fast and secure.

● A large, surrounding visor gives a sense of privacy by reducing 
concerns about someone standing nearby glancing at another 
person’s transaction.

● ATMs can automatically detect fi nancial crime and 
notify an ATM Call Center that conducts monitoring 
24 hours a day.

● In addition to a contactless IC reader for 
topping up electronic money and other 
functions, ATMs can read driver’s licenses, 
Individual Number Cards, passports, and 
other personal identifi cation documents, 
and also have a QR code* reader function.

● Bluetooth communication provides smooth 
connection to a smartphone.

* QR code is a registered trademark of 
DENSO WAVE INCORPORATED.

Joint OperationPrevious

Bank A’s ATMs

Bank 
customers

Deposits and 
withdrawals

etc

Deposits and 
withdrawals

Joint ATMs with Seven Bank

Bank 
customers

Top-up

Overseas 
credit card 
transactions

Voice 
guidance 
service

Deposits and 
withdrawals

We have replaced 
334 ATMs from 36 fi nancial 

institutions so far.
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For our corporate strategy, with fi nancial industry services and players, starting with fi ntech, 
becoming increasingly borderless, and with new payment methods emerging using the latest 
digital technologies, we will take on the challenge of developing convenient, secure services 
that leverage the strengths of Seven Bank, in our ATMs in particular.

In our retail strategy, we will provide innovative fi nancial services not constrained by conven-
tional concepts in order to support the daily lives of individual customers.

Pursuing the unique products typical of Seven Bank, which has its DNA in general distribution, we will 
strengthen our lineup in such areas as credit, investment, and insurance. In addition, a major task for us going 
forward will be to strengthen coordination with the Seven & i Group in order to have our services used by the 
Group’s approximately 22.2 million daily customers.

Strengthening Our Lineup of Banking Services

With the spread of e-commerce, the amount handled in the buy now pay later (BNPL*) market (by BNPL 
service providers) is projected to increase to around ¥2 trillion by fi scal 2025.

Seven Bank began providing the Seven Bank Post Payment Service to outside service providers (prepaid 
card issuers) in September 2019. The amount handled in fi scal 2021 reached ¥21.0 billion.

We will work to further enhance the service, drawing on the small credit know-how cultivated by Seven 
Bank and taking advantage of the convenience of being able to make repayments anytime at close-by ATMs. 
(See page 47 for details.)

Began Providing Seven Bank Post Payment Service

Consolidated subsidiaries Bank Business Factory Co., Ltd. and ACSiON, Ltd. are harnessing the know-how 
and products related to bank back-offi ce support and security cultivated thus far by Seven Bank to expand 
service provision to fi nancial institutions and other customers.

The August 2021 report of the Financial Action Task Force (FATF) strongly urges fi nancial institutions to rein-
force their anti-money laundering measures. Through service provision by both companies, we will actively 
provide various types of support for fi nancial institutions.

Support for Digitalization and Streamlining of Financial Institutions and 
Other Organizations [B to B to X: Platform Business]

❶   Download the My Seven Bank app

❸ Once the account 
is opened, make 
deposits and 
withdrawals using 
a smartphone at 
Seven Bank ATMs

❷ Apply

Account opened in as little as 
10 minutes after application

Loan services
Loans available in as little as two 
days after applying for Loans. 
Available 24 hours a day in princi-
ple at 7-Eleven stores nationwide

Debit services
No annual membership fees. 
Awarded nanaco points for the use 
of the service

Shopping Investment 
“Korekabu”
(Service scheduled to launch in FY2022)

An easy, convenient investment 
service akin to shopping

Simple and Quick Seven Bank 
Account Opening

Once an account is opened, 
Seven Bank’s unique products 

and services can be used

Th
e 

tim
e 
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n 
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The My Seven 
Bank app won 
the Support DX 
Award 2021

Cumulative 
downloads
(number)

1.51 
million

620,000

Mar. 31, 
2021

Mar. 31, 
2022

The ATM cash receiving service provided by consolidated subsidiary Seven Payment Service, Ltd. allows 
money transfers from companies to be received in cash or electronic money without going through a bank 
account. Along with repayment and prepayment rewards, its applications continue to expand, for receiving 
money from cashback campaigns and insurance payouts, for example. As of March 31, 2022, the number of 
companies contracted has increased to 570.

In addition, with employment formats diversifying during the COVID-19 pandemic, applications have been 
increasing from various companies for our real-time money transfer service that allows salaries and other 
payments to be received 24 hours a day, 365 days a year, in principle.

Providing a New Fund Settlement Mechanism [B to B: Direct Sales Business]

Real-time money transfer service

24h 365
days

Received 
in accountApplication

Real 
time

Company Individual customers

Domestic BNPL Service Market Size Trend and Forecast
Graph shows handling volume (billions of yen)

Seven Bank Post Payment Service

FY2021 Handling Volume

¥21.0 billion

FY2021 Number of Transactions

1,695,000

Merchant 
contracts

Customers External service providers

Provision 
of services

Provision of post payment services

Note 1: Based on handling volume of BNPL service providers
Note 2:  FY2021 is an estimate; FY2022 and later are forecasts (as of March 2022)

Source:  “E-Commerce Settlement Service Providers Market in Japan: 
Key Research Findings 2022,” Yano Research Institute Ltd.

2018(Fiscal 
Year)

20202019 2021
(Estimate)

2022
(Forecast)

2023
(Forecast)

2024
(Forecast)

2025
(Forecast)

1,726
1,909

1,534
1,329

1,089
879

687572

Realizing safe, secure, 
bank-quality BPO

Drawing on our know-how in bank back-offi ce 
operations, we provide services for back-
offi ce support and anti-money laundering 
measures, as well as assistance 
in optimizing back-offi ce 
processes using RPA.

　　　　　　Back-offi ce support service

Bank Business Factory Co., Ltd.

BPO

Creating lifestyles through new 
fi nancial services

We provide a service for receiving money 
transfers from companies (ATM cash 
receiving service) and a cash collection 
service (ATM cash collection service).

ATM cash receiving and 
ATM cash collection

Seven Payment Service, Ltd.

Settlement 
function

make world be honest

We are developing a platform for fraud 
detection services and online personal 
authentication services with 
the goal of helping stabilize 
and further develop the 
fi nancial infrastructure.

　　　　　　Cash platform provision

ACSiON, Ltd.

Security

*Transacting companies as of March 31, 2022.

Transacting companies*: 570 Transacting companies*: 32 Transacting companies*: 46

Retail Strategy (Growth Fields in Japan [1]) Corporate Strategy (Growth Fields in Japan [2])
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ATMs installed at month-end: non-SEI stores
ATMs installed at month-end: in SEI stores
Daily average ATM transactions 
(transactions per day per ATM)

Number of ATMs installed at month-end
Daily average ATM transactions
(transactions per day per ATM)

Jun. Sept. Dec.

678

366

131

2021
Mar.

(Units)

1,500

1,000

500

30.8

71.2
75.775.7

112.6112.6

1,249

2020 2021

9,0049,368

10,886

2019

(Units)
12,000

8,000

4,000

52.952.9
48.848.8

43.143.1

8,4658,465 8,5538,553 8,6888,688

2,4212,421

815815
316316

(Fiscal 
Year)

2020 2021

2,551

730

200

2019

(Units)

3,000

2,000

1,000

92.3

82.8

67.467.4

(Fiscal 
Year)

FCTI, Inc., a consolidated subsidiary 
in the U.S., has a domestic network of 
around 9,000 ATMs.

In February 2022, the company fi nished 
eliminating low-profi t ATMs installed 
at non-7 Eleven stores to successfully 
improve its fi nancial position. Along with 
providing stable ATM services based on 
our extensive ATM network, going forward 
we will develop multi-layered fi nancial 
services through the ATM business.

In addition, pursuing group synergies 
with 7-Eleven, Inc., a Seven Eleven 
operating company in the U.S., we will 
build positive partnerships over the long 
term.

PT. ABADI TAMBAH MULIA INTERNASI-
ONAL (ATMi), a consolidated subsidiary of 
the Bank in Indonesia, operates a network 
of approximately 2,550 ATMs located 
mainly in local convenience stores.

In Indonesia, which has the world’s 
fourth largest population and where 
fi nancial services have been broadening 
their reach, ATM demand has been rising 
sharply.

Additionally, with local convenience 
store chains actively opening new stores 
recently, ATMi is receiving many requests 
for ATM installations.

Responding to this demand, the 
company will expand ATM development 
to various regions within Indonesia and 
contribute to the continuing spread of 
fi nancial services.

Pito AxM Platform, Inc. (PAPI), a consol-
idated subsidiary of the Bank in the Philip-
pines, started the ATM operation business 
in the Philippines in February 2021.

In fi scal 2021, the business environ-
ment continued to be challenging with 
the government issuing stay at home 
orders due to the spread of COVID-19, 
but PAPI was able to continue installing 
ATMs according to plan. Currently, there 
is a network of around 1,250 ATMs at 
7-Eleven stores in the Philippines, and the 
number of transactions has been steadily 
increasing as well.

Going forward, PAPI will work to 
further increase the number of transac-
tions by continuing installing ATMs at 
approximately 3,000 7-Eleven stores in 
the Philippines, while at the same time 
partnering with more banks.

Establish ATM business 
in each country 
by leveraging 

the know-how in Japan

Offer fi nancial services 
utilizing ATM user data, etc. 

corresponding to 
the maturity of each market

Further expand business 
by linking services and 

networks between 
the countries where 

we have entered

The United States

Indonesia

Philippines

In our overseas strategy, we will develop multi-layered fi nancial services with ATM services as 
the entry point.

Leveraging our ATM operations know-how, we are developing ATM services in the United 
States, Indonesia, and the Philippines. To achieve stable operation of ATM services, we will 
steadily increase the number of ATMs and partners as we work to establish an ATM network 
that meets the settlement needs of each market.

Changes in Numbers of ATMs 
and Transactions

Changes in Numbers of ATMs 
and Transactions

Develop multi-layered fi nancial services in each country with the ATM business as an entry point

Changes in Numbers of ATMs 
and Transactions

Note:  The number of ATM transactions in 
Indonesia includes balance inquiries.STEP 1

Note:  The number of ATM transactions in 
the U.S. includes balance inquiries.

STEP 2

STEP 3

Note:  The number of ATM transactions in the 
Philippines includes balance inquiries 
and excludes sales proceeds received.

Number of ATMs installed at month-end
Daily average ATM transactions
(transactions per day per ATM)

Overseas strategy

(Units)
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2012 2022
(Forecast)

202120202019201820172016201520142013

10.00
9.00

11.00 11.00 11.00 11.00

8.00
8.50

7.50
6.75

(Yen)

(Fiscal 
Year)

(%)

12

8

4

90

60

3041.441.4 42.042.0 41.041.0 40.940.9 42.642.6
47.047.0

49.649.6 49.949.9

62.062.0
66.366.3

99.099.0

11.00

Dividend Payout ratio

ATM installation Maintenance of infrastructure
Growth investment

As of Mar. 31, 2022

(Consolidated, Japanese standard)

４７．３１％

Aim to achieve both growth investment for future advance and stable shareholder returns

Seven Bank has a policy of both continuously making growth investments and providing stable returns to 
shareholders while maintaining a solid financial base in order to work for sustainable growth.

■  Creating a firm path to the second stage of growth through evolution of ATMs and business diversification
In order to realize a second stage of growth under our Medium-Term Management Plan, we will first need to 
create new revenue opportunities through ATM evolution, business diversification, and other measures.

We are aiming for consolidated ordinary income of ¥170.0 billion in the final fiscal year of the Medium-Term 
Management Plan (FY2025). To achieve this income target, we will actively make anticipatory investment while 
also simultaneously raising management efficiency to work for consolidated ordinary profit of ¥35.0 billion and 
ROE of 8% or higher.

Financial/Capital Strategy

Policy

Financial Goals

*EBITDA = ordinary profit + depreciation and amortization

Target for FY2025
Fiscal Year Ended  

March 31, 2022 (Results)
Fiscal Year Ending  

March 31, 2023 (Forecasts)

Consolidated 
ordinary income ¥170.0 billion

Average annual growth 
rate during Medium-Term 
Management Plan period: 5%

¥136.6 billion ¥149.0 billion
(YoY: +9%)

(Domestic business) ¥125.0 billion ¥112.0 billion

(Overseas business) ¥45.0 billion ¥24.6 billion

Consolidated 
ordinary profit ¥35.0 billion ¥28.2 billion ¥28.0 billion

EBITDA* ¥60.0 billion ¥44.6 billion ¥48.0 billion

ROE 8.0% or more 8.7% —

Medium-Term Management Plan KPI

Capital Adequacy Ratio

Credit Ratings (Long-Term)

Financial Position [Consolidated]   Balance Sheet (as of March 31, 2022)

Solid Financial Base

Cash for replenishing ATMs, which is needed for the domestic ATM 
business, our core business, is primarily funded with the deposits of 
customers who have Seven Bank accounts.

To prepare for higher interest rates in the future, we will utilize deposit 
transactions from receipt of sales proceeds and top-ups and thereby 
work to raise capital efficiency related to ATM replenishment cash.

S&P Global Ratings  
(S&P)

A

Rating and Investment 
Information, Inc. (R&I)

AA-

Cash and due from banks 
(for ATM replenishment, etc.)

 931.4

Other assets 115.9

ATM-related temporary payments 84.4
Securities 89.9

Net assets 244.1

Assets 1,221.6 Liabilities and net assets 
  1,221.6

ATM-related temporary 
advances 49.2
Other liabilities 32.7

Bonds 105.0

Deposits
(Individual deposits: 550.7)
 790.6

(Billions of yen)

1 Balance Sheet3

2

FY21-22 cumulative FY21-25 cumulative

Financial Strategy

Shareholder Returns

Basic 

policy

Maintain stable and 

continuous shareholder 

returns centered on 

dividends, backed by  

a firm financial foundation

● Make growth investment (in the scale of ¥70 billion) 
aimed at promotion of growth strategy and corporate 
transformation

● Promote installation of the fourth-generation ATMs 
and develop infrastructure that realizes the wishes of 
our customers

Breakdown of major growth investments

Investment in growth fields in Japan 
(¥30 – ¥40 billion)

Investment in overseas business  
(¥20 – ¥25 billion)

Investment for promoting corporate 
transformation (¥5 – ¥10 billion)

Payout Ratio

Investment detailsFY2021 (Result) + 
FY2022 (Plan)

Medium-Term  
Management Plan period

Approx.  
¥150.0 billion

Approx.  
¥78.0 billion

¥35.1 billion

¥19.5 billion

¥23.2 billion
¥50.0 billion

¥30.0 billion

¥70.0 billion

■ Accelerating investment in growth areas for future profit expansion
We will invest a total of ¥150.0 billion during the period of the Medium-Term Management Plan.

This investment will include approximately ¥70 billion in growth, approximately ¥30 billion in maintenance of 
infrastructure, such as updating systems related to core business, and approximately ¥50 billion in new ATMs.

As the breakdown of growth investment, we will systematically invest ¥30 to ¥40 billion in growth fields in 
Japan, ¥20 to ¥25 billion in overseas business, and ¥5 to ¥10 billion in promoting corporate transformation.

For fiscal 2021 and 2022, on a cumulative basis, the Bank is planning investment of ¥78.0 billion, 
which accounts for around 50% of the approximately ¥150.0 billion in total investment under the  
Medium-Term Management Plan.

■ Maintaining a firm financial foundation and providing stable shareholder returns
Seven Bank has maintained stable and continuous dividends backed by its firm financial foundation. During 
the Medium-Term Management Plan period, we will aim to maintain stable and continuous dividends while 
taking into account the actual dividend amount. We will also maintain a payout ratio of 40% or more and 
provide stable shareholder returns at the same time, while using cash flow* to fund active investment for 
future growth.   Cash flow: Net income + depreciation and amortization

Growth StrategyValue Creation Management Foundation
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2016 20212020201920182017 2016 Sep. 20212020201920182017

794 808 828 836 834 898

(Millions)

(Year)

20.0%20.0% 21.3%21.3%
24.1%24.1%

26.8%26.8%
29.7%29.7%

32.5%32.5%

12.1%12.1% 12.5%12.5% 13.1%13.1% 13.3%13.3% 14.0%14.0%13.8%13.8%

23.3 25.1 25.2 25.6 25.9

192

24.3

193 190 189 185 184

(Thousands)

(Fiscal 
Year)

Cashless settlements (%)
Number of ATM transactions per year

Japan total　　　 Seven Bank
Seven Bank’s share

26,253 910.01 million

96.5

1.10 million

99.98% 620 Approx. 2.5 million per day 2.52 million

12,804

Number of ATMs installed

(as of December 31, 2021)

Number of ATM transactions per year

Average number 
of transactions 
per ATM per day

Number of remittances via international 
money transfer services per year

ATM operating rate

Number of 
partner fi nancial 
institutions, etc.

Number of customers 
using ATMs

Number of individual 
accounts

Note: Contact 
centers, etc.

Note: ATM screens, 
receipts, etc.

*Figures are for Japan only, except for number of ATMs installed.

Note: Includes services 
offered by Seven Global 
Remit, Ltd.

Reference Data

10 languages

32

12 languages

Approx. 40% reduction Approx.100%

For account deposit/withdrawal and 
international money transfer services

Bank Business Factory Co., Ltd.
Number of business partners 
outside the Seven Bank Group

For cards issued overseas

Power consumption of fourth-
generation ATMs compared to 
third-generation ATMs

Recycling rate for 
disposed ATMs

570

2.4% Male 2   Female 13 28 16.0%

Seven Payment Service, Ltd.
Number of companies 
concluding service agreements

Percentage of employees 
with disabilities

Number of employees who took 
childcare leave

Numbers of total ATMs in Japan and Seven 
Bank ATMs, and Seven Bank’s share

Percentage of cashless settlements and number of 
ATM transactions per year in Japan
(annual total, Jan.–Dec.)

Source:  Prepared based on statistics published by the Ministry 
of Economy, Trade and Industry of Japan

Source: Research by Seven Bank

Number of female managers and 
percentage of women in management roles

Languages supported

Unless specifi cally stated otherwise, fi gures are 
as of fi scal 2021 or March 31, 2022.Seven Bank Group in Terms of Numbers (Key Figures)

Japan Over-
seas

System that is easy to use for anyone, regardless of nationality

Corporate services that leverage our strengths

Promoting active participation of diverse human resources

Pursuing environmental functions

Seven Bank aims to deepen the understanding of shareholders and investors in its business activities by 
providing accurate information on the fi nancial position and management strategies of the Bank. We utilize 
the evaluation of the Bank on the stock market for our management and further enhance our IR communica-
tion, thereby increasing corporate value.

■ Web

Our disclosure policy is posted on the following website:

https://www.sevenbank.co.jp/english/ir/policy/

■ To Deepen Communication with Shareholders and Investors

To facilitate the understanding of shareholders and investors of its business activities, Seven Bank conducts 
active disclosure of management information that goes beyond statutory disclosure.

Tools for Dialogue

●  Distribution of videos, audio recordings, and tran-
scripts of the presentations of fi nancial results for 
analysts and institutional investors (Japanese and 
English)

●  Issuance of Integrated Report (Business Report) in 
Japanese

●  Issuance of Annual Report in English
●  Issuance of Shareholders’ Newsletter in Japanese
●  Posting of information on the Bank’s website for 

individual investors in Japanese
●  IR presentations for individual investors (online)

Promoting Close Communication

IR Communication

Website for individual investors

IR Calendar (Major activities in fi scal 2021)  *For analysts and institutional investors

April May June July August Septem-
ber October Novem-

ber
Decem-

ber January February March

Financial 
Statements

Communication 
with Useful Tools

● Issuance of the Interim 
Business Report in Japanese

● Issuance of Integrated 
Report (Business Report) 
in Japanese

● Issuance of Annual Report 
in English

●Issuance of 
Shareholders’ 
Newsletter in 
Japanese 

● Financial results 
for the third 
quarter

● Financial results 
for the fi rst quarter

● Financial results 
for the second 
quarter

● Financial results 
for the fi scal year

● Presentation 
about fi nancial 
results 
(conference call*)

● Presentation about 
fi nancial results 
(conference call*)

● IR presentation 
for individual 
investors

● Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders

● Conference call*
● Conference call*
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Performance Figures

Growth StrategyValue Creation Management Foundation
Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

*1. Refers to net income attributable to owners of the parent in and after fiscal 2012
*2. Depreciation and amortization (excluding goodwill). EBITDA = Ordinary profit + Depreciation and amortization
*3. Including negotiable certificates of deposits
*4. On December 1, 2011, Seven Bank conducted a 1,000-for-1 stock split. Per share data for fiscal 2010 reflect the stock split.

*5. EBITDA margin = EBITDA/ordinary income
*6. ROE = net income/average equity balance
*7.  Capital adequacy ratio = (year-end total net assets – year-end subscription rights to shares – year-end non-controlling interests) / year-end total 

assets. The “Capital adequacy ratio” does not refer to the capital ratio that is prescribed in the “Notices on the Capital Ratio Requirements.”

(Fiscal Year)

40,000

80,000

120,000

160,000

20182017

147,288

127,656

2019 2020

148,553
137,267

2021

136,667

(Fiscal 
Year)

40.0

20.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

2019

47.0

99.0

20182017 2020 2021

49.6 49.9

62.0

(Fiscal 
Year)

10,000

20,000

30,000

20182017 2019

13,236

25,301 25,905

2020

26,162

20,827

2021(Fiscal 
Year)

25,000

50,000

75,000

20182017 2019

58,244
55,408

2020

49,710
54,471

2021

44,644

(Fiscal 
Year)

Non-consolidated Consolidated

Consolidated

Ordinary Income (Millions of yen) Net Income Attributable to Owners of the Parent
 (Millions of yen)

EBITDA*2 (Millions of yen) Payout Ratio (%)

Financial Highlights

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Items on the 
Statement of 
Income:

Ordinary income (Millions of yen) 83,964 88,318 94,965 105,587 114,036 119,939 121,608 127,656 147,288 148,553 137,267 136,667

Ordinary expenses (Millions of yen) 56,514 58,761 63,094 69,801 76,997 82,772 84,897 89,350 106,574 108,716 101,626 108,412
Ordinary profit (Millions of yen) 27,449 29,557 31,871 35,786 37,038 37,167 36,710 38,305 40,714 39,836 35,640 28,255
Net income*1 (Millions of yen) 16,008 17,267 19,377 21,236 23,220 24,716 25,114 25,301 13,236 26,162 25,905 20,827
Depreciation and amortization*2 (Millions of yen) 11,603 12,355 14,001 12,493 16,251 18,779 18,766 17,102 17,529 14,634 14,070 16,388
EBITDA*2 (Millions of yen) 39,052 41,912 45,872 48,279 53,289 55,946 55,477 55,408 58,244 54,471 49,710 44,644

Items on the 
Balance Sheet:

Total assets (Millions of yen) 600,061 652,956 812,531 790,377 856,415 915,385 957,792 1,022,485 1,141,926 1,085,885 1,197,158 1,221,623

Deposits*3 (Millions of yen) 333,382 372,271 394,615 438,348 502,285 547,865 572,353 623,581 679,474 684,560 783,408 790,687
Total liabilities (Millions of yen) 485,522 527,326 674,486 636,968 686,525 730,590 758,710 810,458 929,036 863,051 962,482 977,509
Total net assets (Millions of yen) 114,539 125,629 138,045 153,408 169,890 184,794 199,081 212,027 212,890 222,833 234,676 244,113

Per share 
data*4:

EPS (Earnings per share) (Yen) 13.19 14.49 16.27 17.83 19.49 20.75 21.07 21.24 11.11 22.14 22.01 17.71
DPS (Dividend per share) (Yen) 5.20 6.20 6.75 7.50 8.00 8.50 9.00 10.00 11.00 11.00 11.00 11.00
Payout ratio (%) 39.3 42.7 41.4 42.0 41.0 40.9 42.6 47.0 99.0 49.6 49.9 62.0

Management 
indicators:

EBITDA margin*5 (%) 46.5 47.4 48.2 45.7 46.7 46.6 45.6 43.4 39.5 36.6 36.2 32.6

ROE (Return on equity)*6 (%) 13.2 13.5 14.7 14.6 14.4 13.9 13.1 12.3 6.2 12.0 11.3 8.7
Capital adequacy ratio*7  (%) 19.0 19.2 16.9 19.3 19.7 20.1 20.7 20.6 18.6 20.3 19.4 19.8
PER (Price-to-earnings ratio) (Times) 12.6 12.3 18.7 22.7 30.4 23.1 17.2 15.9 6.2 11.9 11.3 8.6

Cash flow: Cash flow from operating activities  (Millions of yen) 125,487 1,401 118,550 91,940 99,931 66,482 88,118 31,466 117,471 89,619 136,039 41,311

Cash flow from investing activities (Millions of yen) (23,140) (11,703) (6,927) (50,668) 4,994 (11,634) (28,818) (3,649) (34,882) (5,801) (32,770) (36,114)
Cash flow from financing activities (Millions of yen) (11,526) (6,192) (8,157) (8,333) (9,204) (9,826) (10,446) (11,729) (12,246) (16,009) (13,555) (12,727)

Capital 
investments:

Capital investment amounts (Millions of yen) 11,824 12,205 21,918 24,054 19,037 17,216 14,213 11,900 10,792 16,694 25,132 23,712
   For domestic business ATMs  (Millions of yen) 2,908 7,244 13,044 13,858 10,698 8,885 4,052 1,673 1,986 3,556 9,228 7,898

   For domestic business software (Millions of yen) 8,053 4,303 7,118 7,933 7,122 7,550 8,756 9,863 7,589 11,567 14,023 9,918

Number of employees: Number of employees (excluding part-time workers) (Persons) 328 409 490 543 576 619 634 654 657 713 809 911

Amounts less than one unit have been truncated.
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● Promote and implement measures

●  Plan, manage, and promote promotion activities

●  Operate and manage Sustainability Committee

● Sets forth policies and the company-wide action plans
●  Confi rms implementation status, and presents evaluation, etc. 

to the management
  Apart from President and Representative Director, the offi cer in 

charges of SDGs promotion, and two outside members, two employees 
are newly added through open recruitment.

Since its foundation, Seven Bank has conducted corporate activities, pursuing both social/environmental val-
ues and business activities, based on “Corporate Principles”, “management policy”, and “Charter of Ethics.”

In recent years, people’s lives and the environment surrounding companies have been signifi cantly affected 
by various social issues, such as unstable international situation, an increase in economic gap, advance in 
the declining birthrate and aging society, and frequent occurrence of abnormal weather caused by climate 
changes.

In light of such a context, we have advocated “contribution to solving social issues” as an essential ele-
ment for our sustainable growth, in the Medium-term Management Plan which started in 2021. We are aiming 
at the realization of sustainable development of society and our sustainable growth, further expanding and 
accelerating the existing initiatives.

Seven Bank proactively promoted resolution of social issues through ATM, and CSR activities leading to contribu-
tion to a society and local communities, defi ning Seven Bank’s CSR as “the obligation to be proactively fulfi lled 
as a company supported by customers and the society and coexisting with the environment and the society.”

In order to respond to social expectation and confi dence, and aim at a sustainable growth together with stakeholders, we considered the 
creation of common value through business as our social responsibility, formulated fi ve “material issues” we should preferentially address, 
and put emphasis on solving environmental and social issues.

Initiatives toward realization of sustainable growth

Seven Bank’s Sustainability

Image of Sustainability PromotionSustainability Promotion Structure

2001-2010 <the initial decade> 2011-2020 <The past decade>

To be a company that can realize a sustainable society Fulfi lled responsibilities for diverse stakeholders

●  Proactively work on solving 
environmental and social issues 
through business activities and 
create values for both environment/
society and the company

●   Fulfi ll the social responsibilities
we should voluntarily carry out as 
a business that is supported by 
customers and society and coexists 
with the environment and society

Improvement 
of social and 
corporate 
values

Initiatives for fi ve 
material issues

Promotion of 
CSR activities Contribution to 

SDGs

Development of 
the society and 
Seven Bank’s 
sustainable 
growth

Board of Directors

Executive Committee

Sustainability Committee

Planning Division
Corporate Communication Offi ce

Divisions and subsidiaries

2021  Formulated “Basic Sustainability Promotion Policy”

2021  Established Sustainability Committee

2021  Formulated “Contribution to solving social issues” as a 
growth strategy in the “Medium-term Management Plan”

● Decisions regarding policies, important matters, etc.

● Status evaluation

Major agendas at 
the Sustainability 
Committee (FY2021)

2021-2030 <The next decade>

To be a 
committee with 

diversity

● Review of the positioning of the sustainability in the Medium-Term Management Plan

● Concept of value creation through long-term CSR activities and resolution of social issues

● Endorsement of TCFD recommendations and consideration of specifi c environmental initiatives

● Offering of internal SDGs workshops and ripple effects on employees

Realizing a sustainable growth through both CSV and CSR
Setting sustainability at the core of the long-term management strategy, we will 
accelerate measures for environmental issues, resolution of social issues, and 
contribution toward achievement of SDGs, along the lines of fi ve “material issues” 
aiming to realize a sustainable society.

Structure building Established “CSR Policy” in 2007

Resolution of 
environmental/
social issues through 
business activities

2007-
Initiated ATM services for cards issued 
overseas
Initiated ATM Voice Guidance Service
Began installation of ATMs outside of 
Seven & i Group

2010-
Reduced power consumption of 
Third-generation ATMs by 48% 
(compared to second-generation 
ATMs)

Social & Local 
Community 
Contribution Activities

2005-
Issued the fi rst issue of Bonolon

2008-
Held the Bonolon Read 
Aloud Event

Started the forest conserva-
tion activities by employees

2010-
Started reception of disaster aid 
money

Started supporting charity cam-
paign “Radio Charity Musicthon”

2012  Established “CSR Environment Committee” 2019  Designated fi ve material issues

2011
Reconstruction 
assistance for the 
Great East Japan 
Earthquake/
Deployment of 
mobile ATMs

2011-
Launched inter-
national money 
transfer services 
for Seven Bank 
account

2018-

Launched ATM cash receiving 
service

Began handling a top-up 
service at ATMs for electronic 
money to transportation IC 
cards, etc.

2019-
Reduced power 
consumption of 
Fourth-generation ATMs 
by 40%(compared to 
third-generation ATMs).

2020-
Launched My Seven Bank, a 
smartphone app

Launched ATM procedures 
using Individual Number Cards 
(applications for Individual 
Number Card Points)

2011- 2019-
Participated in Kids FestaStarted social contribution activities through a 

Bonolon cash card (donated Bonolon picture books 
to children’s centers)

Continuous 
provision of value

Sustainable growth

Medium-Term Management Plan

Growth 
Strategy

Contribution to solving 
social issues

Corporate 
transformation

Growth StrategyValue Creation Management Foundation
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In relation to issues which are important to the Bank’s management (materiality), we identifi ed and narrowed 
down issues faced by stakeholders and Seven Bank respectively, then selected material issues based on 
degree of priority in 2019.

Priority to Seven Bank

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 t

o
 s

ta
ke

ho
ld

er
s

● Consumer data and privacy 
protection

● A society where many types of 
people participate in various ways

● The expansion of digital settlement 
and ensuring settlement security

● Consumer education on fi nance 
and other matters

● Usage of renewable materials
● Increasing customer satisfaction

● Increased risks from climate 
change

● Concentration in metropolitan 
areas and the emptying of 
non-metropolitan areas

● Growing fi nancial crime

● Establishing fi nancial access to all 
people

● Increasing number of non-Japanese 
workers due to labor shortages in 
Japan

● Increasing numbers of tourists from 
overseas

● The declining birthrate and aging 
society

● Establishing healthy corporate 
governance

● Compliance
● Protecting work environment and 

human rights
● Human resources development in 

the workplace
● Growing poverty and disparity

● Waste reduction

● Employees sympathize and voluntarily work 
on activities.

● Setting targets (KPIs) and promoting the activities

● Enhancing information disclosure for stakeholders 
(review of the promotion structure) (review of 
material issues)

■ CSV
●  Each division promoted responses 

to material issues

■ CSR
●  Listed and reviewed existing 

activities
●  Provided opportunities to know 

social issues (seminar, workshop)

■ Endorsed TCFD (December)

■ Improvement of the sustainability 
promotion structure
●  Established the basic policy.
●  Established the committee and 

increased the number 
of members.

Five Material IssuesEntire Image of Sustainability Promotion

Attitude toward stakeholders

Amid the rapidly changing society, we aim to be 

a faithful company which is trusted by stake-

holders, by constantly grasping expectations 

for and interest in Seven Bank the stakeholders 

have, and refl ecting them in corporate activities 

and decision-making.

Vertical axis:   Created in accordance with surveys of shareholders and investors (individual investors, analysts in the fi nancial world, etc.), and 
offi cers and employees based on domestic and international CSR guidelines such as the GRI Standards and ISO 26000

Horizontal axis:   Created in accordance with repeated internal discussions conducted with groups consisting of a wide range of job classes, including 
the management team

Low

Low

Medi-
um

Medi-
um

High

Customers

Shareholders

Business 
partners

Global 
environment

Local 
communities

Employees

All employees get involved 
in sustainability promotion

Improving 
environmental, 

social, and 
corporate 

values

Social issues and changes Seven Bank should prioritize

Identifi ed high-priority social issues and narrowed down to a group of fi ve

Offer a safe, 
secure settlement 

infrastructure

Realize 
multicultural 

symbiosis

Reduce the 
environmental 

burden

Create a society 
where everyone 

can be active

See page 45. See page 47. See page 49. See page 51. See page 55.

Create a lifestyle 
through new fi nancial 

services

1 3 4 5

High

● We value dialogue and consider 
the customer in everything we do.

● We collaborate with business 
partners and customers to address 
social challenges.

● We create social value at every 
step in our business journey.

● We are mindful of the environmental 
and social impacts of our actions and 
all aspects of our business.

● Everyone, from executives to front-
line employees, acts on behalf of 
future generations as self-aware and 
responsible member of society.

Concept of Sustainability

EmployeesCompany

■ CSV (material issues)
●  Turn social issues into business 

opportunities.
●  Implement PDCA and enhance 

the promotion

■ CSR
● Promote priority themes 

(environment)
● Increase employees’ awareness 

(continuously holding seminars, etc.)

■  Start disclosure based on TCFD 
recommendations

    (Setting targets in and after FY2023)

Activity theme for FY2022

2

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Review of existing activities/Building 
the foundation, Activities in full swing

Activities to be established
Impacts to 

spread

Growth StrategyValue Creation Management Foundation
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Frauds that direct people to fake websites through e-mail and short messages have become more artful year 
by year and still tend to increase. In addition, as their targets are extending from EC sites and banks, etc. to 
all industries with which ordinary citizens have contact, it has become more diffi cult for companies to defend 
by themselves.

Seven Bank and ACSiON, Ltd., a consolidated subsidiary, 
have provided “Anti-phishing service” since 2021, with an 
eye to preventing artful fi nancial crimes. The feature of this 
service is that it can promptly detect the launch of phishing 
sites and notify to that effect to companies which have intro-
duced the service. Before attackers send e-mails and short 
messages, the companies can begin to take countermea-
sures, and thus, work to minimize damage by, for example, 
sending reminders to customers. In order to realize a safe 
and secure society without fi nancial crimes, ACSiON keeps 
taking on challenges.

Material Issue 1

Even as there is demand for fi nancial services which address the use of smartphones, the diver-
sifi cation of payment methods, and other changes of the times, without comprehensive mea-
sures for dealing with matters such as concerns about security and the increasing sophistication 
and ingenuity of fi nancial crimes, customers cannot go about daily life with peace of mind. Seven 
Bank is contributing to the resolution of social issues through the provision of a settlement 
infrastructure which is not only convenient but which can also be used safely and securely.

Leveraging our ATM operation know-how, we have expanded our ATM services to three countries overseas: 
the United States, Indonesia, and the Philippines. For stable provision of ATM services, we have taken 
measures in each country for preventing fi nancial crimes, such as enhancement of security around stores and 
ATMs, and strengthening of systems.

In addition, we have been working to create the environment where anybody can access fi nancial services, 
expanding areas where ATMs are installed including local 7-Eleven stores and local convenience stores.

Global spread of ATM

Seven Bank’s ATMs operate 24 hours a day, 365 days a year, in principle. Providing an environment that 
anyone can safely use requires collaboration with partner companies with highly specialized skills that con-
duct from response to ATM failures to providing security for machines and guarded transport. Depending on 
locations where ATMs are installed, some ATMs are highly likely to run out of cash due to more frequent cash 
withdrawal while other ones would be readily full up with cash deposited. By analyzing such usage pattern 
and operational situation of each ATM in cooperation with security companies, and setting timing of replen-
ishing cash according to the usage pattern, the frequency and duration of stoppages have been minimized.

ATM Call Centers also monitor our ATMs 24 hours a day, 365 days a year, and remotely recover out-of-ser-
vice ATMs. In case of ATM failures during use by customers, a cash card, etc. is remotely returned in order not 
to make the customers wait. When a cash card, etc. cannot be returned remotely during the failure, ATM Call 
Centers promptly call for dispatch of security companies, and appropriately respond to such customers in 
trouble, aiming to restore the ATM quickly in cooperation with companies in charge of maintenance. Through 
this collaboration with partner companies, Seven Bank’s ATMs are able to achieve a 99.98% operating rate.

Even when a blackout occurs during a transaction, it is possible to complete a transaction uninterrupted. Sev-
en Bank ATMs embed Uninterruptible Power Supply (UPS) batteries. Even after the ATM is suspended, the ATM 
user can still inquire using the intercom and security functions are maintained, just in case a blackout occurs.

Initiative for ATM operating rate at 99.98%

Provision of Anti-phishing service

Offer a Safe, Secure Settlement Infrastructure

Seven Bank, the security company, and the company in charge of maintenance work together to 
restore ATMs quickly 24 hours a day, 365 days a year.

Company in charge 
of maintenance Components

Security company
Security 
guard

Maintenance 
staff

Trouble 
notice

Dispatch 
order

Dispatch 
order

Primary 
dispatch

Secondary 
dispatch

Dispatch 
order

Cooperate
Consultation

ATM Call Center

24 hours a day, 
365 days a year

Number of phishing information 
reported in Japan

Source: “Phishing Report 2022” by Council of Anti-Phishing Japan

Number of stores of Seven & i Group and number of ATMs installed in the World

Note)  Number of stores: As of February 28, 2022 for Japan, and as of December 31, 2021 for other countries/regions
Number of ATMs installed: As of March 31, 2022 for Japan, and December 31, 2021 for other countries

Number of 
ATMs installed

9,004

Number of 
ATMs installed

26,253

Japan

Asia

Australia

Europe

North 
America

22,700 stores

40,690 stores

718 stores

403 stores 15,403 stores

Number of ATMs installed

Indonesia 2,551
Philippines 1,249

1st half   2nd half
2017

1st half   2nd half
2018

1st half   2nd half
2019

1st half   2nd half
2020

1st half   2nd half
2021

(Ten thousand)

20

30

10

(Year)
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■ Launched Seven Bank Post Payment Service
From September 2021, we began to provide the Seven Bank Post Payment Service of “VANDLE CARD,” 
a Visa prepaid card offered by Kanmu, Inc. The Seven Bank Post Payment Service is provided for external 
service providers, in which Seven Bank recovers a full amount of claims.

■ Initiated fund-raising service through ATM
Methods of fund-raising and donation have changed over time. In recent years, as online fund-raising and 
donation with credit cards and points became possible, they are getting more familiar and convenient. Mean-
while, the number of locations for the easiest fund-raising and donation in cash is decreasing due in part to 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Seven Bank started a service for fund-raising through ATMs so that anybody can participate in resolution of 
environmental and social issues through easy fund-raising and donation in cash. Through Seven Bank ATMs*, 
it is possible to participate in fund-raising and donation as if you threw cash directly into a “donation box” of 
a recipient.
*The fund-raising service is available only at Seven Bank ATMs within 7-Eleven stores.

■ The 2nd additional application for Individual Number Card Points through ATM started!
As the fi rst ATM that supports the Individual Number Cards, a lot of people have used Seven Bank ATMs since 
2020. In August 2020, application for Individual Number Card Points started. In March 2021, the ATMs became 
usable for application for the use of Individual Number Card as a health insurance card. In addition, using 
Seven Bank ATMs, people can also apply for the 2nd additional Individual Number Card Points on application 
for the use of Individual Number Card as a health insurance card and the registration of public money receiving 
account, which started in June 2022.

Seven Bank ATMs have proven to be popular because they can be easily used to apply even by those who 
have diffi culty using a smartphone or personal computer. Seven Bank will take on a challenge in creation of a 
better version of daily life beyond the concept of ATM.

For the development of digital gift certifi cates and regional currencies which can be used in local communi-
ties, Seven Bank has been promoting ATM partnerships with regional digital currencies. In December 2021, 
Seven Bank started an ATM partnership with “Kijiuma Coin”*1 issued and operated by Kijiuma Stamp Cooper-
ative Association in Hitoyoshi City, Kumamoto Prefecture. In January 2022, it concluded an ATM partnership 
with “chiica”*2, a regional currency platform operated by TRUSTBANK Inc. Under these partnerships, Seven 
Bank ATMs have been able to be used to top up “Kijiuma Coin,” as well as “Toron Currency,” “negi,” “MI-
NAKAMI HEART Pay,” and “Kana Chan Coin,” regional electronic currencies which have introduced “chiica.”

*1 This partnership is conducted as a three-party initiative together with fi nnovalley co., Ltd., a provider of MoneyEasy, Kijiuma Coin platform.
*2 “chiica” is a regional currency platform with which each local government can issue a regional currency, and has been introduced by approx. 30 local 

governments.

Material Issue 2

As society changes and technology evolves, customer values and lifestyles are also becoming 
more diverse, and there is a need for fi nancial services which are more close-by and conve-
nient. Seven Bank is aiming for innovation in fi nancial services unrestricted by convention.

Unique Services

Partnering with Regional Digital Currencies (as of the end of March 2022)

Create a Lifestyle through New Financial Services

By using know-how on screening and fraud detection, etc. which we have cultivated in banking operations 
and providing it to external service providers, we are aiming at society where all people can access conve-
nient fi nancial services.

Operation image (VANDLE CARD app screen)

Image of third-generation ATM screen

March 2020  SARUBOBO COIN February 2021  Setagaya PayApril 2020  AQUACOIN

Regional digital currencies for which ATM partnerships were concluded

For more details, please refer to the following website.

https://www.sevenbank.co.jp/oos/adv/tmp_213.html

Image of fourth-generation ATM screen Image of donation recipient selection screen 
(as of April 2022)

Select “Pochitto 
charge” on VANDLE 

CARD app

Enter attribute 
information

SMS authentication Specify an amount 
and apply

Top-up completed 
when passing 

screening

Select 
how to 
top up

Top-up Use
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Seven Bank ATM

Carrier settlement

Collection at 
convenience stores
(excluding 7-Eleven stores)

Others

Net bank settlement

Virtual 
prepaid card

Pochitto charge

User
Store/

e-commerce, 
etc.

* At bricks-and-mortar 
stores, available only 
for users to whom a 
physical card called 
“plastic card” has 
been issued.
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We have provided a voice guidance service at all ATMs since 2007 so that visually impaired customers can 
access our ATMs with peace of mind even when on their own. As 15 years have passed since the initial devel-
opment, living environments surrounding people have signifi cantly changed, and customers’ needs have been 
diversifying, as seen in case of receiving inquiries about the voice guidance service supporting electronic 
payment. Therefore, in the Bank, it was discussed whether we had been able to provide the voice guidance 
service meeting changes of the times and needs.

In order to grasp needs of visually impaired people again, Web questionnaires for 100 people and a survey 
(round-table talk) on needs with a few people were implemented. In the round-table talk, a hearing about use of 
smartphones and Web, and everyday lifestyle was con-
ducted, and opinions were exchanged under various 
themes including usability of ATMs for about two hours.

Based on various opinions we received and results 
of questionnaires, we will keep trying to make ATMs 
evolve to realize the society where no one is left behind.

Material Issue 3

In order to realize a society in which no one is left behind, we must create an environment in 
which diverse people can fl ourish. In addition, in order to realize sustainable corporate growth, 
improved productivity through the enhancement of employee capabilities, the active partici-
pation of diverse human resources, and the creation of workplaces suited to fl exible working 
styles are essential. Seven Bank is engaging in a variety of initiatives in order to achieve fulfi ll-
ing lifestyles as well as the continuous development of society.

■ Active participation of foreign staff
Foreign members of Seven Global Remit, Ltd. are mainly in charge of responding to customers who use 
services of Seven Bank, and also active as a lecturer of Training Course for Promoting Stable Employment of 
Foreign Residents and Students* implemented by JAPAN INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION CENTER (JICE)

In the training course, they lecture about communication and what to keep in mind at Japanese workplace, 
incorporating their own experiences.
* Training course intended for foreign residents who possess a visa without restriction of employment, and aiming at the improvement of their Japanese 
language skills and their acquisition of basic knowledge about working in Japan, such as workplace customs, employment practices, labor-related 
laws/regulations, and insurance systems. This is a project to promote their stable employment and retention at domestic companies, commissioned by 
the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare.

■ Diverse ways of working to realize favorable work-life balance

Toward a Society in Which No One Is Left Behind

Creating Workplaces Where Diverse Human Resources Can Flourish

Ten years have passed since I joined Seven Bank. I joined the 
Bank as one of members for promoting international money 
transfer services, mainly in charge of Chinese customers. 
Presently, I am responsible for managing nine employees and 
staff as a leader of a retail sales team.

Seven Bank offers us the good environment for proactive 
career development. In 2021, I took and passed the Qualifi -
cation Examination for Chiefs of Money Lending Operations. 
Since then, I have worked on more responsible jobs than ever.

Comment of team leader of retail sales team 
at Kani offi ce

The ATM Call Center receives approx.40,000 inquiries per month. We are committed to 
eliminating inconvenience and anxieties of customers who use ATMs to allow anybody to use 
ATMs anytime with peace in mind.

It is also one of ATM Call Center’s missions to communicate customers’ opinions and 
requests, such as diffi culties in understanding a screen and operations, to departments in 
charge of operations, and lead them to improvement.

This project started, triggered by such customers’ voices. We will aim to improve ATM’s 
functions and services by listening to customer’s voices every day.

Comment of an employee at ATM Call Center

Setsu So
Leftmost: Leader of retail sales team, Kani 

Offi ce, Seven Global Remit, Ltd.

Voice guidance is supported for transac-
tions with more than 500 of Seven Bank’s 
partner fi nancial institutions.

The round-table talk

Create a Society Where Everyone Can Be Active

I am providing support to diverse human resources every day.
The Contact Center responds to inquiries from non-Japanese customers with Seven 
Bank account in a total of ten languages (Japanese, English, Chinese, Tagalog, Por-
tuguese, Spanish, Vietnamese, Thai, Indonesian, and Burmese). Operators speaking 
different languages were born and raised in various environments, and have various 
ways of thinking. Literally, there are diverse human resources at the Contact Center. 
As a leader of the international transfers team, I never force them to behave in a 
Japanese manner, and we deal with over 10,000 inquiries per month, consulting with 
a supervisor.

Comment from Contact Center

Fumiko Koriyama
Seven Global Remit, Ltd.

Members of Kani Offi ce

VOICE

VOICE

Taking a childcare leave for three months, I really felt that it is so hard mentally and 
physically for women who has just given birth to take care of a child. As I was able 
to help mitigate such burdens on my partner, I think it was of great signifi cance to 
have taken the leave system.

I consulted on application for the leave system with my boss two months before 
the childbirth, and received willing consent.

Within the company, there may be some employees who hesitate to take a child-
care leave. However, through this experience, I would like to be a role model that 
can encourage such employees.

Comment of an employee who took a childcare leave

Yuki Watanabe
ATM Operations 

Management Division

VOICE

VOICE

Position of the intercom

Conventional ATM
New-type ATM
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■ Fourth-generation ATM
The fourth-generation ATM realized an approx.40% reduction in energy consumption compared to the 

third-generation ATM, which had reduced approx.48% in energy consumption and CO2 emissions compared 

to the second-generation ATM.

Under the concept of “ATM+”, the fourth-generation ATM aimed to not only improve features and perfor-

mance but also to contribute even better to society and the environment so as to meet broader customers’ 

and social needs. The fi rst target set was a 50% reduction in power consumption compared to the third-gen-

eration ATM. At the same time, the fourth-generation ATM aimed to provide customers new values, in addition 

to cash deposits and withdrawals, in order to realize an ATM in a better version of daily life. It is equipped with 

a lot of new services and functions, such as facial recognition, reading functions for Individual Number Cards 

and drivers licenses, etc., as well as Bluetooth. Adoption of high-performance components to fully use such 

functions contradicts the reduction in energy consumption. While mounting the high-performance components, 

we faced a high hurdle on achievement of the target of reduction in energy consumption. However, we never 

gave up and continued to take on a challenge together with business partners, and fi nally achieved the target.

Material Issue 4

The global warming severely affects the sustainability of companies. In addition, the risks of 
climate change could become a grave threat to future generations. Seven Bank is strength-
ening initiatives to reduce its environmental burden and is working with the companies of the 
Seven & i Group to resolve environmental issues.

Reducing CO2 emissionsReduce the Environmental Burden

Recognizing the issue of climate changes that would have signifi cant impacts on the environment, society, 

and corporate activities as one of its management material issues, Seven Bank expressed an endorsement 

of Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) in December 2021. According to TCFD recom-

mendations, we will strive to enhance information disclosure to stakeholders with regard to impacts of climate 

change-related risks and opportunities on the company’s business activities and revenues, etc., and take 

specifi c measures for them.

■ Governance
Climate change-related risks and opportunities, etc. are deliberated by the Sustainability Committee, chaired 

by the offi cer in charge of SDGs promotion and the Risk Management Committee, and a system has been 

put in place to refer and report important matters to the Executive Committee and the Board of Directors. (For 

details of the system, please refer to page 41.)

■ Strategy
We will begin to identify short-, medium-, and long-term risks and opportunities related to climate changes, 

and analyze impacts of the risks and opportunities on the business, strategies, and fi nancial plans of organi-

zations, as well as their scenario analysis during FY2022. In and after FY2023, we will gradually proceed with 

information disclosure about the above.

■ Risk Management
Climate change-related risks are regarded as one of management material issues.

Increased frequency of natural disasters such as torrential rains, disasters, and fl oods may damage the 

Seven Bank’s facilities including ATMs. If this happens, it may disrupt the Bank’s operating activities, and 

if the impact is prolonged, economic activities may be restricted and the number of ATM transactions may 

decrease, which could affect the Bank’s profi tability.

■ Indicators and Targets
In order to hand down the rich global environment to future generations, Seven & i Group is working together 

with all employees of the Group companies to achieve the targets set in the environmental declaration 

“GREEN CHALLENGE 2050.”

In “GREEN CHALLENGE 2050,” Seven Bank has been proactively working on net zero CO2 emissions from 

store operation as the vision for 2050, together with the Group companies.

Seven Bank has also been establishing a system to quantitatively grasp environmental burdens, for exam-

ple, calculating annual CO2 emissions arising from its business activities.

Endorsement of TCFD recommendations

● Abolishing and merging infrastructures, reviewing circuit design

● Thoroughly selecting power-saving components including displays

From third-generation ATM to fourth-generation ATM: Efforts for reducing energy consumption

Fourth-generation 
ATM

Third-generation 
ATM

Additional

Second-generation 
ATM

48%
Reduction

in energy 
consumption

40%
Reduction

in energy 
consumption

Dramatic progress in energy saving

■ Reducing ATM Slip Waste
By enhancing a guidance function on the ATM screen, we eliminated the slips that were previously automat-

ically issued when an incorrect PIN was entered or when there was an insuffi cient account balance. These 

measures resulted in an annual reduction of around 20 million slips in FY2021.

■ Reducing Frequency of ATM Cash Transportation
A security company must transport cash by vehicle when replenishing an ATM. The security company reduc-

es CO2 emissions from transporting cash by analyzing the usage of each ATM separately and reducing the 

frequency of cash transportation. In addition, we achieve stable, effi cient operation of ATMs in 7-Eleven stores 

by putting cash from store sales proceeds into their ATMs.
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■ Longer service life of ATMs and 3R
For ATMs, we have proactively introduced recycled materials and adopted an easy-to-maintain structure, etc. 
from a design phase. In the event of defects, we perform parts replacement and maintenance and make other 
efforts to extend its life.

When remodeling or closing a 7-Eleven store, or when putting in a new fourth-generation ATM, old ATMs 
are removed and collected and, if the machine itself can be reused, it undergoes maintenance and is put back 
into use, or even individual parts will be reused in other machines. ATMs which are too old and can no longer 
be reused are recycled with the help of recycling business operators, thus we achieve a recycling rate of 
around 100% for ATMs.

■ Green Procurement Initiative
We have established and are recommending a policy, with regards to the office supplies we use internally as 
well as printing services, of procuring items with a low environmental burden from suppliers who promote 
environmental conservation.

In the selection of office supplies and printing services, in addition to the required quality and functionality, 
we are striving to purchase products and services prioritizing the fulfillment of requirements to reduce envi-
ronmental burden, such as whether hazardous chemicals are used and whether the relevant item can be used 
for a long time, reused and recycled in order to realize a circulating society.

■ Utilization of Forest Stewardship Council (FSC®) Certified Paper 
We use FSC® certified paper for the cash envelopes and various leaflets at our ATMs and free copies of the 
children’s picture book “Mori no Senshi (Guardian of the Forest) Bonolon,” which are supported by Seven 
Bank. Forest Stewardship Council (FSC®) certified paper is paper made from lumber cut from properly man-
aged forests or other low-risk lumber. Seven Bank will continue to expand the use of environmentally-friendly 
FSC® certified paper.

Reducing Waste Generation

Usage of renewable materials

Environmental conservation activities

Our employees have participated in various volunteer activities held by Seven & i Group and environmental 
conservation activities through the Seven Forest project in cooperation with the Seven-Eleven Memorial 
Foundation, in order to contribute to the preservation of the earth’s 
environment and to local communities. Although activities have been 
suspended due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we have worked on 
initiatives for conservation of forests, such as learning forest func-
tions, cleanup within forests, and an improvement of roads. These 
activities help raise the environmental awareness of every employee.

■ Reducing CO2 emissions at new Data Center
Seven Bank Data Center moved in March 2022.* The new data center has been designed to be environmen-
tally conscious, for example, using renewable energy and reducing water consumption for cooling. The data 
center is aiming at complete zero CO2 emission in 2025.

In addition to the reduction of environmental burdens, the new data center renewed a system infrastructure. 
Accordingly, agility for creating services has been considerably improved, and the system infrastructure has 
become more secure and robust over failures.
*Public cloud platform provided by Microsoft Japan and two domestic data centers provided by Nomura Research Institute, Ltd.

Nomura Research Institute Data Center Computer area

2016 2020 2021201920182017

(Thousand kWh)

(Fiscal 
Year)

3,000

4,000

2,000

1,000

* The data on over 26,000 ATMs nationwide is 
not included in the chart above because the 
electricity to run the ATMs is from the facilities 
that house our ATMs.

Electricity usage*

(Offices, staffed outlets, ATM corners directly managed by Seven Bank)

Reduce

ATMs have adopted environmentally 
conscious design, for example, using 
materials free from hydrogen halide 
gas which is said to be one of the 
causes of acid rain.

Reducing volume 
of resources used 
to manufacture 
products and wastes 
generated.

Recycle

Each of parts is recycled as 
recycled resources such as iron, 
stainless, and plastic.

Effectively 
utilizing wastes, 
etc. as raw 
materials and 
energy sources.

Reuse

Old ATMs are disassembled, 
and some parts are reused. 
For example, liquid crystal 
units are reused as recycled 
liquid crystal displays.

Repeatedly using 
used products 
and their parts, 
etc. 3R

Recycle

R
eu

se

R
educe
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In the international money transfer service which started in 2011, Seven Bank account is opened, and money 
is transferred to a registered recipient from deposits in saving account. As the labor shortage has been 
increasingly severer in Japan, the number of foreigners working in Japan has tended to increase year by year. 
With diversifying customers’ needs, while some people need Seven Bank accounts for receiving payroll, we 
received a number of requests for easier money transfer to a home country.

“Sendy,”* an international money transfer service using smartphone app which started in spring 2021, is 
a service that meets customer’s desire of readily transferring money anytime anywhere. This service started 
with money transfer to Vietnam, and additionally became available for Indonesia in December 2021, and for 
the Philippines in April 2022. Presently, the service has been used by a lot of people.

Credd Finance, Ltd., a joint venture of Seven Bank and Shinsei Bank, Limited., together with APLUS Co., 
Ltd., are providing a credit card and a loan service for non-Japanese resident customers. As the both services 
target not only permanent residence status holders but also non-Japanese residents with a wide range of 
residence statuses permitting work in Japan, people from various countries have applied for these services 
due to their usability.

■ Sendy Credit Card
This credit card can be used for shopping at physical stores, online shopping, and various smartphone 
settlements. The card can also be used for cash advances. As a cardless credit card for which no physical 
plastic card is issued, it has been designed to be conscious of the global environment.

■  Unsecured purpose-specifi c loan service
Unsecured and not requiring a guarantor, 
the service’s loans can be used for 
purchasing a car, education expenses, 
and a variety of other uses.

As application for the loan is compli-
cated with a number of items to be fi lled 
out for screening purposes, a multilingual 
support service via telephone and for 
face-to-face communication is provided.

Seven Bank ATMs are designed to be convenient also for foreigners.

■ Non-Japanese residents with accounts
In order to help non-Japanese residents with Seven Bank account to use Seven Bank ATMs with peace of 
mind, ATM operation screens for deposit and withdrawal on Seven Bank 
account, as well as international money transfer service are available in 
nine languages (Japanese, English, Tagalog, Chinese, Portuguese, Span-
ish, Vietnamese, Indonesian, and Thai).

In the event something is unclear with regards to a Seven Bank account, 
support is provided by multilingual staff at Contact Center. 10 languages 
are available, with Burmese added to the above nine language. Support 
services are provided, including inquiries on a Seven Bank account.

■ Tourists from overseas
We have heard from many persons who have come to Japan for tourism and other reasons that it is diffi cult 
to obtain Japanese yen after entering the country. We provide a service at all Seven Bank ATMs which makes 
it possible to withdraw Japanese yen using cash cards and credit cards issued overseas.

Our ATMs can be used in 12 languages (Japanese, English, Chinese 
[simplifi ed], Chinese [traditional], Korean, Thai, Malaysian, Indonesian, 
Vietnamese, French, German, and Portuguese). Seven Bank helps to 
make it possible for people from around the world to have an enjoyable 
time in Japan.

Sendy users don’t need to open an account. Customers who hope to use the service download the app “Sen-
dy,” top up (credit cash to) “Sendy” account at Seven Bank ATM, and can transfer money from the account.
*“Sendy” is a service provided by Seven Global Remit, Ltd.

Material Issue 5

In order to make lives of non-Japanese residents more convenient and prosperous, Seven 
Bank has worked on development of fi nancial services for foreign customers. In addition, a 
multilingual guidance has been added in so that foreign people can easily access our fi nancial 
services.

We are aiming to realize a society which is easy for everyone to live in to make Japan a place 
international people will choose.

The smartphone app “Sendy” has evolved!

Financial services for non-Japanese residents

Foreign user-friendly ATMs

Realize Multicultural Symbiosis

Funds can be used for purchasing a car, 
education, driving school, moving, medical care 
and beauty treatments, and home renovation.

Image of ATM screen

Image of ATM screen

Comments from Sendy users

Service image

Digitize cash via 
smartphone

Easy to use
Multiple language options Real time rate

Top up cash anytime at a 
Seven Bank ATM

Make an international 
money transfer anytime from 

one’s account balance

Money is deposited into 
the recipient’s account

● I use Sendy to transfer money to my family in Vietnam.

● I am satisfi ed with quick money transfer and easy operation on a smartphone.

● In hurry to transfer money to my friend a while ago, I could readily add a recipient.

● This convenient service is helpful for me in Japan.

VOICE

Recipient must be registered via 
the app in advance
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Social Contribution Activities

Learning environmental and social issues

Fund-raise/Donation activities

In FY2021, Seven Bank worked to create opportunities to allow 
employees to learn various environmental and social issues that have 
been more complicated so that they can regard such issues as their 
own problems. In October 2021, a workshop was held for two days, 
in which participants learned social issues, freely exchanging opinions 
with lecturers, under nine themes including children poverty issue and 
diversity. We invited students* as lecturers. President Funatake (at that 
time) also participated in it, and students and employees discussed social issues, divided into different tables 
for each theme. The employees were quite stimulated by the students’ high level of awareness and passion. 
In addition, SDGs seminar was held with outside lecturers for three months from December 2021. Under six 
themes including disaster prevention, circular economy, and gender issues, the seminar was implemented in 
a hybrid way of face-to-face and online communication. Total number of employees who participated in the 
workshop and the seminar was over 180. These events became steps leading to further understanding of 
environmental and social issues and changes in their behaviors. 
*The students belong to anchor, a general incorporated association.

■ Support activities for disaster victims and disaster-affl icted areas
The Seven Bank solicits donations to support victims of disasters as entire Group.

■ Activities in Jakarta
PT.ABADI TAMBAH MULIA INTERNASIONAL(ATMi), 
a consolidated subsidiary in Indonesia, donated 5 
million rupiah and food and other items equivalent of 
11 million rupiah to Yayasan Yatim Piatu Dan Fakir 
Miskin Daarus Salaam Ragunan, an orphanage fund 
in Jakarta.

To respond to local employees’ passion for helping 
people in need, the donation to the orphanage fund 
was realized. ATMi will work on activities to contribute 
to local communities together with local employees.

■ Audible Traffi c Signals for the Visually Impaired
Seven Bank ATMs provide a voice guidance service so that visually impaired customers can access our 
ATMs. (See page 49 for details.)

As a means of spreading awareness and utilization 
of this service, we cooperated with Nippon Broad-
casting System’s “Radio Charity Musicthon,” a charity 
which collects funds to install audible traffi c signals 
enabling visually impaired persons to walk streets 
with peace of mind. We collected funds through a 
variety of means, including fund-raise at ATMs, click 
donations (in which one click on our website resulted 
in a donation of ¥1), and voice guidance system 
usage donations (in which usage of the service 
resulted in a donation of ¥100), as well as donations 
directly from customers with Seven Bank accounts. 
As a result, we presented ¥5,214,552 in donations to 
the “47th Radio Charity Musicthon.”

As a corporate citizen moving forward together with society, Seven Bank proactively engages 
in social contribution activities in close communication with society.

President Jo Watabe at center of the last row in the photo

Seven Bank President Yasuaki Funatake, (at that time) and 
Nippon Broadcasting System President Maki Hiwara

For future generations

“Mori no Senshi (Guardian of the Forest) Bonolon” is a picture book 
series which is published for free for the children of today who will 
be our future, and in order to engender parent-child communication 
through picture books. Endorsing this mindset, Seven Bank has 
supported “Mori no Senshi Bonolon” for over 15 years, since 2005.

Thanks to your support, “Mori no Senshi Bonolon” celebrated its 
100th issue in December 2021. In commemoration of the 100th issue, 
a free shipping campaign of lending large-sized picture books of “Mori 
no Senshi Bonolon” was implemented to support reading out loud ac-
tivities nationwide. The books were used by a lot of nursery schools, 
schools, and individuals that work on reading out loud activities.

Seven Bank will continue to support reading out loud activities and 
foster a healthy future generation through Bonolon.

Some 800,000 copies of “Mori no Senshi 
Bonolon” are published every even month 
and distributed free of charge at Seven Bank 
Headquarters, 7-Eleven stores across the 
country, and other group businesses.

I participated in both the workshop and the 
seminar. In the workshop, directly talking 
with Generation Z, I really felt that it would 
be essential from a perspective of business 
strategy to work on promotion of sustainabil-
ity in corporate activities. Since March 2022, 
as a member of the Sustainability Committee, 
I have promoted sustainability from a different 
standpoint. I hope to contribute to resolution 
of environmental and social issues in my own 
humble way.

Ryuji Kimura
Strategy and 
Development Division

Comment of a participant

SDGs seminar
“Use lessons from major disasters for 
disaster prevention - preparation of 
knowledge leading to hope after disasters” 
(lecturer: Tadashi Okamoto, Attorney at law)

VOICE

Name of disaster Date
Amount of donations 

collected
Recipient

July 2021
Donations for damages 
from the torrential rains

July 9, 2021 to 
August 1, 2021

¥118,827 Atami City

August 2021
Donations for damages 
from the torrential rains

August 19, 2021 to 
August 31, 2021

¥642,475
Fukuoka, Nagasaki, Nagano, Saga, 
Hiroshima

2022
Donations for emergency 
assistance for Ukrainian 
refugees

March 17, 2022 - 
April 30, 2022

¥20,046,839

Offi ce of the United Nations High 
Commissioner for Refugees 
(UNHCR) through the UN Refugee 
Agency
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Ideal HR: Independent Human Resources

❶ People with appealing personal qualities
(interpersonal relations)

❷ People with multiple job skills 
(multiple positions)

❸ People capable of creating jobs 
(ability to think creatively and execute)＋＋

We will transform into an organization which promotes employees’ voluntary improvement of skills, career 
development, and selection of workstyle and where independent human resources can play active roles.

■ Ideal HR and Overall Vision for HR Strategy

HR strategy: Toward an organization where independent human resources can play active roles

Corporate transformation [1]: 
Human Resources, Organization, and Corporate Culture

Framework for Sustainable Growth (see page 60)

Seven Required Abilities

Sustainable growth
Create new values and improve productivity

Individual growth Corporate growth

Openness and 
the ability to unify

Receptivity to change Ability to make judgments and decisionsHR management ability

Empathy and 
listening ability

Ability to communicate and 
build consensus

Ability to overcome diffi culties 
and complete the task

Increase Engagement

Individual growth

Encourage individual behavioral changes

● Promote autonomous career development with 100-year lifespans in mind

● Accommodate diversifi cation in individual drive and motivation

Organizational contribution

Coordination between management strategies and 
HR strategies

● Achievement of Medium-Term Management Plan

● Challenge for New Business Model

In the Medium-Term Management Plan, corporate 
transformation is one of the strategies given for driving 
sustainable growth. We will carry out corporate transfor-
mation from both aspects of “human resources, organi-
zation, and corporate culture” and “business model and 
business process.”

Transformation of organization

Transform into an organization which promotes 
employees’ voluntary improvement of skills, 

career development, and selection of workstyle 
and where independent human resources 

can play active roles

Transformation of business model/process

Establish a business that leverages data of 
Seven Bank and the Group

Improve operating effi ciency and strengthen 
sales and marketing through 

automation and data integration

■ Framework for Sustainable Growth
Seven Bank is engaged in various initiatives in line with its framework for sustainable growth with a view to 
fostering independent human resources that will support its second stage of growth.

❶ HR development (challenge and growth)

● Introduction of “MANABIYA!” training portal site
We introduced the MANABIYA! training portal site in July 2021 to support 
more autonomous career development.

■ Objective
The site was established to create an environment that allows all employees to autonomously shape and pursue 
their careers. Employees are provided with visualized learning and a place to exchange information on their studies 
with other employees, which supports autonomous learning, while information on skills that employees (members) 
have acquired and the courses they have taken is shared with supervisors, and this enables mutual support for 
skill demonstration and growth.

■ Development process, inventive measures
The site’s rollout was decided in April 2021 and it was released on a companywide basis in three months. Because 
training is generally felt to be stiff and formal and not easily accessible, a pop design was used to convey novelty 
and ease of learning and our own original welcome page was created with an emphasis on usability for employees.

The site was also equipped with a function for searching from around 6,000 courses by category as well as a 
mechanism that enables users to read the impressions of previous course-takers and review the content.

■ Utilization
Webinars are held to explain how to use MANABIYA! and communicate its appeal as a tool for self-development 
within our company. Information on online classes is also actively communicated to make people aware of the 
content and scope of the study programs available. Many employees have taken interest in MANABIYA! and 55% 
of the workforce has logged in. The number of applications to self-development program increased greatly over 
the previous year, growing by 70%.

Ai Sumikawa, Human Resources DivisionInterview with development leader

❶ HR development (challenge and growth)

❻ Risk management

❸ Systems ❹ Health and welfare ❺ Diversity and integration

❷ Workstyles (for openness)

Corporate culture that maintains compliance (prevents scandals)
●  Infrastructure Service rules (internal regulations), labor law compliance, prevent labor trouble
  Rule and manual revisions, subsidiary management, compliance with changes in the law
● Culture Employee education    Awareness-raising   Enliven internal communication

Create HR-focused systems
●  Enhance personnel system
●  Establish diverse ways of working to 

realize favorable work-life balance
●  Create communication opportunities to 

increase team and organizational power

Promote health and productivity 
management
● Promote health (health exams)
●  Mental health (communication)
● Maintain productive workplace environment
●  Appropriate working hours
●  Accurate salary calculations

Promoting active participation of 
diverse human resources
● Secure and retain diverse, appealing human 

resources
●  Understanding of others and diversity

Create workplace where all employees can demonstrate 
their abilities
● Enliven communication
● Employee connectedness/relationships, organizational visibility

Realize autonomous skill development and career formation
● Permeation of Purpose
● Create workplace where abilities can be demonstrated with 

independence and motivation
● Improve communication ability

Continuous
offering of values

Sustainable growth

Medium-Term Management Plan

Growth 
strategy

Contribution to solving 
social issues

Corporate 
transformation
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The initiative works to promote understanding of innovation and foster a mindset geared to innovation compa-
nywide through messages from management on diverse themes and community activities among employees.

Major initiatives

❶ For all employees
  Conversation-based webinar between Bank 

offi cers and outside corporate managers

❷ Limited members 
  Latest outside information and feedback, etc. in a 

limited community space

I took the Udemy Business online 
course and chose classes on improving 
sales skills and system development 
management. I like the fact that there 
is no set time or place, which allows 
me to productively use my downtime 
to study. I hold study sessions for 
other members in the Bank based 
on interpretations I make of what I’ve 
studied in the course, which deepens 
my own understanding and also 
encourages other members to take 
classes themselves.

There are many types of self-development 
programs available, which is very appealing. 
I was surprised at the variety of study 
options; there are not only standard cor-
respondence courses in which the course 
materials are delivered to your house and 
assignments are done on a regular schedule 
but also online classes and costly in-person/
online programming courses, for example. 
Mandatory training is just the minimum; I’m 
positively impressed with the stance taken 
of providing an environment that allows 
each individual to make their own choices.

Satoshi 
Wada
Planning 
Division

Masato 
Takahashi
Seven Global 
Remit, Ltd.

❷ Workstyles (for openness)

● Headquarters offi ce renovations
We renovated our offi ces based on the concept of activity-based working (ABW)*, which is the approach of 
allowing employees to choose when and where they work in order to help encourage communication, gener-
ate innovation, and raise productivity and work effi ciency.
* ABW is a workstyle that promotes more creative outcomes by allowing workers to freely choose when and where they work depending on the work 
environment and job content.

Community
A sense of well-being from relationships 

with the organization and colleagues

Sound
Reduced noise from online 

conferencing

Mind
Concentration, conversation, 

relaxation

Movement
An offi ce where there is sitting, 

standing, and moving

Creating an offi ce conducive to well-being
Offi ce transformation that is valuable to employees

X

❸ Systems

● Create HR-focused systems
A career self-reporting system was introduced within the personnel evaluation system in fi scal 2021 in which 
employees think about their careers and report on those themselves. We respect the intentions of each 
individual and provide opportunities for everyone to fully demonstrate their skills.

❹ Health and welfare

● Achieving work-life balance
We encourage employees to utilize work at home and sliding hours programs and take advantage of their 
paid vacation days, providing support on and off the job to help ensure every employee’s mental and physical 
health and the ability to actively and energetically participate.

● Health maintenance and promotion
Employees take part in the “Aru Fes.” team-based walking campaign hosted by the Seven & i Group. The 
campaign is intended to help prevent lifestyle-related diseases and maintain and promote health through 
walking, a health fundamental. There is a team competition as well, which serves to enliven communication 
among employees and foster team unity.

54 people participated in the campaign (May 2021).

● LGBTQ webinar held
We invited in an outside instructor and held an internal webinar on “thinking about diversity and integration 
from an LGBTQ perspective”. The webinar deepened accurate understanding of LGBTQ and served as an 
opportunity to think about what to engage in both at the individual and company levels.

Encouraged by my supervisor, I decided to participate in the program to overcome 
certain issues that I saw as my weaknesses—communication when meeting people for 
the fi rst time and being proactive in expressing myself—and in order to build networks 
with others.

The SDGs program, in which we connected live with Indonesia and observed the 
local situation where environmental issues are having a major effect on people’s lives, 
in particular left me a deep impression. I perceived the diffi culty of balancing this 
with corporate activities, and it motivated me to apply for our internal recruitment of 
Sustainability Committee members. Repeating inputs and outputs through various 
types of work, I learned ways to communicate to deepen thinking. After the training, 
I received positive comments on my autonomous attitude and my words and actions 
from the people around me, and I was surprised at how my behavior had changed 
without even realizing it, which gave me confi dence. In addition, encountering the 
thoughts and attitudes on work of female participants in managerial positions with 
diverse backgrounds who are playing active roles at other companies provided me 
with invaluable role models, which was a major benefi t of the program. I plan to think 
more about my future career in the context of the many options available.

Yoshiko Masaoka
ATM Operations 

Management Division

Overcoming weaknesses by seeing 
the program as positive growth opportunities

❺ Diversity and integration

● Employee takes part in training program for female executive candidates
As a part of efforts to promote diversity and integration, an employee of the Bank was chosen to take part in 
the Women’s Advanced Program* conducted by Pasona Inc.
* A lodging-based program to teach frontline business skills and develop female executive candidates capable of contributing to their own 
companies and society.

Comment from MANABIYA! UsersVOICE

VOICE

● Enliven internal communication
The 7Bank Academia initiative was started to promote understanding of innovation and foster a mindset 
geared to innovation companywide through messages from management on diverse themes and community 
activities among employees.

7Bank Academia
A community that transcends divisions to realize our Purpose, which is to “Create a better version of daily life 
by going beyond the wishes of our customers.” Through Academia, employees reaffi rm that they themselves 
are the ones that “Create a better version of daily life,” and activities are conducted to support and encourage 
employees to take action. 
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CX driving transformation

Specifi c initiatives
● Review corporate processes

● System renewal suited to process transformation, 
etc.

Specifi c initiatives
● Implement IT tools for enlivening communication

● Build an email system with security considerations, 
etc.

Specifi c initiatives
● Transform the culture through collaboration with 

outside companies

● Business creation and model transformation 
through utilization of new technologies, etc.

Specifi c initiatives
● Build companywide data platform

● Monetize through fi nancial/retail data, etc.

Seven Bank defi nes CX as the combination of digital trans-
formation (DX) and employee experience (EX). We will pursue 
a business model for the growth of both individuals and the 
company by giving concrete shape to building IT systems 
that raise productivity, to utilization of advanced AI/data and 
the relevant skillsets, and to changes in organization, corpo-
rate culture, and awareness needed for this.

Corporate transformation [2]: Business Model/Business Process

Seven Bank is taking on the challenge of generating new innovation by promoting business 
transformation utilizing digital technology and data. Taking the changes in an ever-changing 
society as a positive opportunity, we are promoting companywide corporate transformation 
(CX) initiatives to solve social issues and fulfi ll our Purpose through progressive products and 
services that utilize AI and data.

CX Framework

Time 
creation

Service 
creation

Personal 
development

Idea 
creation

CX promotion

AI/data promotionWorkstyles

Corporate IT

Promote integration of employee 
awareness transformation and 
business process transformation

Build IT systems for raising 
employee productivity

Human Centric Top-line contribution

Shift from idea creation to 
business creation

Data-driven transformation of 
business models and processes

Human 
resources

Data science 
ability

IT ability

Business ability

*1  Excluding offi cers, executive offi cers, employees seconded from the Bank to external companies, part-time employees and temporary staff; 
and including employees seconded from external companies to the Bank.

*2 Number of part-time employees: Average number of workers per month assuming eight work hours a day
*3  Ratio of female managers excludes those seconded from the Bank to Seven & i Group companies and those seconded to the Bank from 

companies outside the Group but includes those seconded to the Bank from Group companies.
*4 Ratio of employment of persons with disabilities as of April 1, 2022

*5 Number of employees who took childcare leave in fi scal 2021
*6  Occupational accident frequency rate = (Number of occupational accidents 

occurred/Cumulative work hours) × 1,000,000
*7  Occupational accident severity rate = (Lost work days due to an accident/

Cumulative work hours) × 1,000
*8 Number of employees who used the system due to childcare or nursing care

Male Female Total Average service years of employees 7.8 years

Number of employees*1 302 203 505 Ratio of female managers*3 16.0%

Number of part-time 
employees*2 2 0 2

Ratio of employment of persons with 
disabilities*4 2.4%

Number of temporary staff 14 32 46 Ratio of paid leave taken by employees 80.2%

Male Female Total

Number of employees who 
took a leave for childcare*5 2 13 15

Number of employees who 
took a leave for nursing care 0 0 0

Number of employees who 
used the shorter work-hour 
system*8

2 21 23

Number of uses of leave for volunteer 
activities 0

Occupational accident frequency rate*6 0.0%

Occupational accident severity rate*7 0.0%

Number of contacts received at 
the Help Line for employees 6

Average employee overtime per month 24.9 hours

Fiscal 2021 7

Data on employees and employment (as of March 31, 2022)

Data on employees and employment (Fiscal 2021)

Numbers of employees promoted to regular employees under the Regular Employee Promotion System 
(system to promote non-full-time employees to regular employees)

■ Increasing engagement
We conduct various surveys and measures to increase employee engagement at the company overall. Last 
fi scal year, we started EQ testing (emotional intelligence testing) and a “360° feedback” program. EQ testing, 
which is also a diagnostic tool for mental health, is an effective tool to objectively determine one’s own 
strengths and weaknesses. Seven Bank conducts a training course with EQ testing in which participants not 
only analyze their own results, but also share them with others, which provides an opportunity to recognize 
differences among individuals as well. At the same time, in the 360° feedback program, employees are shown 
the gaps that may exist between their own understanding of themselves and the understanding of others, 
which we believe can provide insights and lead to changes in behavior at the individual level. Learning about 
oneself and grasping the condition of one’s team through this initiative will lead to increased engagement.

The Bank has conducted employee engagement surveys since fi scal 2018 that it uses as an indicator for 
employee motivation.

■ Human Capital-Related Data

Growth StrategyValue Creation Management Foundation
Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

63 64

010_9663387912209.indd   63-64010_9663387912209.indd   63-64 2022/09/28   11:25:182022/09/28   11:25:18



Specifi c CX Project Initiatives

■ Developing data-profi cient human resources
To help us transform into a data-driven company, we conduct the Data Science Program to increase the data 
literacy of offi cers and employees. Promoted as an in-house program, it was held eight times in fi scal 2021 
(beginners’ course on utilizing data), and 76 employees participated to proactively acquire data skills. For 
fi scal 2022, we are planning a program for management-level employees and an AI course to further promote 
the development of data-profi cient human resources.

■ Issue in-house “CXPT Journal”
The in-house “CXPT Journal” was issued to provide information companywide 
on the corporate transformation activities being promoted by the CX Project 
Team (CX-PT) so that every employee will be able to understand the activities 
and nourish a sense of ownership in them.

Steps Taken by the DMO for embedding Data Utilization

■ Establishment of Data Management Offi ce (DMO)
The Data Management Offi ce (DMO) began activities in April 2022 to build a foundation 
for the everyday utilization of data in each division.

The DMO conducts activities daily in close coordination with each division to fulfi ll our 
Purpose through data utilization. These activities include 1) providing an environment for 
timely data collection and consolidation from various systems, processing the data to make possible quick and 
simple data analysis, and creating instruction manuals; 2) defi ning requirements for acquiring needed data going 
forward with an awareness of data utilization from the service planning and design stage; 3) creating guidelines 
on data utilization and strengthening data governance functions; and 4) administrating an employee community 
(7Bank Data Salon) for consulting on data utilization and sharing examples of its use in each division.

Seven Labo was established in 2016 to promote innovation. It aims to establish a corporate culture 
of open innovation by promoting coordination with outside companies and cross-organizational 
projects. Here we introduce two members of Seven Labo currently leading various initiatives.

Companies that do not communicate via social media may lose out on opportuni-
ties—based on this thought, we began operating social media accounts in 2020. 
Currently, we are engaged in various activities while coordinating with multiple 
departments, including monitoring customer posts, providing information, and 
responding to questions.

Seven Bank ATMs are a form of social infrastructure, so rather than utilizing 
social media with a focus on increasing sales, we believe that providing the 

information customers need at the right timing, such 
as how to use our ATMs, serves to improve customer 
experience (CX). Social media is a means of effi ciently 
distributing information to a wide range of customers, 
but it can also be used to carry out one-to-one 
communication with individuals. We hope to transform 
organizational awareness while feeding back the two-
way communications that take place via social media 
internally on a daily basis.

Along with social media, we also began efforts in 
2021 to utilize owned media (“note”) as our recruitment 
PR. The stories of employees fulfi lling our Purpose are 
communicated to make people previously unaware of 
Seven Bank aware of us and hopefully relate positively 
to what we are doing.

It is exciting to come into contact with unique startup companies. We strive to cre-
ate opportunities to begin considering business co-creation. This includes operating 
the accelerator program sponsored by Seven Bank and participating in meetings of 
startups, pitch events, and other meet-and-greet opportunities on a routine basis. 
In addition, I feel motivated to search for possibilities of collaboration with startup 
companies that have unique technologies, while imagining the type of new world 
that can be envisioned after co-creation, how it will improve customer convenience, 
and whether the collaboration will contribute to the business partner’s growth.

For example, through a demonstration experiment using fourth-generation ATMs, 
I do realize that it will be possible to create new services that go beyond wishes of 
customers by combining our assets with the progressive services of startups. In 
addition, the fi nancial world is changing rapidly due to technological innovations 
such as digital currencies and NFTs. Actively participating in these new fi elds as 
well, we are exploring 
new business areas for 
ourselves.

In order to contribute to 
Seven Bank’s second stage 
of growth going forward, 
we will work to create new 
business opportunities 
through open innovation.

Seven Labo

Accelerator program

Saori Horikoshi
Seven Labo

Daiki Yamagata
Seven Labo

Connecting via Social Media

Connecting with Startups

Seven Bank’s offi cial Twitter 
account

Beginner’s level Intermediate Advanced

Learn how to utilize internal data
[Description]
・Case studies
・Data utilization methods
・Issue discovery work
・Methods for extracting internal data
・How to use Power Query
・Basic ways to use Power BI
・Data utilization exercises

Create guidelines, execution by CX-PT

Ongoing initiative

Rollout in each division with CX-PT
Activities embedded in each division

Large capacity, ultra-advanced 
analysis using Python/SQL

[Scope]
・Coding lectures
・Exercises with Python, SQL

AI/data community

Data utilization course

Phase 1 (done by CX-PT)
Phase 2 (done together)

(self-propelled)
Phase 3 (customization)

Professional courseAI course (provisional name)

Full-fl edged utilization of 
Power BI in business

[Description] ・How to use Power BI (video)
・How to apply Power BI practically

BI course (provisional name)

Observations fed back 
into guidelines

Administer information

Defi ne data requirements

CX-PT accompanies 
to support business 

divisions

While executing, 
brush up to further 
raise effectiveness

Create fi rst version 
of guidelines

Introductory period Embedding period

Utilize tools to quickly generate major 
business results

[Description] ・Overview of machine learning
・Tool exercises with paxata, dr
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Seven Bank’s
Management 
Foundation
Building a staunch foundation 
which supports the mid- and 
long-term value creation

6 Makoto Kigawa

3 Toshihiko Itami

12 Ryoji Sakai

9 Katsuhiro Goto8 Hideaki Terashima

11 Kazuhiko Ishiguro

5 Yukie Toge

2 Masaaki Matsuhashi

10 Koichi Fukuo

4 Yukiko Kuroda

1 Yasuaki Funatake

7 Etsuhiro Takato

1 2

98
7

6
543

12
1110
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Internal Audit

① Board of Directors
The Bank’s Board of Directors has consisted of eight Directors, including five Independent Outside Directors. 
The Board of Directors meets, in principle, once a month to decide the Bank’s basic management policies 
and important operational issues and to supervise the execution of duties by Directors with executive authori-
ty over operations and Executive Officers.

② Nomination & Compensation Committee
As an advisory body to the Board of Directors, the Bank has established the Nomination & Compensation 
Committee, chaired by an Independent Outside Director in order to supplement 
functions of the Board of Directors. The committee is delegated by the Board 
of Directors to recommend candidates for Director to be put on the agenda at a 
General Meeting of Shareholders, to recommend candidates for Executive Officer 
to be put on the agenda at a Board of Directors meeting, and to supervise a plan on 
successors to the position of Director, etc.

③ Audit & Supervisory Board
The Bank’s Audit & Supervisory Board has consisted of four Audit & Supervisory Board Members, including 
two Independent Outside Audit &Supervisory Board Members. The Audit & Supervisory Board meets, in 
principle, at least once a month to receive reports regarding important auditing-related issues and deliberate 
and make decisions thereof. The Audit & Supervisory Board convenes with Representative Directors, the 
Internal Audit Division and the Accounting Auditor on a regular basis to exchange opinions and make requests 
as necessary on issues to be addressed by the Bank, the status of improvements to the Audit & Supervisory 
Board Members’ auditing environment and important auditing-related issues.

④ Executive Committee
In principle, the Executive Committee meets on a weekly basis to deliberate the execution of important oper-
ations, including business plans; acquisition and disposal of assets; credit provision-related issues; borrowing 
of money and payment of expenses; credit management issues; rewards and sanctions for employees; issues 
related to employees’ working conditions and benefits; the establishment, change and abolition of the organiza-
tion; and the formation, revision and elimination of rules and regulations, in addition to conferring on issues to be 
deliberated at the Board of Directors meetings in advance. The Bank has adopted an executive officer system, 
and the Executive Committee comprises Executive Officers and others nominated by the Board of Directors.

(As of June 21, 2022)

As a bank that owns and operates an ATM network that manages deposits from a large number of customers 
and has a nature similar to that of public infrastructure, the Bank recognizes that ensuring disciplined corpo-
rate management is vital in responding to social trust and seeks to ensure effective corporate governance. 
This is achieved by maintaining and improving corporate governance and compliance systems to ensure 
transparent, fair and swift managerial decision making; clarifying the roles and responsibilities of executives 
and employees; strengthening management oversight functions; and ensuring equitable operations.

The Bank adopts the organizational form of a Company with Audit & Supervisory Board. At the Board 
of Directors, the Bank ensures effective corporate governance through decision making by Directors with 
executive authority over operations who are well versed in the Bank’s operations and Outside Directors who 
have considerable experience and insight in their areas of expertise as well as through audits by the Audit & 
Supervisory Board Members.

Basic Views

Corporate Governance Structure

General Meeting of Shareholders

Board of Directors Audit & Supervisory Board Audit & Supervisory  
Board Members’ Office

Accounting Auditor

Number of meetings of the Board of Directors
Average attendance of Outside Directors

13  96.1%
Fiscal 2021

Number of meetings of Audit & Supervisory Board
Average attendance of Outside Audit & 

Supervisory Board Members

14  100.0%
Fiscal 2021

Advisory body to the Board of Directors

Nomination & Compensation 
Committee

Organizational design

Company with Audit & 
Supervisory Board

Chairperson of the Nomination &  

Compensation Committee

Independent Outside Director

Independence of Officers

Main Items and Descriptions

Ensuring 
independence

Independent 
Outside Directors

Independent  
Outside Audit &  

Supervisory Board Members

5/8
62.5%

2/4
50.0%

● Business strategy based on the Medium-term Management Plan

● Initiatives for promoting sustainability (including endorsement of 
TCFD)

Major agendas

● Situation and future plans of overseas businesses

● Capital increase for subsidiaries and other 
investments in business

Management Oversight Functions

Establish

Establish Audit

Cooperate

Cooperate

Direct

Direct

Report

Report

Appoint/Dismiss Directors Appoint/Dismiss Audit & Supervisory Board Members

Support

Audit

Elect/Supervise/Dismiss

Report

Appoint/Dismiss

Operational Implementation Functions

Compliance Committee

System Planning and Development Committee

Security Committee

Sustainability Committee

Risk Management Committee

Investment Committee

ALM Committee

Management Committee

Nomination & 
Compensation Committee

Representative Directors

Each Division

Chairman Internal Audit 
DivisionPresident

Executive Committee

Audit

①

②

④

③

Nomination & Compensation 
Committee

Members of major organizations

 Chairperson
〇 Member

 Observer

Position Name Board of 
Directors

Nomination & 
Compensation 

Committee

Executive 
Committee

Chairman and 
Representative Director Yasuaki Funatake 〇 〇 〇
President and 
Representative Director Masaaki Matsuhashi 〇
Director Katsuhiro Goto 〇
Outside Director Makoto Kigawa 〇
Outside Director Toshihiko Itami 〇
Outside Director Koichi Fukuo 〇
Outside Director Yukiko Kuroda 〇 〇
Outside Director Etsuhiro Takato 〇
(Executive Officer) 11 other persons 〇

Position Name
Audit & 

Supervisory 
Board

Board of 
Directors

Nomination & 
Compensation 

Committee

Executive 
Committee

Full-time Audit & 
Supervisory Board 
Member

Kazuhiko 
Ishiguro

Full-time Audit & 
Supervisory Board 
Member

Ryoji Sakai 〇

Outside Audit & 
Supervisory Board 
Member

Hideaki 
Terashima 〇

Outside Audit & 
Supervisory Board 
Member

Yukie Toge 〇
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Initiatives to Strengthen Corporate Governance

Support Systems/Training Policies for Outside Officers

For the sustainable growth and the improvement of corporate value, the Bank has positioned strengthening 
governance as a key management issue. In FY2021, amid the significant changes in environments surrounding 
companies, we put emphasis on further increasing effectiveness of the Board of Directors in order to carry out 
the growth strategies toward the realization of the Purpose, and promote sustainability management centering 
on resolution of social issues. As a place for more strategic discussion, which we regarded as an issue, “Offi-
cers Discussion” is periodically held to conduct discussion under themes which would contribute to manage-
ment. In FY2022, with a new Outside Director added, we will enhance independence of the Board of Directors, 
and strive to make governance more effective with the Board of Directors composed of diverse members.

Independence Standards for Outside Officers

The Bank’s Independence Standards for Outside Officers are as follows:

Other matters concerning Independent Officers
The Bank registers all persons who fulfill the qualifications of Independent Officers, as well as the Indepen-
dence Standards for Outside Officers, as Independent Officers.

Reasons for Appointment of Outside Officers

Evaluation of effectiveness of the Board of Directors

The Seven Bank has annually conducted “evaluation of effectiveness of the Board of Directors” since FY2015. 
In FY2021, a questionnaire survey was conducted for Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members in 
relation to evaluation, etc. for items measured at a fixed point such as operation of the Board of Directors, 
prior explanations, and contents of deliberations, as well as improved items for a single year. The results were 
reported to and deliberated at the Board of Directors.

■ Results of the evaluation for FY2021
The Bank’s Board of Directors continues to be operated appropriately under a well-balanced structure fea-
turing diverse knowledge and expertise. And it was confirmed that the Board of Directors has been fulfilling 
both its decision-making and supervisory functions as all Directors share its roles and responsibilities, while 
incorporating the perspective of Independent Outside Directors, thereby ensuring its effectiveness. Details of 
initiatives for specific issues are as follows.

■ Priority matters for FY2022

1 Is not a person with executive authority over operations of the Bank’s parent company or fellow subsidiary (or has been 
in such position in the past; hereinafter, the same applies to each item); 

2 Is not a person for which the Bank is a major business partner or a person with executive authority over such entity’s 
operations, or a major business partner of the Bank or a person with executive authority over such entity’s operations;

3 Is not a consultant, an accounting professional, a legal professional or a person belonging to an organization that 
receives a significant amount of monetary compensation from the Bank, other than officers’ compensation;

4 Is not a major shareholder of the Bank or a person with executive authority over operations of such shareholder; or

5 Is not a close relative of a person that falls under any of the above or a relative by blood or marriage within the second 
degree to a person with executive authority over operations of the Bank.

1 Expanded diversity of members of the Board of Directors by adding one Outside Director with global experience in order 
to incorporate an outside perspective in management.

2 To further revitalize discussion from a new perspective in the Nomination & Compensation Committee, reappointed 
Outside Directors as new committee members.

3 Strived to eliminate asymmetric information by expanding the scope of personnel to explain operations at the Board of 
Directors so that personnel closer to a site can explain. At the same time, provided opportunities to directly talk with 
personnel to be future executives.

Major initiatives

1  Advance governance in the Seven 
Bank Group

Consider issues with which Seven Bank’s 
Board of Directors should be involved

2  Continue and enhance strategic 
discussion, etc.

Set appropriate themes for discussion 
at the Board of Directors, etc.

3  Continue to make executive personnel 
explain operations

Provide information on the Bank’s operations, 
and provide opportunities for exchange between 
Outside Officers and executive personnel

1  Provide necessary and sufficient internal systems for enabling Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members to fulfill 
their roles and responsibilities in an effective manner.

2  Provide Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members with necessary opportunities to enable them to fulfill their 
roles, such as by providing the information and knowledge relating to the business activities that would be necessary to 
supervise corporate management when they take office and continually thereafter.

3  Build systems for sharing a sufficient amount of the Bank’s internal information with Outside Directors and Outside Audit 
& Supervisory Board Members (hereinafter referred to as “Outside Officers”).

4  Encourage Outside Officers to deepen their understanding of the Bank’s management policy and corporate culture, 
while providing information on the Bank’s business environment and other issues on a continuous basis.

5  Maintain and improve the environment for Outside Officers to mutually share information and exchange ideas, such as 
by holding periodic meetings with Executive Officers and/or other Non-Executive Officers.

6  Bear the expenses for Outside Officers to fulfill their roles.

Name Reasons for Appointment

Outside 
Directors

Makoto Kigawa
Mr. Makoto Kigawa’s experience and insight in corporate management at YAMATO HOLDINGS CO., LTD., etc., 
have genuinely contributed to the Bank’s management

Toshihiko Itami
Mr. Toshihiko Itami’s insight in corporate legal affairs, nurtured for many years in his career as a prosecutor, has 
genuinely contributed to the Bank’s management

Koichi Fukuo
Mr. Koichi Fukuo’s experience and insight as a manager at Honda Motor Co., Ltd., etc., have genuinely 
contributed to the Bank’s management.

Yukiko Kuroda
Ms. Yukiko Kuroda’s experience as a corporate manager and insight related to developing human resources who 
can handle global business have genuinely contributed to the Bank’s management.

Etsuhiro Takato
The Bank can expect Mr. Etsuhiro Takato’s experience and insight in corporate management, marketing, and 
global duties at Ajinomoto Co., Inc. to contribute to the Bank’s management.

Outside Audit 
& Supervisory 
Board 
Members

Hideaki 
Terashima

Mr. Hideaki Terashima’s broad insight into corporate legal affairs, nurtured in his career as an attorney-at-law, 
has contributed to audits of the Bank’s management.

Yukie Toge
Ms. Yukie Toge’s expertise as a certified public accountant, deep insight as an accounting and systems-related 
consultant, and experience as a corporate manager has contributed to audits of the Bank’s management.

Issues in FY2020 Details of initiatives in FY2021

Advance preparation
To deepen understanding and encourage more active discussion, early provided information to partici-
pants in a Board of Directors meeting, and enhanced contents.

Themes for discussion at  
the Board of Directors, etc.

With regard to setting of a theme for discussion which had been recognized as an issue, conducted 
discussion under themes which are helpful to management and coincide with the trends, in addition to 
discussions on business strategies. As a place for discussion, held “Officer Discussion” on a regular basis.

Provision of information on 
assigned operations and exchange 
sessions with executive personnel

Facilitated further understanding about business contents by expanding the scope that previously included only 
Executive Officers to general managers and presidents of subsidiaries. Also, revitalized the Board of Directors 
by providing opportunities to talk with a wide range of executive personnel.

New 
appointment
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❹ Compensation Level
Excluding compensation for Audit & Supervisory Board Members, to provide a competitive compensation 
level and thereby secure highly capable human resources, the Bank’s compensation level for officers has 
been determined by a resolution of the Board of Directors based on the proposal made by the Nomination 
& Compensation Committee. The deliberation has been based on the analysis and comparison of data on 
the compensation levels of a group of companies of the same size and operating in the same industry as the 
Bank, which has been drawn from a larger body of objective data on compensation levels provided by an 
outside professional organization.

❺ Details and Method of Calculation of Variable Compensation
● Bonuses
Bonuses, which are provided as short-term incentives, will be determined by multiplying the standard amount 
of compensation for each job rank by performance-linked factors corresponding to the achievement of 
consolidated performance targets for the previous fiscal year.

● Performance-based stock compensation
Performance-based stock compensation, which is provided as a medium- to long-term incentive, is com-
posed of a “fixed portion,” which grants fixed points for each job rank, and a “performance-based portion,” 
which grants a varying number of points determined by job rank and performance. For each portion, points 
are granted and accumulate every year of the term of office of the relevant officer, and a number of the Bank’s 
shares corresponding to the amount of accumulated points will be delivered to the officer upon retirement.

The number of points (i.e., the number of shares to be delivered) to be provided in the performance-based 
portion will be determined by multiplying the number of points for each rank by performance-linked factors 
according to the achievement level of consolidated performance targets.

● Evaluation indicators for variable compensation

Directors with executive authority 
over operations

Basic compensation
50%

Bonuses 
25%*

Performance-based 
stock compensation

25%*

▶  Balance between fixed compensation 
and variable compensation

▶  Balance between cash remuneration 
and stock compensation

Non-executive Directors and Audit 
& Supervisory Board Members

Fixed compensation
100%

Fixed compensation 50%

Cash remuneration 75%

Variable compensation 50%

Stock compensation 25%

Policy on Compensation of Officers and Compensation System for Officers

Seven Bank’s “Policy on Compensation of Officers and Compensation System for Officers” were, excluding 
compensation for Audit & Supervisory Board Members, proposed to the Board of Directors by the Nomination 
& Compensation Committee, and determined with a resolution of the Board of Directors as follows:

❶ Basic Policy on Compensation of Officers
The Bank decides compensation of officers based on the following points.
▶ Ensuring a compensation system to promote sustainable improvement of corporate value with emphasis 

placed on the link to business performance
▶ Ensuring compensation systems and compensation levels with their responsibilities to secure highly 

capable human resources who lead and take responsibility for, in an appropriate manner, the supervision 
and execution of operations

▶ Ensuring a compensation system based on an objective and transparent process, and that is fair and equitable

❷  Method for Determining Compensation, etc. for Individual Officers in the Fiscal Year 
under Review

The Bank has established a Nomination & Compensation Committee, comprising a total of four members made 
up of two independent Outside Directors and two Representative Directors, chaired by an Independent Outside 
Director, as an advisory body to the Board of Directors. The Nomination & Compensation Committee proposes 
specific amounts of compensation, etc. to be granted to Directors within the range of the total amount approved 
at the General Meeting of Shareholders, for determination by resolution of the Board of Directors. From the 
perspective of understanding the process of discussion, Audit & Supervisory Board Members may participate 
as observers who do not possess voting rights, when a Nomination & Compensation Committee meeting is 
held. The procedure is stipulated in the Regulations for Officers, which is modified, amended, or abolished by a 
resolution of the Board of Directors upon discussion with the Audit & Supervisory Board Members.

Compensation, etc. for Audit & Supervisory Board Members is determined upon discussion by the Audit & Su-
pervisory Board Members within the range of the total amount approved at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

❸ Compensation Structure
The Bank’s compensation structure for officers comprises “basic compensation” as fixed compensation and “bo-
nuses” and “performance-based stock compensation” as variable compensation, which are applied as follows.

Each plan is positioned as follows.

In compensation for Directors with executive authority over operations, the ratio of each plan has been 
decided as described on the following page by a resolution of the Board of Directors upon a proposal by the 
Nomination & Compensation Committee. Factors taken into account has included a balance between fixed 
compensation and variable compensation, a balance between cash remuneration and stock compensation, 
and a balance between bonuses and stock compensation, which are incentives to execute management with 
a well-balanced perspective in both the short term and the medium to long term.

In addition, non-executive Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members receive only fixed compensa-
tion, as their role is to supervise the Bank’s management from an objective and independent standpoint.

Fixed compensation Variable compensation
(a) Basic compensation (b) Bonuses (c) Performance-based stock compensation

Directors with executive authority over operations ● ● ●
Non-executive Directors ● ー ー
Audit & Supervisory Board Members ● ー ー

(a) Basic compensation Compensation aiming to encourage steady execution of duties commensurate with job rank

(b) Bonuses Short-term incentives aiming to steadily achieve performance targets (milestones) for each fiscal year 
for the medium-to long-term improvement of corporate value

(c)  Performance-based stock 
compensation

Medium-to long-term incentives for the medium-to long-term improvement of corporate value, aligning 
interests with shareholders

Plan Indicators and evaluation method

Bonuses

●   Evaluation based on the achievement status and process for performance targets (milestones) for the 
medium- to long-term improvement of corporate value, taking into account the management strategy of 
achieving “Growth in Our Main Business as We Diversify Our Operations”

● Quantitative evaluation based on the achievement status of targets for consolidated ordinary income and 
consolidated ordinary profit in the previous fiscal year

● Determination of a compensation amount in the range of 0% to 200% of the baseline amount

Performance-
based stock 
compensation

Fixed portion ー

Performance- 
based portion

●   Evaluation based on the results of the medium- to long-term improvement of corporate value, taking into 
account the management strategy of achieving “Growth in Our Main Business as We Diversify Our Operations”

● Quantitative evaluation based on the achievement status of consolidated ordinary income, consolidated 
ordinary profit, and other targets in the previous fiscal year

● Determination of a number of points (i.e., the number of shares to be delivered) in the range of 0% to 
200% of the baseline number of points

Fiscal year under review (from April 1, 2021 to March 31, 2022)● Targets and Results of Evaluation Indicators

*Calculated on the assumption that bonuses and performance-based stock compensation are based on a standard compensation amount.

Evaluation indicators Target value (Millions of yen) Result (Millions of yen) Degree of target achievement (%)

Consolidated ordinary income 137,600 136,667 99.3

Consolidated ordinary profit 28,300 28,255 99.8
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Status of Audits

❶ Cooperation between Audit & Supervisory Board Members and the Accounting Auditor
Audit & Supervisory Board Members and the Accounting Auditor hold regular meetings to exchange opinions 
and promote mutual cooperation, based on the audit contract with KPMG AZSA LLC. Audit & Supervisory 
Board Members perform audits on the execution of duties by Directors by attending the Board of Directors 
meetings or other means. In addition to conducting their own operational and accounting audits, Audit & 
Supervisory Board Members receive reports on results of external audits by the Accounting Auditor, and 
check the appropriateness thereof. Members from the Internal Audit Division are also present when receiving 
accounting audit reports from the Accounting Auditor, in an effort to facilitate close cooperation.

❷ Cooperation between the Audit & Supervisory Board Members and Internal Audit Division 
The Bank has in place the Internal Audit Division, which is independent of the Bank’s other departments 
engaging in business operations and directly reports to the President and Representative Director.

The Internal Audit Division annually sets a basic policy for internal auditing plans and priority issues to be 
addressed, which are to be approved by the Board of Directors. Individual internal auditing plans are formu-
lated by the General Manager of the Internal Audit Division, and approval of these plans is obtained from the 
President and Representative Director, who is the officer in charge of the Internal Audit Division. Individual 
internal audits are conducted by investigating and evaluating the appropriateness and effectiveness of inter-
nal management systems as a whole based on the following items to discover problems, if any, and suggest 
how to address them. The results of these audits are reported to the President and Representative Director, 
the Executive Committee and the Audit & Supervisory Board.

Internal audits are conducted on all the Bank’s departments and systems, including those of its subsidiaries. 
Audits are also conducted on the operations of the Bank’s major outsourcing contractors regarding the status 
of management by its relevant internal departments, as well as on the outsourcing contractors themselves, 
within the scope agreed with them. Audit & Supervisory Board Members receive periodic reports from the 
Internal Audit Division on its audit plans and results, and request investigations as necessary to ensure that 
the audit results of the Internal Audit Division are effectively utilized for internal control system audits by Audit 
& Supervisory Board Members. In addition, Audit & Supervisory Board Members receive reports on the status 
of internal control systems regularly or as necessary from the departments in charge of internal control func-
tions, and ask for detailed explanations as necessary.

Policy on Governance related to Listed Subsidiaries (Protection of Rights of Minority Shareholders)

■  Guidelines on Measures to Protect Minority Shareholders in Conducting Transactions 
with a Controlling Shareholder

Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd.is the Bank’s parent company, indirectly holding 46.27% of its voting rights, and 
therefore falls under the category of controlling shareholder stipulated in the Timely Disclosure Rules. When 
conducting transactions, etc., with the parent company, the Bank will comply with the arm’s-length rule 
under the Banking Law, which is a rule established to prevent the soundness of the Bank’s management from 
being compromised through conflict-of-interest transactions. The Bank fully confirms the necessity for such 
transactions and that the conditions of such transactions do not differ significantly from conditions of usual 
transactions with third parties.

■ Relationship with Parent Company, Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd.
The Bank believes that in order to achieve sound and sustainable growth, it is essential to engage in business 
development (innovation) by integrating collaboration with various partners to an advanced degree based on 
our credibility and transparency of management as a corporate entity. Furthermore, we recognize that listing 
on the market is one of the most effective ways to ensure the Bank’s credibility and transparency of man-
agement. As an independently listed company, the Bank independently and autonomously deliberates and 
determines our own business strategies, personnel policies, capital policies, etc., as we engage in our own 
operating activities. In addition, in order to ensure the necessary independence from our parent company, we 
have established the Nomination & Compensation Committee chaired by an Independent Outside Director 
as an advisory body to the Board of Directors. This Committee deliberates on matters concerning recom-
mendations of candidates for Director and Executive Officer, thereby ensuring independence from our parent 
company in the appointment of top management. The Bank has also appointed Independent Outside Direc-
tors and Independent Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Members, who provide supervision to ensure that 
no conflict of interest arises between our parent company and shareholders other than the parent company. 
The Bank does not have any agreements concluded regarding group management with the parent company. 
In addition, to comply with the disclosure obligations, etc. of the parent company, the Bank has established 
the Guidelines for Reporting of Material Facts with the parent company and reports to the parent company 
accordingly. These reports are limited to matters that impact the parent company’s timely disclosure, materi-
ally impact the parent company’s consolidated financial statements, and may potentially impair the credibility 
of the Seven & i Group.

The parent company’s approach and policy regarding group management are as follows:
“Although the Company owns the listed subsidiary, Seven Bank, Ltd., from the standpoint of respecting 

the independence of Seven Bank, Ltd., we value the management decisions of the said listed subsidiary, and 
respect the independent and autonomous deliberation and determination of its business strategies, personnel 
policies, capital policies, etc., as it engages in its own operating activities.” 
(Excerpt from “Seven & i Management Report” issued by Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd.; January 12, 2022 
edition)

Status of Improvement and Operation of the Internal Control Systems

Concerning the system upgrades stipulated in Article 362, Paragraph 4, Item 6 of the Companies Act, the 
Board of Directors made a resolution on May 8, 2006, on matters to be implemented by the Bank. Progress 
of the details of this resolution is reviewed each fiscal year. In line with this resolution, Seven Bank strives for 
good corporate governance and internal control, while ensuring appropriateness in the Seven Bank Group’s 
operations.

A Status of business plans

B Compliance system and compliance status

C Appropriateness and effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting

D Systems for and the current status of customer management, including customer protection

E Systems for and the current status of risk management

F Internal management systems at each operational department and appropriateness and effectiveness thereof
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After serving in a number of important positions, including Representative 
Director, President, YAMATO HOLDINGS CO., LTD., Mr. Kigawa was 
appointed as Director of the Bank in June 2018, to the present. He 
concurrently serves as Special Adviser, YAMATO HOLDINGS CO., LTD., 
Director, Oki Electric Industry Co., Ltd, Outside Director, The Higo Bank, 
Ltd., and External Board Member, ICMG Co., Ltd.

After serving in a number of important positions, including Professor, 
Legal Training and Research Institute of Japan, Supreme court of Japan, 
and Professor, Law School, Senshu University, Mr. Terashima was 
appointed as Audit & Supervisory Board Member of the Bank in June 
2019, to the present. He concurrently serves as an Attorney-at-law 
registered with the Tokyo Bar Association.

After serving in a number of important positions, including President 
and Representative Director, Honda R&D Co., Ltd., and Senior Managing 
Officer and Director, Honda Motor Co., Ltd., Mr. Fukuo was appointed as 
Director of the Bank in June 2018, to the present. He concurrently serves 
as Director, Hitachi Metals, Ltd.

After serving in a number of important positions, including Executive Managing Di-
rector, UFJIS Co., Ltd. (now Mitsubishi UFJ Information Technology, Ltd.), and Director, 
Senior Managing Executive Officer of the Bank, Mr. Ishiguro was appointed as Full-
time Audit & Supervisory Board Member of the Bank in June 2020, to the present. He 
concurrently serves as an Audit & Supervisory Board Member, Signpost Corporation.

After serving in a number of important positions, including Superintending 
Prosecutor, Osaka High Public Prosecutors Office, Mr. Itami was appointed 
as Director of the Bank in June 2018, to the present. He is a registered 
attorney-at-law with the Daiichi Tokyo Bar Association, concurrently serving as 
Advisor, Nagashima Ohno & Tsunematsu, Director, TODA CORPORATION, and 
Director (Audit & Supervisory Committee Member), JP-HOLDINGS, INC.

After serving in a number of important positions, including Director (Audit 
& Supervisory Committee Member), Mabuchi Motor Co., Ltd., Ms. Toge 
was appointed as Audit & Supervisory Board Member of the Bank in June 
2019, to the present. She concurrently serves as Head of Toge Yukie CPA 
Office, and Representative Director, Felice Consulting Ltd.

After serving in a number of important positions, including Representative 
Director, People Focus Consulting, Ms. Kuroda was appointed as Director 
of the Bank in June 2018, to the present. She concurrently serves as 
Director/Founder, People Focus Consulting, Director, Terumo Corporation, 
and Independent Director, Obayashi Corporation.

After serving in a number of important positions, including Director, 
Senior Managing Executive Officer, Head of Planning Division, Financial 
Division, and Overseas Business Division, Seven Eleven Japan Co., Ltd., 
Mr. Sakai was appointed as Full-time Audit & Supervisory Board Member 
of the Bank in June 2021, to the present.

We believe that the role of Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members is to realize appropriate business management by su-
pervising and auditing business execution while fully understanding the social responsibilities and mission of the banking business. 
In order to properly fulfill this role, we utilize the skill matrix when appointing Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members, and 
aim for a well-balanced composition of members with diverse skills and expertise.

Makoto Kigawa
Outside Director  
(Independent Officer)

Hideaki Terashima
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board 
Member (Independent Officer)

Koichi Fukuo
Outside Director  
(Independent Officer)

Kazuhiko Ishiguro
Full-time Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member

Toshihiko Itami
Outside Director  
(Independent Officer)

Yukie Toge
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board 
Member (Independent Officer)

Yukiko Kuroda
Outside Director  
(Independent Officer)

Ryoji Sakai
Full-time Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member

Attendance

Board of Directors: 12 out of 13 meetings

Attendance

Board of Directors: 13 out of 13 meetings
Audit & Supervisory Board: 14 out of 14 meetings

Attendance

Board of Directors: 13 out of 13 meetings
Audit & Supervisory Board: 14 out of 14 meetings

Attendance

Board of Directors: 13 out of 13 meetings
Audit & Supervisory Board: 14 out of 14 meetings

Attendance

Board of Directors: 10 out of 10 meetings
Audit & Supervisory Board: 10 out of 10 meetings

Attendance

Board of Directors: 13 out of 13 meetings

After serving in a number of important positions, including Managing 
Director, Ito-Yokado Co., Ltd., Mr. Goto was appointed as Director of 
the Bank in June 2017, to the present. He concurrently serves as Vice 
President & Representative Director, Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd., and 
Director, Seven-Eleven Japan Co., Ltd.

Katsuhiro Goto
Director

Attendance

Board of Directors: 12 out of 13 meetings

Attendance

Board of Directors: 12 out of 13 meetings

Attendance

Board of Directors: 13 out of 13 meetings

In addition to work experience in the IT and digital-related areas in NEC 
Corporation and other companies, Mr. Matsuhashi served in a number 
of important positions of the Bank, including Managing Executive 
Officer, General Manager of ATM Solution Division, and Senior Managing 
Executive Officer in charge of Corporate Transformation Division and 
Seven Labo. He was appointed as President and Representative Director 
of the Bank in June 2022.

Masaaki Matsuhashi
President and Representative 
Director

After serving in a number of important positions, including Manager of Retail 
Business Development Division, Shinsei Bank Limited, as well as Director, 
Executive Officer, General Manager of Business Promotion Division, and 
Director, Senior Managing Executive Officer, General Manager of Planning 
Division of the Bank, Mr. Funatake was appointed as President and Represen-
tative Director of the Bank in June 2018. He was appointed as Chairman and 
Representative Director of the Bank in June 2022 to the present.

Yasuaki Funatake
Chairman and Representative 
Director

Attendance

Board of Directors: 13 out of 13 meetings

* The Bank registers all persons who fulfill the qualifications of 
Independent Officers as such.

Senior Managing 
Executive Officer

Hisanao Kawada
Managing Executive 
Officer

Koji Fukasawa

Executive Officer Kenjiro Nishii

Managing Executive 
Officer

Kazutaka Inagaki
Managing Executive 
Officer

Tsuneo Nagashima

Executive Officer Ken Shimizu

Managing Executive 
Officer

Kenichi Yamamoto

Executive Officer Miya Kitayama
Executive Officer Tomoaki Nakayama

Managing Executive 
Officer

Hiroshi Takeuchi

Executive Officer Taku Takizawa

Directors (As of July 1, 2022) Audit & Supervisory Board Members (As of July 1, 2022)

Roles and expertise of Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members

Executive Officer (As of June 21, 2022)

Position Name Corporate 
Management

Sales and 
Marketing

Product 
Development & IT Global Human Resources 

& Labor
Financial Affairs 

and Finance
Legal Affairs & 

Risk Management
Outside Director  
(Independent Officer) Makoto Kigawa ○ ○ ○ ○
Outside Director  
(Independent Officer) Toshihiko Itami ○ ○
Outside Director  
(Independent Officer) Koichi Fukuo ○ ○ ○ ○
Outside Director  
(Independent Officer) Yukiko Kuroda ○ ○ ○
Outside Director  
(Independent Officer) Etsuhiro Takato ○ ○ ○
Director Katsuhiro Goto ○ ○ ○
Chairman and  
Representative Director Yasuaki Funatake ○ ○ ○ ○
President and  
Representative Director Masaaki Matsuhashi ○ ○ ○
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board 
Member (Independent Officer) Hideaki Terashima ○ ○
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board 
Member (Independent Officer) Yukie Toge ○ ○
Full-time Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member Kazuhiko Ishiguro ○ ○
Full-time Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member Ryoji Sakai ○ ○ ○

After serving in a number of important positions, including Representative 
Director & Corporate Senior Vice President, Ajinomoto Co., Ltd., Mr. Takato 
was appointed as Director of the Bank in June 2022, to the present. He 
concurrently serves as Advisor, Ajinomoto Co., Inc., Director, Milbon Co., 
Ltd., and Director, TOKYO VERDY, Inc.

Etsuhiro Takato
Outside Director 
(Independent Officer)
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Toshihiko Itami,
Outside Director (Independent Officer)

Etsuhiro Takato,
Outside Director (Independent Officer)

Koichi Fukuo, 
Outside Director (Independent Officer)

Yukiko Kuroda,
Outside Director (Independent Officer)

Our network of ATMs, which reaches every part of the country, is 
evolving into a wholly unique multi-function platform with the potential 
to generate new value, going beyond conventional cash deposits and 
withdrawals. By leveraging the competitiveness, we continue to chal-
lenge boldly  based on a growth strategy closely tied to everyday life 
through developments of brand new fi nancial service and partnerships 
with administrative agencies. This will be indispensable to beating the 
competition in a rapidly changing business environment. But it will not 
be easy and also entails risk. As it refl ects on my own experience, I will 
encourage any challenges for growth based on all the knowledge how 
to battle I’ve gained in banking business and restructuring at Yamato. 

Making Seven Bank ATMs a wholly unique multi-function 
platform that generates new value

In recent years, risks related to sustainability have drawn attention as 
an important category of emerging risk. Seven Bank has been accel-
erating initiatives to solve social and environmental issues through its 
business activities whilecarrying  out discussions and considerations at 
Sustainability Committee, elevating traditional CSR activities Going for-
ward, for sustainable growth, Seven Bank will continue to create  and 
provide new value meeting people’s needs while precisely responding 
to the new social environment. It will lead to increase corporate value 
and also solve social issues at the same time.I intend to play a role in 
this process.

Accommodating the new social environment and 
achieving sustainable growth by both raising corporate value 
and solving social issues

I believe that the continued pursuit of exploring new value leveraging 
ATMs based on our Purpose, “create a better version of daily life by 
going beyond the wishes of our customers,” will lead to its sustainable 
growth. In order to create a “better version of the future” amid major 
changes in the needs and values of customers, it will be important to 
take on the challenge of business model transformation with novel 
ideas. I intend to draw on my experience in new technology devel-
opment at an automaker to help strengthen the Bank’s research and 
development on products and services needed by society through the 
latest digital technologies and data utilization.

While we defi ned our Purpose last year and is in the process of making 
a major transition from a cash dispenser service provider to a plat-
former committed to creating a “better version of daily life,”. Itis human 
resources that will make this possible. As a specialist in organizational 
development, I am focused in particular on how an organization and 
human resources that align with our strategy should be, and organiza-
tional culture. The fi ve priority social issues (materiality) are all deeply 
connected with our business, and committing  sincerely to them will 
not only contribute to society but also drive future growth.

Implementing management measures that lead to higher social value 
from the perspective of the SDGs has become important in recent 
years. Seven Bank is a company that since its founding has always 
worked to raise both social and economic value by providing valuable 
services within everyday life from the standpoint of customers. As 
further advance of cashless payment, however, it will be diffi cult to 
achieve sustainable growth on  existing business model alone under 
the social trend. I think it will be essential to create new value that 
will lead to a “better version of daily life” for customers, which is our 
Purpose, as well as further accelerate overseas business expansion, 
which is currently taking place, to raise its ratio of overseas business.

The challenge of creating a better version of daily life through 
R&D on products and services needed by society

It is human resources that will fulfi ll our Purpose.
Focused on establishing an organization in line with strategy 
and a culture where employees thrive

Without ever forgetting the customer’s perspective, accelerating 
new value creation and overseas business to lay the foundation 
for further growth

Makoto Kigawa, 
Outside Director (Independent Officer)

Outside 

Directors

Message

Messages from Outside Directors

The question is how to foster corporate value for the future. 

Seven Bank, based on its new Purpose, 

is creating a better version of daily life 

by going beyond the wishes of customers. 

Facing a number of social issues, 

we will strive to fi nd keys to solutions and 

translate this into sustainable growth. 

To this end, the advice and support of Outside Directors 

with extensive experience will be indispensable.
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Every fi scal year, the Board of Directors establishes the “Basic Policy on Risk Control,” which specifi es the 
overall risk management policy, specifi c risk management policies and the organization and system for risk 
management. In accordance with this policy, the Executive Committee establishes detailed rules and regu-
lations related to risk management and confi rms the Companywide risk status every quarter. The Bank’s risk 
management structure includes the Risk Management Division, which is responsible for supervising overall 
risk management activities, specifi c risk management divisions and the Internal Audit Division to perform 
internal audits. We have also established the Risk Management Committee and the Security Committee, 
chaired by the offi cer in charge of the Risk Management Division, and the Asset-Liability Management (ALM) 
Committee, chaired by the offi cer in charge of the Planning Division, as advisory bodies to the Executive 
Committee concerning risk management.

■ Overall Management of Risk
The Bank observes its basic policies relating to overall risk management, which are governed by the Basic 
Policy on Risk Control and Overall Risk Management Rules, established under the policy. We gain an over 
all grasp of our risks including climate changes by assessing each of the Bank’s risk categories and manage 
them by comparing them with our equity.

● Credit Risk
Currently, our risk management activities relating to credit risk are limited to the ATM settlement business, the 
ALM of interbank deposits placed with top-rated partner fi nancial institutions, bonds, the lending of funds in 
the call-money market, temporary ATM payment amounts due and small personal loans, to minimize credit 
risk. In addition, the Bank performs self-assessment of asset quality as appropriate and establishes an allow-
ance for credit losses in accordance with its self-assessment and reserve rules.

● Market Risk
It is stipulated that the limits on the maximum level of funds at risk, the market position limits and the loss 
allowance limits shall be set. The Risk Management Division measures and monitors market risk on a daily 
basis in light of these limits and reports the results to management, including the Executive Committee. At the 
ALM Committee meeting held every quarter, the Bank’s market risk position, expected trends in interest rates 
and other matters are reported and the policy for the ALM operation is determined.

● Liquidity Risk
It is stipulated that the limits regarding the cash gaps arising from differences between the period of the 
management of invested funds and the timing of the liquidation shall be set. The Risk Management Division 
measures and monitors liquidity risk on a daily basis in light of these limits and reports the results to manage-
ment, including the Executive Committee. To prepare for emergency events requiring immediate funding, the 
Bank has devised preemptive comprehensive countermeasures to be able to take quick and fl exible Compa-
nywide action by risk scenario, and therefore does not expect to experience a major liquidity problem.

● Operational Risk
Recognizing that operational risks may come to the surface in all business divisions, the Bank has established 
the structure to identify, evaluate, monitor, control, and reduce risks. Risk categories are as follows.

Risk Management System

Risk Management Initiatives

The purpose of Seven Bank’s risk management is to ensure healthy and effi cient management 
as aiming at an improvement in corporate value by appropriately managing various kinds of 
risks related to management.

Risk Management Structure

Board of Directors

Overall Risk Management Department  (Risk Management Division)

Decide management frameworkDirect

Consult Consult Consult

Place matters on 
the agenda/Report

Place matters on 
the agenda/Report

Place matters on 
the agenda/Report

Place matters on 
the agenda/Report

Place matters on 
the agenda/

Express opinions

Place matters on 
the agenda/

Express opinions

Place matters on 
the agenda/

Express opinions

Formulate Basic Policy on Risk Control

ALM Committee Risk Management Committee Security Committee

Overall Risk Management Department  (Risk Management Division)

Liquidity risk 
(Risk Management Division)

Market risk 
(Risk Management Division)

Administrative risk 
(Risk Management Division)
Systems risk 
(Risk Management Division)
Reputation risk (Planning Division)
Legal risk (Risk Management Division)
Human risk (Human Resources Division)
Tangible assets risk (General Affairs Division)

Information security risk 
(Risk Management Division)
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Credit risk (Risk Management Division)

Executive Committee Formulate each of “basic policies relating to overall risk management”
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Administrative Risk

Legal Risk

Systems Risk

Human Risk Tangible Assets Risk

Information Security Risk Reputation Risk

■Management System of Information Security Risk
With the further progression of IT, occurrence of unauthorized access events and increasing information secu-
rity risks making it necessary to ensure cybersecurity, we established the dedicated team of the cyber security 
management in fi scal 2020 in order to protect the Group’s information assets such as customer information 
from various threats. We established Cybersecurity Risk Rules and hold Security Committee meetings at least 
once in the quarterly period to discuss effective security measures.
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The Bank regards compliance with applicable laws and societal norms as a fundamental pre-
requisite to earning the trust of society. Aware of the importance of its public mission and the 
significance of its societal responsibilities, the Bank has developed the following initiatives to 
ensure compliance.

To fulfill our social responsibility as a bank, Seven Bank has defined the following three operations as top 
priorities for continuity in the event of a disaster, large-scale accident, or other crisis: the ATM business; the 
fund settlement business serving banks and ATM partners; and withdrawals from the Bank’s accounts and 
money transfer operations. Each division has also created a Business Continuity Plan (BCP) to enable conti-
nuity of these essential operations in the event of an accident, disaster, or other crisis. To further ensure the 
business continuity, each division regularly conducts the business continuity training, envisioning damage to 
data centers and other facilities.

The dedicated team for the cyber security management is in charge of the Bank-wide management of cyberse-
curity risks, composed of members from multiple divisions. The team widely responds to attacks to the Bank’s 
systems, including cyber attacks, skimming, fake cards, unauthorized access, and information leakage.

Believing the balanced combination of human resources, mechanism, and technology is necessary to 
maintain security, the Bank is working on each of them.

Establishment of Business Continuity Plan (BCP)

Compliance System

Initiatives for Enhancing Cyber Security

Cyber Security Structure

Security Committee (at least once in the quarterly period)
Risk Management Division, Financial Crime Risk Strategy Planning and Prevention Division, Digital Banking Division,  

ATM Solution Division, Banking Management Division, Seven Labo, Planning Division, Coporate Transformation Division, etc.

Express opinions

Express opinions

Direct responses

External 
contact

Information 
gathering

Report incidents, etc.

Security Review Conference (to be held monthly, in principle)

IT Risk Management Office (CSIRT) (secretariat)

Outside organizations

Detection of incidents, etc.

Response to Customers Clerical response Response to systemsResponse to authorities/partners

SOC
Business Partners

Outside partners

CSIRT/relevant division at 
other banks
Police, etc.

JPCERT

Executive Committee

Human resources:  Create security-conscious corporate culture, develop personnel for security

Mechanism:  Improve rules/procedures on which governance is based, implement Security by Design

Technology:  Respond to results of the Bank-wide security diagnosis

Promote

Compliance Management Division

Report/
Recommend

Report/Propose

R
ep

ort/ C
om

m
unicate/ C

onsult

Check

Express 
opinions

Consult

Companywide supervision and management

Second Check System

First Check System

Review/Evaluation functions

Third Check System

Board of Directors

Executive Committee

Officer in charge Risk Management Division

Compliance Committee

General Manager, Internal 
Audit Division

Place matters on  
the agenda/Report

Place matters on  
the agenda/Report

Direct

Report/Propose

Direct

Formulate

Representative Directors

Chairman President

Supervision/Review Functions

General Manager, Risk Management Division

Compliance Group

Supervision/Review Functions

Report/ Communicate/ 
Consult Direct/Implement/Train

Report/ Communicate/ 
Consult

Detailed Compliance Guide

Direct/Implement/Train

Compliance Implementation Plan

Compliance Manual, Compliance Program

Audit & Supervisory Board

Compliance Officers  
(Managers of divisions and offices)

Employees

Compliance System

Growth StrategyValue Creation Management Foundation
Seven Bank’s Management Foundation

In order to allow each employee in charge of real operations to have strong awareness of and knowledge 
base for pursing compliance, Seven Bank has in place the following system so that the compliance check can 
appropriately function at each division to ensure the thorough compliance across the Bank.

Compliance Initiatives
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Items Issues/Policies

Information Management 1    Appropriate information management in light of the revision of 
Act on the Protection of Personal Information

Anti-Money Laundering

・The Act for Prevention of Transfer of Criminal Proceeds
・Foreign Exchange and Foreign Trade Act

1    Establishment of Seven Bank Group Management Structure

2    Continuous enhancement of customer management structure

3    Provision of training and education for Officers and employees

4   Conducting audit on a regular basis

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) 1   Accurate performance of FATCA annual report

Compliance Committee Main Compliance Issues

Seven Bank has established Compliance Committee as an advisory organization to the Executive Committee 
which confirms and verifies the status of compliance related to operations in general, and considers measures 
concerning compliance, so as to further enhance and improve the compliance system. The Compliance Com-
mittee has functions to consider responses to compliance-related problems and issues, material compliance 
violations, etc., and countermeasures therefor. The Committee reports, considers, and evaluates important 
compliance-related matters which should be treated as management issues.

■  Prevention of Money Laundering and Financial Crimes, and Measures against 
Antisocial Groups

Seven Bank determined the policy for countermeasures for money laundering and provision of terrorist fund. 
In addition, through strict confirmation at transactions, etc., the Bank has put emphasis on eliminating rela-
tionships with antisocial groups and preventing fraudulent accounts from being opened.

To be more specific, among other steps, the Bank asks applicants opening accounts to sign an affidavit stat-
ing they are not associated with antisocial forces. By including provisions that explicitly indicate the exclusion 
of organized crime groups in the transaction rules and other clauses, the Bank can reject the account applica-
tion and close the account upon finding that the customer falls under or is associated with antisocial forces.

In addition, the Bank has established a structure to ensure it can take appropriate actions in an organized 
manner against wrongful demands and other similar events in accordance with internal rules and regulations. 
Moreover, the Financial Crime Risk Strategy Planning and Prevention Division, a dedicated unit to combat 
financial crimes, prevents money laundering, eliminates fraudulent accounts, prevents communications fraud 
and other fraudulent activities, and appropriately cooperates with the police and other investigating authori-
ties, by monitoring and filtering transactions.

■ Response to the Revised Act on the Protection of Personal Information
The Amendment Act of the Act on the Protection of Personal Information, etc. (Revised Act on the Protection 
of Personal Information) was fully enforced on April 1, 2022.

With the aim of protecting customers’ rights and benefits, Seven Bank has confirmed handling of personal 
information and present status of the management systems again. The Bank also revised internal rules 
including the personal information management regulations and the privacy policy, and enhanced information 
management and security with systems. To increase awareness of the protection of personal information, 
training has been provided to employees and Officers.

Compliance Program

Compliance Consultation System

The Bank establishes a compliance program each fiscal year that sets out the compliance implementation 
plan for that year. The Board of Directors reviews and evaluates the progress and implementation status of the 
compliance program for the relevant year and, using such reviews and evaluations, formulates a compliance 
program for the following fiscal year.

The Bank has established a Compliance Consultation System to identify and address compliance issues 
early, and prevent reoccurrences. The system provides contact points for both internal and external consulta-
tion and reporting.

As contact points for employees seeking consultations or reporting issues, employees can consult the 
compliance officer in their divisions. In addition, the Compliance Consultation Desk within the Bank and the 
Groupwide Help Line (a consultation and reporting contact point for all Seven & i Group companies) outside 
the Bank have been established. Posters with 
contact information have been put up and book-
lets with contact information have been distributed 
to all employees to ensure their awareness of 
these contact points. The International Hotline has 
also been established for employees of foreign 
subsidiaries as a point of contact for consultations 
in local languages.

In addition, to promote fair transactions and 
provide safe and secure services for customers, a 
Suppliers’ Help Line (a consultation and reporting 
contact point for all Seven & i Group companies) 
has been established for suppliers.

1 Results and plans of compliance program

2 Operation of the compliance consultation system

3 Revision of Compliance Manual

4 Responses to financial crimes and antisocial groups

5 Future management structure including customer protection

6 Seven Bank’s Measures based on results of FATA Mutual-Evaluation Report of Japan

Major Agendas of Compliance Committee in FY2021

Groupwide Help Line Suppliers’ Help Line

Growth StrategyValue Creation Management Foundation
Seven Bank’s Management Foundation
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2022: FY2021 
Amounts less than one unit have been truncated. 

Summary of Fiscal 2021
While the effects of the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) have 
been prolonged, the Japanese economy continued to gradually 
recover, despite some weakness, due to the improvement of the 
vaccination rate and the effects of various measures. However, the 
outlook remains uncertain due to the spread of the new variant 
(Omicron variant) and the rise in raw material prices.

In this operating environment, the Bank’s group has strived to 
fulfill its mission as a social infrastructure that continues to provide 
safe and secure services, including ATM services, with the highest 
priority placed on ensuring the safety of customers, business 
partners, and employees. As for the Bank’s consolidated business 
results for fiscal 2021, despite an increase in the total number of ATM 
transactions, the introduction of a new ATM-related fee income 
system for banks, as well as future growth investment and cost 
increases, including fourth-generation ATMs, were the main back-
drop for ordinary income to record 136,667 million yen. Ordinary 
profit was 28,255 million yen, and net income attributable to owners 
of the parent was 20,827 million yen. 

As for the Bank’s non-consolidated business results, ordinary 
income was 110,298 million yen, ordinary profit was 28,412 million 
yen, and net income was 18,135 million yen.

A summary of operating results by segment is as follows.

(1) Domestic Business Segment
During the consolidated fiscal year under review, harsh circum-
stances continued due to the spread of COVID-19, but, in 
addition to the recovery in the number of transactions at financial 
institutions for deposits and savings, there was a steady increase 
in the number of transactions using the Bank’s ATMs to charge 
cash into various cashless settlement methods. As a result, the 
total number of ATM transactions was significantly higher than in 
the same period of the previous fiscal year.

In addition to creating an environment where one can receive 
services anytime and anywhere through the alternative of ATM 
operation and the active installation of ATMs outside the Group, 
the Bank’s group has started to enable application through ATMs 
for using an Individual Number Card as a health insurance card, 
and ATM identity authentication services as a demonstration 
experiment, steadily promoting the evolution of “ATM+.”

The number of our ATMs installed reached 26,253 as of 
March 31, 2022 (up 2.2% compared with the end of March 
2021). The average number of daily transactions per ATM was 
96.5 (up 6.5% year over year), and a total of 910 million ATM 
transactions were recorded (up 8.8% year over year). As of March 
31, 2022, we had partnered with 620 financial institutions, etc.* 
and the number of fourth-generation ATMs installed was 10,178 
as of March 31, 2022 (up 69.0% compared with the end of 
March 2021).

Due to the impact of COVID-19 and trends in raw material 
prices, the business environment outlook remains uncertain, but 
the Bank’s group will continue to promote the ATM platform 
strategy that flexibly responds to changes in society and custom-
er needs by developing the social value of ATMs from a cash-
based platform to “ATM+.”

Moreover, the smartphone app, “My Seven Bank,” has been 

very well received due to its simple and easy-to-use UI and UX, in 
addition to its instant account opening service, which allows an 
account to be opened in as little as 10 minutes using online 
personal authentication. As of March 31, 2022, the cumulative 
number of downloads reached 1.51 million. The number of 
individual customer accounts increased steadily to 2,528,000 (up 
6.9% compared with the end of March 2021), the balance of 
individuals’ deposits was 550,700 million yen (up 6.1% year over 
year) and the balance of loan services for individual customers 
was 28,000 million yen (up 15.3% year over year).

The “Seven Bank Post Payment Service” was launched on 
September 21, 2021, and the total amount handled up to March 
31, 2022 reached 21,000 million yen.

In February 2022, the Bank agreed to provide securities 
trading services to Seven Bank account holders in collaboration 
with Smartplus Ltd. The Bank is preparing for the start of services 
through the “My Seven Bank” app as a financial intermediary.

Recognizing that changes in society are a business opportuni-
ty, in addition to the know-how accumulated to date, the Bank is 
collaborating with external corporations with the aim of providing 
new financial services to meet the various needs of our custom-
ers.

(2) Overseas Business Segment
Despite economic stimulus measures such as the provision of 
benefits implemented by the United States government in the first 
quarter of the fiscal year that boosted the number of ATM 
transactions, FCTI, Inc., the Bank’s consolidated subsidiary, saw 
the number of ATM transactions fall below that of the correspond-
ing period of the previous year due to the prolonged impact of 
COVID-19. As a result of systematically reorganizing ATMs with 
low profitability that were installed at locations outside of United 
States 7-Eleven stores, the number of ATMs installed as of 
December 31, 2021 totaled 9,004 (down 3.8% compared to 
December 31, 2020), including 8,688 ATMs (up 1.5% compared 
to December 31, 2020) installed inside 7-Eleven stores in the 
United States.

With regard to the business results of FCTI, Inc. for the 
consolidated fiscal year (from January 2021 to December 2021), 
due to the reorganization of ATMs with low profitability installed 
outside of United States 7-Eleven stores, which the Bank has 
been implementing for some time, as well as a decrease in the 
number of ATM transactions caused by the renewed spread of 
COVID-19 after the third quarter of the fiscal year, and other 
factors, ordinary income was 206.3 million U.S. dollars (down 
9.1% year over year), ordinary profit was 16.4 million U.S. dollars 
(down 28.2% year over year), and net profit was 35.9 million U.S. 
dollars (up 45.9% year over year).

PT. ABADI TAMBAH MULIA INTERNASIONAL, a consolidated 
subsidiary of the Bank in Indonesia, steadily promoted its 
business even amid the COVID-19 pandemic and greatly 
increased the number of ATMs installed to 2,551 as of December 
31, 2021 (up 249.4% compared to December 31, 2020).

Additionally, Pito AxM Platform, Inc., a consolidated subsidiary 
of the Bank in the Philippines, started the ATM operation business 
in February 2021 and installed ATMs at 7-Eleven stores in the 
Philippines, and the number of ATMs installed was 1,249 as of 
December 31, 2021.
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As for the non-consolidated business results of the Bank for fiscal 
2022, we forecast ordinary income of 116,500 million yen (up 5.6% 
year over year), ordinary profit of 27,500 million yen (down 3.2% year 
over year), and net income of 19,000 million yen (up 4.7% year over 
year).

For fiscal 2022, we will continue to work on expanding the 
number of ATMs installed and promoting their use. We plan to install 
approximately 26,953 ATMs (up 2.6% compared to March 31, 2022) 
with a total number of ATM transactions of approximately 948 million 
(up 4.1% year over year) and the average number of daily transac-
tions per ATM of approximately 97.7 (up 1.2% year over year). We 
will also work to expand the number of ATMs installed in Asia, and 
plan to install approximately 5,500 ATMs (up 115.6% compared to 
December 31, 2021) in Indonesia, and approximately 3,050 ATMs 
(up 144.1% compared to December 31, 2021) in the Philippines. In 
addition to the above, we plan to further expand our services, 
whether they are financial or non-financial ones, using fourth-genera-
tion ATMs to realize an “ATM+” world. In response to these plans, the 
number of ATMs installed and the total number of ATM transactions 
are expected to grow, leading to an increase in ordinary income. 
However, as expenses will increase ahead of profits, we expect 
ordinary profit and net income to decrease.
(Consolidated business results forecast)

Fiscal 2022

Year-over-year change

Ordinary income 149,000 million yen Up 9.0%

Ordinary profit 28,000 million yen Down 0.9%

Net income attributable to 
owners of the parent 19,500 million yen Down 6.3%

* Foreign exchange rate assumed: USD1.00 = JPY114.00

(Non-consolidated business results forecast of the Bank)

Fiscal 2022

Year-over-year change

Ordinary income 116,500 million yen Up 5.6%

Ordinary profit 27,500 million yen Down 3.2%

Net income 19,000 million yen Up 4.7%

 
Risk Factors
Major risks related to Seven Bank’s business and other areas that 
have been recognized by management as possibly having significant 
effects on the financial condition, operating results, and cash flows of 
the consolidated companies are listed below. Moreover, items that 
may not qualify as such but are deemed important for investment 
decisions of investors are also disclosed below, for the purpose of 
proactive disclosure to investors. Risks related to the Bank’s 
business and other areas are not limited to those stated, and the 
Bank does not guarantee that it is free from risks other than those 
stated, including those that are unidentified.

Certain items in this section may contain forward-looking 
statements. However, unless otherwise stated, all judgments were 
made at the end of the consolidated fiscal year under review.

Under the Basic Policy on Risk Control, which is determined by 
the Bank’s Board of Directors, the Bank has established Bank-wide 
risk management policies, management policies for specific risks, 
and a risk management organization and structure as a framework to 

appropriately recognize and manage various types of risks in its 
operations. In addition, for appropriate risk management, the Bank 
has established a Risk Management Committee, an Asset-Liability 
Management (ALM) Committee, and a Security Committee as 
advisory bodies to the Executive Committee with respect to risks; the 
Risk Management Division, which is responsible for supervising 
overall Bank-wide risk management activities; and risk management 
divisions for managing specific types of risk.

1. Risk Relating to Our Business Strategy
 (1) Domestic Business Segment

Seven Bank substantially depends on the ATM platform business 
for its revenues. The Bank is steadily increasing the number of 
ATMs, developing and offering its proprietary new ATM services 
as well as enhancing security, to increase customers’ conve-
nience and sense of security. However, changes that threaten the 
ATM platform business model, such as those described below, 
could affect the Bank’s results and financial position.

A) Increase in the use of non-cash payment methods
  The further increase in the use of non-cash payment methods in 

the future could reduce the number of ATM transactions, which 
could affect the Bank’s results.

To increase the number of ATM transactions even in such an 
environment, the Bank will strive to create new ATM services that 
go beyond conventional concepts, including services that enable 
charging (loading money onto) electronic money for public 
transportation and QR code settlement, and ATM pick-up (cash 
receiving services) to expand their social value.

B) Growing competition from other ATM networks
  Seven Bank competes with companies installing ATMs at conve-

nience stores and other locations outside the Group. In addition, 
competition with financial institutions that have ATM networks 
could increase if these institutions actively expand their ATM 
networks.

In the future, increased competition with these companies 
could cause such challenges as a decrease in the number of 
users of the Bank’s ATMs or a decrease in ATM-related fee 
income, which could affect the Bank’s results and financial 
position.

C) Changes in economic conditions
  The level of ATM-related fee income that Seven Bank charges its 

partners is judged by both parties to be reasonable. However, the 
level of the ATM-related fee income may decline, or failure to 
agree on ATM-related fee income levels may dissolve partner-
ships, which could affect the Bank’s results and financial position.

D) Difficulty in securing ATM locations
  Seven Bank has in a stable manner secured and expanded 

locations for ATMs, centered on the Seven & i Group stores, and 
is expanding the installation of ATMs at commercial facilities and 
other non-Group sites. In the future, however, obstacles to 
maintaining or expanding ATM locations could affect the Bank’s 
results.

E)  Effect of amendment of laws, etc., on partner companies’ 
business
An amendment of a law or regulation, etc., related to the business 
of a partner company that results in a substantial decrease in the 

use of Seven Bank’s ATMs by the customers of such partner 
company could cause a decline in ATM-related fee income and 
other outcomes that could affect the Bank’s results.

F) Higher interest rates
  Seven Bank procures necessary cash for its ATM platform 

business through deposits, bonds, and other means. The cost of 
this fund procurement is influenced by market interest rate trends.

The Bank takes appropriate steps to minimize the impact of 
interest rate fluctuations, such as procuring long-term funds at 
fixed rates. However, substantial interest rate fluctuations could 
cause an unanticipated rise in fund procurement costs, which 
could affect the Bank’s results and financial position.

In addition, Seven Bank offers ordinary deposits and time 
deposits, personal loans, and international money transfer 
services for individuals, and debit card service, as well as 
back-office support on commission for other financial institutions 
through its domestic consolidated subsidiary. However, there is 
no guarantee that these services will successfully expand.

In addition, Seven Bank may offer new services or establish 
other new businesses that it is not currently handling to expand 
its business domain but cannot guarantee that they will succeed. 
When expanding new businesses, the Bank may also establish 
new consolidated subsidiaries, engage in M&A or form capital 
alliances with other corporations. However, the inability of the 
Bank to realize the initially expected effect of these strategic 
investments and to achieve its strategic objectives could affect 
the Bank’s results and financial position.

 (2) Overseas Business Segment
A) Country risks

Seven Bank has consolidated subsidiaries that operate ATMs in 
the United States, Indonesia, and the Philippines. The future 
occurrence of major changes in the political or economic 
environment surrounding these consolidated subsidiaries, an 
unforeseen event such as a natural disaster, or poor business 
performance of these consolidated subsidiaries could affect the 
Bank’s results.

B) Higher interest rates and foreign exchange risks
In its overseas business, Seven Bank procures necessary cash 
for its ATM business from financial institutions and other sources. 
However, rising market interest rates could affect the Bank’s 
results. In addition, exchange rate fluctuations could decrease the 
Bank’s profits.

C) Risks of crime, etc.
The above consolidated subsidiaries are expanding the number 
of ATMs installed in response to strong demand for ATM 
installation. However, the locations for ATMs include some areas 
where security is more unstable than in Japan. The Bank takes 
adequate security measures, assuming a variety of crimes. 
However, ATMs may be damaged or cash in ATMs may be stolen 
as a result of a physical attack on ATMs or other unexpected 
crimes, which could result in a loss.

 (3) Impairment of Fixed Assets
Seven Bank holds tangible fixed assets and intangible fixed 
assets including goodwill. Factors such as worsening profitability 
of assets held or consolidated subsidiaries or a decline in the 

Note: JA Bank and JF Marine Bank are each counted as one 
institution.

Summary of Financial Position of Fiscal 
2021

Assets
Total assets at the end of March 2022 were 1,221,623 million yen. 
The majority of this total comprised cash and due from banks 
required for the operation of ATMs of 931,404 million yen. The 
remainder mostly consisted of marketable securities of 89,945 million 
yen held as collateral for foreign exchange settlements and Bank of 
Japan current account overdraft transactions, and 84,461 million yen 
representing ATM-related temporary payments, which are temporary 
advances from partner financial institutions.

Liabilities
Liabilities were 977,509 million yen. These largely comprised 
deposits (excluding negotiable certificates of deposit) totaling 
789,937 million yen. Of these, the outstanding balance of individuals’ 
ordinary deposits was 423,038 million yen and the balance of 
individuals’ time deposits was 127,720 million yen.

Net assets
Net assets were 244,113 million yen. Of these, retained earnings 
were 176,549 million yen. The consolidated capital adequacy ratio 
(domestic standard) was 47.31%.

Summary of Cash Flows of Fiscal 2021
Cash and cash equivalents decreased by 6,541 million yen during 
the fiscal year under review to 931,404 million yen. Cash flows in 
each category and the factors behind the changes were as follows.

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities was 41,311 million yen. 
Factors contributing to cash included income before income taxes 
and non-controlling interests of 27,154 million yen and depreciation 
of fixed assets of 16,388 million yen. These factors exceeded factors 
using cash, such as 8,734 million yen in income taxes paid.

Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was 36,114 million yen. Factors 
that used cash included purchase of securities of 23,739 million yen 
and purchase of tangible fixed assets of 12,468 million yen. These 
exceeded the factor that provided cash: proceeds from maturity of 
securities of 11,892 million yen.

Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities was 12,727 million yen, due to 
factors including 12,967 million yen in dividends paid and purchase 
of treasury stock of 97 million yen.

Outlook for Fiscal 2022
As for the consolidated business results for fiscal 2022, we forecast 
ordinary income of 149,000 million yen (up 9.0% year over year), 
ordinary profit of 28,000 million yen (down 0.9% year over year), and 
net income attributable to owners of the parent of 19,500 million yen 
(down 6.3% year over year).
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In addition, Seven Bank pays ATM installation fees to the 
Group, but major changes in fee terms could affect the Bank’s 
results.

5. Response to Financial Crime
Seven Bank’s business consists primarily of the execution of 
non-face-to-face transactions, mainly via ATMs. As such, the Bank 
undertakes strict customer due diligence when customers apply to 
open new accounts. In addition, the Bank monitors the status of 
usage of ATMs and accounts to prevent them from being abused for 
financial crimes and focuses on protecting customers. However, 
reputation damage and other factors arising from a temporary failure 
to keep pace with increasingly intricate and sophisticated criminal 
techniques could affect the Bank’s social standing or its results.

6. Litigation
To date, Seven Bank has not been involved in significant litigation. In 
addition, with a focus on preventative measures, the Bank is working 
to minimize litigation risk in consultation with attorneys who specialize 
in this area. However, there is no guarantee that the Bank will not be 
subject to litigation or disputes that could affect its results and 
financial position in the future, resulting from legal issues, such as 
legal violations or inadequate contractual agreements.

7. Effects of Legal Amendments
Seven Bank operates its businesses in compliance with current laws 
and regulations. However, the contents or effects of future legal 
amendments are difficult to predict or control. Consequently, there is 
no guarantee that in the future the Bank will be able to continue to 
execute its business under initial assumptions.

8. Regulations
Based on the regulations in Article 4, Paragraph 1 of the Banking 
Law, Seven Bank has received a license to operate in the banking 
business (Financial Supervisory Agency License Number 1812) that 
enables it to take deposits, handle currency exchange, make loans, 
and conduct other relevant business. However, based on the 
regulations in Article 4, Paragraph 4 of the Banking Law (see note), 
Seven Bank’s banking license is subject to certain conditions. Future 
new businesses such as foreign currency-denominated accounts will 
require the approval of the commissioner of the Financial Services 
Agency as the head of the supervisory authority.

Based on the progress in application for approval, Seven Bank 
may not be able to develop new businesses as planned, which could 
affect the Bank’s results.

In addition, regarding the banking business, Articles 26 and 27 of 
the Banking Law specify prerequisites for issues, including suspen-
sion of operations and license revocation, respectively. If these 
prerequisites are applicable, the Bank may be legally required to 
suspend its operations or its license may be revoked. 

The Bank is currently aware of no reason for these measures to 
be taken. However, future suspension of operations or license 
revocation for any reason could obstruct the Bank’s business 
activities and could materially affect the Bank’s results.

Note:   Article 4, Paragraph 4 of the Banking Law: When the prime minister deems it 

necessary for the public interest based on consideration of the regulations of 

the preceding two paragraphs, the prime minister may attach conditions to 

the license of the first paragraph and modify the license to the extent 

necessary.

9. Capital Adequacy Ratio
Seven Bank does not have sales bases overseas. Therefore, Seven 
Bank must maintain a ratio of non-consolidated net assets to total 
assets above 4% according to the domestic standard specified by 
“Criteria for Judging Whether A Financial Institution’s Own Capital Is 
Sufficient in Light of the Assets Held, etc. under the Provision of 
Article 14-2 of the Banking Law (Notification Number 19 of 2006, the 
Financial Services Agency).”

Currently, Seven Bank’s non-consolidated capital adequacy ratio 
substantially exceeds the relevant standard. However, the Bank may 
be unable to meet its required capital adequacy standard if various 
business or other risks specified by the relevant provisions materialize 
or the regulations or other relevant items change in the future.

10. Personal Information Leakage
Through its banking business, Seven Bank possesses a large 
amount of customer information, including personal information. As a 
business handling personal information as specified by Act on the 
Protection of Personal Information, the Bank announces or otherwise 
publicizes the purpose for using personal information, safely 
administers personal information, duly considers requests for 
disclosure of personal information on file from the subject, and 
ensures thorough awareness within the Bank to that effect as 
stipulated by in-house personal information management regulations. 
Furthermore, the Bank concludes the memoranda with, and 
conducts strict, thorough management of the handling of personal 
information by, subcontractors. However, serious damage to 
customers from large-scale information leakage may result in orders 
or punitive measures from regulatory authorities, claims for damages, 
and reputation damage. These and other factors may affect the 
Bank’s results and financial position.

11. Reduced Liquidity due to Ratings Downgrade
Seven Bank currently has a long-term issuer rating of A with a 
negative outlook and a short-term issuer rating of A-1 from S&P 
Global Ratings. The Bank also has an issuer rating of AA- with a 
stable outlook from Rating & Investment Information, Inc.

However, there is no guarantee that the Bank can maintain these 
ratings in the future. A rating downgrade may affect the Bank’s 
capital and fund procurement.

12. Securing Personnel
Securing the personnel required to continuously expand as a bank 
centered on the ATM platform business, and to develop new 
businesses, is an essential part of Seven Bank’s business strategy.

Seven Bank competes for personnel not only with other financial 
institutions, but also with Internet service-related businesses, 
systems-related businesses, and other entities. Consequently, an 
inability to continually hire, train, and retain required personnel may 
affect the Bank’s results and future development.

13. Reputation
Seven Bank has established Reputation Risk Rules that set the range 
of reputation risks to be recognized as follows.

 •  Gossip and rumors among customers, in markets, on the 
Internet, in e-mail, etc. (hereinafter “rumors”)

 •  Rumors caused by inaccurate or inadequate reporting by mass 
media

 •  A negative public image caused by an inappropriate response to 
accidents, such as system failure, personal information leakage or 
operational error, or a fundamental management problem

 •  Rumors related to financial institutions that are partners in the 
ATM business, external contractors, or other partners

Seven Bank’s basic policy is to respond to these reputation risks 
accurately and urgently, based on the facts. The Bank will take care 
to prevent the generation of rumors that may damage it. It also has a 
framework in place to minimize damage by responding appropriately 
internally and externally in the event that one of the above-noted 
risks materializes.

However, because Seven Bank has many business partners and 
external contractors, it could become involved in various difficulties 
even if it is not to blame, which has the potential to affect the Bank’s 
reputation and results.

14. Outbreak and Spread of Infectious Diseases
Harsh conditions continued as personal consumption, including the 
consumption of services, and corporate activity stagnated markedly 
due to the impact of the spread of COVID-19. It is still impossible to 
predict when the pandemic will be contained, and with concerns 
about the renewed spread of the infection in the future, the situation 
remains uncertain.

To prevent the further spread of the infections, Seven Bank has 
been making efforts to enforce infection prevention measures for its 
employees and external contractors, such as promoting work from 
home and staggered working hours, having employees take 
temperature when they come to work, and holding meetings online, 
whether they are internal or external ones. However, if the infections 
continue to spread, it may disrupt the operations of Seven Bank and 
affect the Bank’s results.

15. Soaring Labor Costs and Prices
Rising resource prices against the backdrop of the situation in 
Ukraine, and rising labor costs due to structural labor shortages may 
lead to an increase in ATM operation expenses and parts procure-
ment costs, which may disrupt the operations of Seven Bank and 
affect the Bank’s results.

16. Impacts of Climate Change
Increased frequency of natural disasters such as torrential rains, 
typhoons, and floods caused by climate change may damage the 
Seven Bank’s facilities including ATMs. If this happens, it may disrupt 
the Bank’s operating activities, and if the impact is prolonged, 
economic activities may be restricted and the number of ATM 
transactions may decrease, which could affect the Bank’s results.

Seven Bank positions climate change as one of the important 
management issues. For this reason, we endorsed the TCFD 
recommendations in December 2021. In accordance with the TCFD 
framework, the Bank will examine the impact on its business 
activities and disclose the results one after another.

value of other assets could make it necessary to record impair-
ment of these assets, which could affect the Bank’s results and 
financial position.

2. System Failure
Seven Bank has established Systems Risk Rules to articulate its 
fundamental policies related to system risk management and, by 
developing and operating its systems based on the rules, it is striving 
to realize efficient system development, improved system quality, and 
stable system operations. In addition, the Bank has adopted a system 
configuration that employs two system centers that are always in 
operation, redundant server network equipment, and 24/365 monitor-
ing operations, as well as the implementation of other system failure 
countermeasures. In addition, in accordance with the importance of 
files, programs, etc., the Bank performs data backups and has taken 
measures for remote-location data storage in preparation for unex-
pected situations.

However, it is impossible to completely eliminate the danger of 
system function interruptions due to failure resulting from factors, 
including such natural disasters as large earthquakes and typhoons, 
power outages, network failure, computer viruses, or human error. 
Such interruptions could affect the Bank’s results.

3. External Contractors
Seven Bank outsources key tasks, including ATM cash replenish-
ment, development and operation of various systems, ATM security 
and management, and call center operations. In addition, the Bank 
outsources cash card issuance and mail delivery for new deposit 
accounts.

Relationships with these external contractors are currently 
satisfactory. However, increasing fees resulting from deterioration of 
their operating environments or difficulties in continuing to provide 
services for any reason could affect the Bank’s results.

4. Relationship with Seven & i Group
Overall, Seven Bank determines issues, including business strategy, 
personnel policy, and capital policy autonomously after independent 
consideration. However, the Bank operates its ATM platform 
business by installing ATMs primarily in the stores of companies that 
are part of the Seven & i Group.
(1) Equity Relationship

Seven Bank is a consolidated subsidiary of Seven & i Holdings 
Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) which is listed on the Prime Section of 
the Tokyo Stock Exchange. As of March 31, 2022, the Company 
controls 46.27% of the voting rights of Seven Bank. The Compa-
ny is expected to remain a major Seven Bank shareholder, and 
the Bank cannot guarantee that the Company will not influence its 
policies and decisions.

(2) Transactional Relationships
As of March 31, 2022, Seven Bank had installed 23,212 ATMs at 
the Group stores (22,550 ATMs at 7-Eleven stores, 254 ATMs at 
Ito-Yokado stores, and 408 ATMs at other locations in the Group). 
In addition, the Bank has installed 3,041 ATMs at locations other 
than the Group stores. Thus, approximately 90% of the Bank’s 
ATMs are installed at the Group stores. Difficulties in keeping 
ATMs installed at the Group stores or a marked decrease in 
customers at the Group stores could affect the Bank’s results.
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Status of the Corporate Group Management Policy, Management Environment, 
Issues to be Addressed, etc.

(1) Management Policies

1. Purpose of Seven Bank
Create a better version of daily life by going beyond the wishes of our 

customers.

2. Management Ethos
a.  We aspire to be a trusted financial service provider that fully meets 

customer needs.

b.  We act to promptly introduce the benefits of technical innovation 

and pursue self-development.

c.  We strive to contribute to the stability and advancement of the 

financial system by providing a secure and efficient payment 

infrastructure.

3. Basic Management Policy
Seven Bank is working to offer safe, accurate, and speedy banking 

services deeply embedded in customers’ daily lives as their “wallets.” 

We aim to achieve this by creating a network of ATMs accessible 24 

hours a day, 365 days a year, in principle, utilizing the 20,000-plus 

retail locations of Seven & i Holdings and its operating companies led 

by Seven-Eleven convenience stores.

The Bank operates under an ethos of coexistence and co-pros-

perity by encouraging other financial institutions to make use of its 

easily accessible ATMs, thereby enhancing customer services and 

improving business efficiency.

Further, by proactively offering financial services sought by 

customers of the Group, we are working to attract a wider range of 

customers to the Group stores more often, and we will continue to 

pursue synergies to enhance the Group’s profitability.

(2) Target Management Indicators
To respond to significant changes in the business environment and 

sustainably improve its corporate value, the Bank is promoting 

business diversification to strengthen its profit structure. In the 

Medium-Term Management Plan formulated in May 2021 to 

maximize the long-term sustainability and growth potential of the 

Group, the Bank is promoting measures that place the highest 

priority on expanding consolidated ordinary income. As indicators to 

assess the level of implementation of the Medium-Term Management 

Plan, the Bank has set the following consolidated KPIs for the final 

year of the plan.

Results for FY2021 Target for FY2025

Consolidated ordinary income 136,600 million yen 170,000 million yen

Consolidated ordinary profit 28,200 million yen 35,000 million yen

ROE 8.7% 8.0% or more

(3) Management Issues
The business environment surrounding the Bank’s group is undergo-

ing unprecedented changes at an accelerating pace, including those 

in lifestyle due to the impact of the spread of COVID-19, heightened 

awareness of environmental and social issues, diversification of 

payment methods due to the development of digital technology, and 

the entry into the financial sector of businesses from other industries. 

There is a need for flexible management that is more than ever 

sensitive to changes in social structure and diversification of 

customer needs, rapidly incorporating the results of technological 

innovation.

In addition, social issues such as widening disparities and climate 

change are becoming more apparent and serious, leading to an era 

when businesses, as members of society, are required to face these 

issues more sincerely than ever before to seek solutions.

(4)  Medium- to Long-Term Management 
Strategies

“Create a better version of daily life by going beyond the wishes of 

our customers.” This is the purpose of the Group. Based on this 

purpose, Seven Bank will strive to achieve sustainable growth as a 

unique bank that is close to customers’ lives, offering convenience, 

reliability and trust. We have formulated the Medium-Term Manage-

ment Plan (FY2021 – FY2025), designating the five years through 

2025 as a period to materialize the second phase of growth by 

improving our sustainability and growth potential. Under the Medi-

um-Term Management Plan, we will promote the following three 

basic measures.

〈Basic Measures〉
(1)  Reform of the Group’s core ATM platform business and business 

diversification in strategic business fields through aggressive 

investment

(2)  Setting sustainability at the core of its long-term management 

strategy, the Group will contribute to addressing serious and 

emerging social issues through its business activities and 

continuously promote the creation of new value for both society 

and businesses.

(3)  Promotion of corporate transformation in both businesses and 

operations as driving forces for sustainable growth

(5) Issues to Be Addressed
The Bank’s group will aim to realize sustainable growth and continue 

to be a company that is needed by customers and society, by 

addressing the following issues.

 Domestic Business Segment

ATM Platform Strategy

 •  The ATM cash-based platform business, which has been the 

Bank’s core business thus far, is now at a major turning point. 

With the acceleration of cashless payments, cash deposit and 

withdrawal transactions with financial institutions have continued 

to decline, but on the other hand, cash charge transactions with 

QR code settlement companies have increased significantly. As a 

result, the Bank’s number of ATM transactions has increased, 

exceeding the average number of ATM transactions before the 

spread of COVID-19 (the year before last year). Analyzing such 

usage trends, it appears that there is still a strong need for cash 

transactions in Japan. Recognizing that changes in the settlement 

environment are opportunities for new ATM services, the Bank will 

continue its efforts to provide customers with secure and 

convenient services.

 •  The installation of fourth-generation ATMs began in September 

The Bank’s group comprises 13 companies, i.e., the Bank and its 

eight consolidated subsidiaries (FCTI, Inc., PT. ABADI TAMBAH 

MULIA INTERNASIONAL, Bank Business Factory Co., Ltd., Seven 

Payment Service, Ltd., Pito AxM Platform, Inc., Seven Global Remit, 

Ltd., ACSiON, Ltd., and Credd Finance, Ltd.) and four affiliates 

(Seven Pay Co., Ltd., TORANOTEC Ltd., TORANOTEC Asset 

Management Ltd., and Metaps Payment Inc.), operating in each 

business field in Japan and overseas.

In Japan, the Bank’s group provides ATM services and financial 

services. Overseas, it provides ATM services in the United States, 

Indonesia, and the Philippines.

The Bank and each of its group companies are structured via 

businesses as follows.

(1) Domestic Business Segment
   Regarding the provision of ATM services, the Bank’s group 

installed ATMs in Seven-Eleven and Ito-Yokado belonging to 

companies of the Seven & i Group (hereinafter referred to as the 

“Group”), as well as at airports, stations and branches of financial 

institutions. By cooperating with numerous domestic financial 

institutions, the Bank’s group provides ATM services to many 

customers using its convenient ATM network which operates 

24/365 in principle.

   Regarding the provision of financial services, the Bank’s group 

provides ubiquitous and convenient account services such as 

ordinary deposits, time deposits, loan services, international 

money transfer services and debit services for customers who 

have an account with the Bank. The Bank’s group is also 

developing financial services that meet the needs of various 

customers by utilizing the knowledge of the Bank’s group and 

collaborating with external corporations.

(2) Overseas Business Segment
   FCTI, Inc., a consolidated subsidiary of the Bank, is developing 

ATM services in the United States, including the installation of 

ATMs at Seven-Eleven stores.

   PT. ABADI TAMBAH MULIA INTERNASIONAL, a consolidated 

subsidiary of the Bank in Indonesia, is engaged in local ATM 

services. Moreover, Pito AxM Platform, Inc., a consolidated 

subsidiary of the Bank in the Philippines, is working on installing 

ATMs at Seven-Eleven stores and developing ATM services.

   As stated above, the Bank’s group has been promoting initiatives 

towards diversification of businesses and services with the aim of 

the sustainable creation of both social value and corporate value 

while recognizing changes in a diverse society as substantial 

business opportunities.

■ Operating System of Seven Bank and Its Group Companies

Customers

Provision of ATM services Provision of �nancial services, etc. 

Other 
affiliates,

 etc.

Seven Global 
Remit, Ltd.

ACSiON, Ltd.

Credd 
Finance, Ltd.

Seven Payment 
Service, Ltd.

Bank Business 
Factory Co., Ltd.

Consolidated 
subsidiaries (Japan)

5 in total

Equity-method 
affiliates
4 in total

FCTI, Inc. (US)

Pito AxM 
Platform, Inc. 
(Philippines)

PT. ABADI 
TAMBAH MULIA 
INTERNASIONAL 

(Indonesia)

Seven-Eleven Japan Co., Ltd.
Ito-Yokado Co., Ltd., etc.

Seven Bank, Ltd. (the Bank)

ATM 
placement 

fee 
expenses

Funding, 
provision 

of
 locations 

for
installation,

 etc.

Consolidated 
subsidiaries (overseas)

3 in total
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
Seven Bank, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
As of March 31, 2022 and 2021

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Assets:
Cash and due from banks (Notes 3, 4 and 5)  .............................................. ¥   931,404 ¥   937,945
Securities (Notes 5, 6 and 7)  ....................................................................... 89,945 78,154
Loans (Notes 5 and 8)  ................................................................................ 28,056 24,329
Foreign exchanges  ..................................................................................... 0 0
ATM-related temporary payments (Note 5)  .................................................. 84,461 83,681
Tangible fixed assets (Notes 9 and 30)  ........................................................ 26,571 19,218
Intangible fixed assets (Note 10)  ................................................................. 33,593 34,857
Asset for retirement benefits (Note 16)  ........................................................ 1,051 909
Deferred tax assets (Note 26)  ..................................................................... 2,979 707
Other assets (Notes 5, 7, 11 and 31)  .......................................................... 24,062 17,442
Allowance for credit losses (Note 5)  ............................................................ (504) (88)

Total assets  ............................................................................................. ¥1,221,623 ¥1,197,158

Liabilities:
Deposits (Notes 5 and 12)  .......................................................................... ¥   790,687 ¥   783,408
Borrowed money (Notes 5 and 13)  ............................................................. 1,936 591
Bonds (Notes 5 and 14)  .............................................................................. 105,000 105,000
Income taxes payable  ................................................................................. 4,321 4,258
ATM-related temporary advances (Note 5)  .................................................. 49,233 47,046
Reserve for bonuses  ................................................................................... 789 610
Liability for retirement benefits (Note 16)  ..................................................... 13 6
Reserve for stocks payment  ....................................................................... 774 634
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 26)  ................................................................... 3 87
Other liabilities (Notes 15, 28 and 30) .......................................................... 24,749 20,839

Total liabilities  .......................................................................................... 977,509 962,482

Net assets (Notes 17 and 27):
Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock, authorized 4,763,632 thousand shares,
issued 1,179,308 thousand shares as of March 31, 2022 and 2021  ... 30,724 30,724

Capital surplus  ........................................................................................ 30,764 30,724
Retained earnings  ................................................................................... 176,549 168,694
Treasury stock, at cost, 3,982 thousand shares as of March 31, 2022 and 

3,587 thousand shares as of March 31, 2021  ..................................... (1,173) (1,081)
Total shareholders’ equity  ........................................................................... 236,864 229,061
Accumulated other comprehensive income:

Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities,  
net of taxes (Note 6)  ............................................................................ 606 440

Foreign currency translation adjustments  ................................................ 4,714 3,407
Accumulated adjustments for retirement benefits (Note 16)  ..................... 320 359

Total accumulated other comprehensive income ......................................... 5,641 4,207
Non-controlling interests  ............................................................................. 1,606 1,407

Total net assets  ....................................................................................... 244,113 234,676
Total liabilities and net assets  .................................................................. ¥1,221,623 ¥1,197,158

See accompanying notes.

2019, and due to progress with replacement, the number of 

fourth-generation ATMs has reached 40% of the total number of 

ATMs. Utilizing the newly implemented functions (personal 

authentication function, scanning function, etc.) of the fourth-gen-

eration ATM, the Bank will develop new ATM services that go 

beyond cash transactions in the fields of administration, medical 

care, financial services, etc.

Retail Strategy

 •  In the financial retail field, in addition to conventional financial 

institutions, various companies, such as Fintech companies, are 

appearing and competition is intensifying. The Bank will strength-

en cooperation with the Seven & i Group and expand its efforts to 

develop and provide exceptional financial products unique to a 

bank that originated in a distribution group.

Corporate Strategy

 •  The Bank has strived to expand the services provided to financial 

institutions and general businesses regarding bank-quality 

administrative skills, safe and secure fund management/fund 

transfer mechanisms, and high-security technologies including 

authentication that are the Bank’s strengths accumulated since its 

founding. In recent years, the Bank has quickly adopted the 

evolving DX technology, and aims to expand the scale of business 

through collaboration with external companies.

 Overseas Business Segment

Overseas Strategy

 •  FCTI, Inc., the Bank’s consolidated subsidiary in the United 

States, is still in the process of recovering the number of transac-

tions affected by the prolonged effects of COVID-19, but the 

reorganization of ATMs with low profitability has progressed and 

the Bank has achieved a financial structure that can secure stable 

profits. On the other hand, despite concerns about an increase in 

procurement costs due to the expected rise in U.S. interest rates 

in the future, the Bank will take measures to minimize the impact 

on the market interest rate by stopping cost increases utilizing 

financial derivatives and formulating measures for cash reduction 

in ATMs. At the same time, the Bank will provide new financial 

services utilizing an ATM network of approximately 9,000 ATMs.

 •  In Asia, the Bank is developing ATM services in two countries, 

Indonesia and the Philippines, and accelerating the expansion of 

the number of ATMs installed. In both countries, high demand is 

expected to continue as there are not enough ATMs installed that 

users need in their daily lives. The Bank will promote the develop-

ment of ATM networks in both countries and then, using ATMs as 

an introduction, strive to bring about multi-layered financial 

services.

〈Realization of a Sustainable Society〉
 •  The Bank’s group positioned sustainability as the basis for its 

long-term management strategy and established the “Basic 

Sustainability Promotion Policy” and the “Sustainability Commit-

tee” in 2021 to review the group-wide promotion structure. With 

the “Five Materiality*” established in fiscal 2019, the Bank will 

further develop its initiatives with the aim of solving environmental 

and social issues through business activities and strengthening 

business competitiveness at the same time.

Note: Five Material Issues

 •  Offer a safe, secure settlement infrastructure

 •  Create a lifestyle through new financial services

 •  Create a society where everyone can be active

 •  Reduce the environmental burden

 •  Realize multicultural symbiosis

The environment surrounding the Bank’s group is changing dramati-

cally. The group’s stance of always listening to and responding to the 

thoughts of customers, which the group has valued since its 

establishment, will not change.

The Bank’s group will continue to take on the challenge of 

creating original and new value as a unique bank that succeeds in 

being close-by, convenient, reliable and secure.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
Seven Bank, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Income:

Interest income  ........................................................................................... ¥    4,032 ¥    3,609

Interest on loans  ..................................................................................... 3,890 3,475

Interest and dividends on securities  ........................................................ 34 29

Interest on call loans  ............................................................................... 5 1

Other interest income  .............................................................................. 102 102

Fees and commissions income (Note 18)  ................................................... 131,320 131,709

Other operating income (Note 20)  ............................................................... 390 201

Other income (Note 22)  .............................................................................. 1,359 2,019

Total income  ........................................................................................... 137,103 137,540

Expenses:

Interest expenses  ....................................................................................... 602 539

Interest on deposits  ................................................................................ 45 67

Interest on call money  ............................................................................. (4) (9)

Interest on borrowed money  ................................................................... 94 14

Interest on bonds  .................................................................................... 466 467

Fees and commissions expenses (Notes 19 and 28)  .................................. 35,816 35,360

General and administrative expenses (Note 21)  .......................................... 70,245 64,308

Other expenses (Notes 23 and 24)  ............................................................. 3,284 1,677

Total expenses  ........................................................................................ 109,948 101,884

Income before income taxes  ..................................................................... 27,154 35,655

Income taxes (Note 26)

Current  ................................................................................................ 8,772 9,867

Deferred  .............................................................................................. (2,300) 51

Total income taxes  ........................................................................... 6,471 9,918

Net income  ................................................................................................ 20,682 25,737

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests  ...................................... (144) (168)

Net income attributable to owners of the parent  ...................................... ¥  20,827 ¥  25,905

Amounts per share of common stock (Note 32):
Yen

2022 2021

Net assets  .................................................................................................. ¥206.33 ¥198.40

Net income  ................................................................................................. 17.71 22.01

Diluted net income  ...................................................................................... — 22.00

Cash dividends applicable to the year (Note 27)  ......................................... 11.00 11.00
See accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Seven Bank, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Net income  ................................................................................................ ¥20,682 ¥25,737

Other comprehensive income (Note 25)

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes  ... 166 (59)

Foreign currency translation adjustments  ................................................ 1,353 (369)

Adjustments for retirement benefits (Note 16)  .......................................... (38) 296

Total other comprehensive income  ..................................................... 1,480 (131)

Comprehensive income  ............................................................................. ¥22,163 ¥25,605

Comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent  .............................................................................. ¥22,261 ¥25,782

Non-controlling interests  ......................................................................... (98) (177)
See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
Seven Bank, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021

Millions of yen

Shareholders’ equity

Common 
stock

Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
stock

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

Balance at April 1, 2020  .................................. ¥30,702 ¥30,757 ¥155,760 ¥   (338) ¥216,882
Changes in items during the period Issuance of new shares  .... 21 21 43

Cash dividends  ........................................... (12,971) (12,971)
Net income attributable to owners of the parent  ... 25,905 25,905
Purchase of treasury stock  ........................... (770) (770)
Disposal of treasury stock  ............................ 27 27
Change in capital surplus due to change in 

equity of consolidated subsidiaries  ........... (54) (54)
Net changes in items other than shareholders’ equity  ...

Net changes in items during the period  .. 21 (33) 12,934 (742) 12,179
Balance at April 1, 2021  .................................. ¥30,724 ¥30,724 ¥168,694 ¥(1,081) ¥229,061
Changes in items during the period Issuance of new shares  ... —

Cash dividends  ........................................... (12,972) (12,972)
Net income attributable to owners of the parent  .. 20,827 20,827
Purchase of treasury stock  ........................... (97) (97)
Disposal of treasury stock  ............................ 6 6
Change in capital surplus due to change in 

equity of consolidated subsidiaries  ........... 39 39
Net changes in items other than shareholders’ equity  ...

Net changes in items during the period  .. 39 7,854 (91) 7,802
Balance at March 31, 2022  ............................. ¥30,724 ¥30,764 ¥176,549 ¥(1,173) ¥236,864

Millions of yen

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Net

unrealized 
gains 

available-
for-sale 

securities,
net of taxes

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Accumulated 
adjustments 
for retirement 

benefits

Total 
accumulated 

other 
comprehensive 

income

Subscription
rights

to shares

Non-controlling 
interests

Total
net assets

Balance at April 1, 2020  ........................ ¥499 ¥3,767 ¥  62 ¥4,329 ¥ 274 ¥1,346 ¥222,833
Changes in items during the period Issuance of new shares ... 43

Cash dividends  ................................. (12,971)
Net income attributable to owners of the parent  ... 25,905
Purchase of treasury stock  ................. (770) 
Disposal of treasury stock  .................. 27
Change in capital surplus due to change in 

equity of consolidated subsidiaries  ............ (54)

Net changes in items other than shareholders’ equity  ... (59) (360) 296 (122) (274) 60 (336)
Net changes in items during the period  .. (59) (360) 296 (122) (274) 60 11,842

Balance at April 1, 2021  ........................ ¥440 ¥3,407 ¥359 ¥4,207 ¥   — ¥1,407 ¥234,676
Changes in items during the period Issuance of new shares ... —

Cash dividends  ................................. (12,972)
Net income attributable to owners of the parent  ... 20,827
Purchase of treasury stock  ................. (97) 
Disposal of treasury stock  .................. 6
Change in capital surplus due to change in 

equity of consolidated subsidiaries  ............ 39
Net changes in items other than shareholders’ equity  ... 166 1,307 (38) 1,434 — 199 1,634

Net changes in items during the period  .. 166 1,307 (38) 1,434 — 199 9,437
Balance at March 31, 2022  ................... ¥606 ¥4,714 ¥320 ¥5,641 ¥   — ¥1,606 ¥244,113
See accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Seven Bank, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities:

Income before income taxes  ....................................................................... ¥  27,154 ¥  35,655
Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes 

to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation of fixed assets  .................................................................... 16,388 14,070
Impairment losses  ................................................................................... 763 —
Equity in losses of affiliates  ...................................................................... 694 796
Net change in allowance for credit losses ................................................ 415 63
Net change in reserve for bonuses  .......................................................... 164 45
Net change in asset or liability for retirement benefits  .............................. (190) (100)
Net change in reserve for directors’ retirement benefits  ........................... — (4)
Net change in reserve for stocks payment  .............................................. 140 397
Interest income  ....................................................................................... (4,032) (3,609)
Interest expenses  .................................................................................... 602 539
Net losses related to securities  ................................................................ 65 88
Net losses on disposal of fixed assets  ..................................................... 753 (14)
Gain on change in equity  ........................................................................ (415) —
Net change in loans  ................................................................................ (3,727) (1,045)
Net change in deposits  ........................................................................... 7,278 98,848
Net change in borrowed money  .............................................................. 1,228 404
Net change in ATM-related temporary accounts  ..................................... 1,472 274
Interest received  ..................................................................................... 4,181 3,815
Interest paid  ............................................................................................ (642) (613)
Other – net  ............................................................................................. (2,273) (213)

Subtotal  ............................................................................................. 50,023 149,397
Income taxes paid  .................................................................................. (8,734) (13,358)
Income taxes refund  ............................................................................... 22 —

Net cash provided by operating activities  ........................................... 41,311 136,039

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of securities  ............................................................................. (23,739) (20,484)
Proceeds from redemption of securities  .................................................. 11,892 13,084
Purchase of tangible fixed assets  ............................................................ (12,468) (10,436)
Proceeds from sales of tangible fixed assets  ........................................... 19 273
Purchase of intangible fixed assets  ......................................................... (11,817) (14,808)
Proceeds from sales of intangible fixed assets  ........................................ — 100
Purchase of shares in an equity method affiliated company  ..................... — (499)

Net cash used in investing activities  ................................................... (36,114) (32,770)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from stock issuance to non-controlling interests  ...................... 337 183
Proceeds from exercise of stock options  ................................................. — 0
Dividends paid  ........................................................................................ (12,967) (12,968)
Purchase of treasury stock  ...................................................................... (97) (770)

Net cash used in financing activities  ................................................... (12,727) (13,555)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  .............. 989 (213)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  ................................................. (6,541) 89,498
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  .......................... 937,945 848,446
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (Notes 3 and 4) ........... ¥931,404 ¥937,945
See accompanying notes.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Seven Bank, Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries
As of and for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021

1.  Basis of Presenting Consolidated  
Financial Statements

(a)  The accompanying consolidated financial statements of 
Seven Bank, Ltd. (the “Bank”) and its consolidated 
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) have been prepared in 
accordance with the provisions set forth in the Japanese 
Financial Instruments and Exchange Law and its related 
accounting regulations, and in conformity with accounting 
principles and practices generally accepted in Japan 
(“Japanese GAAP”), which are different in certain respects 
as to application and disclosure requirements from 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

   The accompanying consolidated financial statements 
have been reclassified and translated into English (with 
some expanded descriptions) from the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group prepared in accordance 
with Japanese GAAP and filed with the appropriate Local 
Finance Bureau of the Ministry of Finance as required by 
the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law. Some 
supplementary information included in the statutory 
consolidated financial statements in Japanese, which is not 
required for fair presentation, is not presented in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

(b)  In preparing the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements and notes, amounts less than one million 
Japanese yen have been rounded down to the nearest 
million, except for per share data, in accordance with the 
Financial Instruments and Exchange Law and Enforcement 
Ordinance concerning the Banking Law of Japan. 
Therefore, total or subtotal amounts shown in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes 
thereto are not necessarily equal to sums of individual 
amounts. In preparing these consolidated financial 
statements, certain reclassifications and rearrangements 
have been made to the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements issued domestically in order to present them in 
a form that is more familiar to readers outside Japan.

(c)  The preparation of consolidated financial statements in 
conformity with Japanese GAAP requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of 
contingent assets and liabilities as of the balance sheet 
date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Principles of consolidation
  The accompanying consolidated financial statements 

include the accounts of the Bank and its eight consolidated 
subsidiaries. 

   Names of the consolidated subsidiaries are as follows: 
FCTI, Inc., PT. ABADI TAMBAH MULIA INTERNASIONAL, 
Bank Business Factory Co., Ltd., Seven Payment Service, 
Ltd., Pito AxM Platform, Inc., Seven Global Remit, Ltd., 
ACSiON, Ltd. and Credd Finance, Ltd.

   The balance sheet dates of the consolidated subsidiaries 
are December 31 for three companies and March 31 for 
five companies. The subsidiaries are consolidated using the 
financial statements on their own balance sheet dates. 
Appropriate adjustments have been made for significant 
intervening transactions occurring during the period from 
December 31 to March 31. 

   All significant intercompany balances and transactions 
have been eliminated upon consolidation. All material 
unrealized profit included in assets resulting from 
transactions within the Group are also eliminated.

   Four affiliates are accounted for using the equity method. 
Names of affiliates are as follows: Seven Pay Co., Ltd., 
TORANOTEC Ltd., TORANOTEC Asset Management Ltd. 
and Metaps Payment, Inc.

   For affiliates accounted for using the equity method that 
have a balance sheet date different from the consolidated 
balance sheet date, the financial statements pertaining to 
the fiscal years of the respective affiliates are used for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Securities
  In principle, available-for-sale securities are stated at their 

fiscal year-end fair values. Unrealized gains and losses on 
these securities are reported, net of applicable income 
taxes, as a separate component of net assets. Realized 
gains or losses on sales of such securities are computed 
using primarily the moving-average method. Equity 
securities, etc. that do not have a market price are stated at 
cost using the moving-average method.

(c) Tangible fixed assets 
  Tangible fixed assets are generally stated at cost less 

accumulated depreciation. 
   Depreciation of tangible fixed assets of the Bank is 

calculated by the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets.

   Estimated useful lives of major items as of March 31, 
2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Buildings: 6-18 years
ATMs: 5 years
Others: 2-20 years

   Depreciation of tangible fixed assets of the consolidated 
subsidiaries is calculated by the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful lives of the assets.

(d) Intangible fixed assets 
  Intangible fixed assets are amortized using the straight-line 

method. Software for internal use is amortized over its 
estimated useful life (five years).

(e) Allowance for credit losses
  Allowance for credit losses is provided as detailed below in 

accordance with the Bank’s internal policies for write-offs 
and provisions.

   The Bank classifies its obligors into five categories for 
self-assessment purposes, namely, “normal obligors,” 
“obligors requiring caution,” “bankruptcy risk obligors,” 
“substantially bankrupt obligors,” and “bankrupt obligors.”

   For credits to those classified as normal obligors or 
obligors requiring caution, the allowance for credit losses is 
provided based on the Bank’s expected credit losses for 
the following one year. The expected credit losses are 
determined using the loss ratio computed based on the 
average rate for the past definite period of bad debt ratio or 
default probability based on the bad debt or default 
experience for the past year, and modified with necessary 
adjustments such as future prospects. 

   For credits to obligors classified as bankruptcy risk 
obligors, the allowance for credit losses is provided for at 
the amount deemed necessary, after deducting the 
expected amount recoverable through the disposal of 
collateral or execution of guarantee.

   For credits to obligors classified as substantially bankrupt 
obligors or bankrupt obligors, the allowance for credit 
losses is provided for at the full amounts of such credits, 
after deducting the expected amount recoverable through 
the disposal of collateral or execution of guarantee.

   The Bank’s Risk Management Office, which is 
independent from the Bank’s other divisions, evaluates all 
credits in accordance with its internal rules for self-
assessment of assets, and its evaluations are audited by 
the Internal Audit Division, which is independent from the 
Bank’s other divisions and the Risk Management Office. 
The allowance is provided for based on the results of these 
assessments.

   Allowance for credit losses of consolidated subsidiaries 
is stated at amounts considered to be appropriate based 
on past credit loss experience for general receivables and, 
for specific receivables such as doubtful receivables, in 
amounts expected to be unrecoverable considering the 
individual collectability.

(f) Reserve for bonuses
  Reserve for bonuses for employees is recorded in the 

amount of estimated bonuses attributed to the relevant 
fiscal year.

(g) Reserve for stocks payment
  Reserve for stocks payment is recorded in the estimated 

amount of stock benefits as of the end of the fiscal year to 
prepare for the delivery of the Bank’s shares to the Bank’s 
directors (excluding non-executive directors and directors 
residing overseas), executive officers (excluding those 
residing overseas) and certain employees (excluding those 
residing overseas) pursuant to the Share Delivery Rules for 
directors, executive officers and employees.

(h) Method of accounting for retirement benefits
  In calculating the projected benefit obligation, projected 

retirement benefits attributable up to the end of the fiscal 
year is determined using a benefit formula. Also, net 
actuarial difference is amortized as follows.

   Net actuarial difference is amortized using the straight-
line method over ten years within the employees’ average 
remaining service period, commencing from the fiscal year 
after the year of incurrence. 

(i) Significant revenue recognition 
  The details of the main performance obligations in the major 

businesses related to revenue from contracts with the 
customers of the Bank and its consolidated subsidiaries 
and the timing at which they typically satisfy these 
performance obligations (when it typically recognizes 
revenue) are as follows:

 •  Banking business, focusing on the ATM Platform business
  We have been providing services such as accepting or 

dispensing cash which the users of the partner financial 
institutions deposit in or withdraw from their deposit 
accounts when they use the Bank’s ATMs. With regard to 
the service fee income from providing these ATM services, 
the Bank recognizes revenue at the time when the users of 
the partner financial institutions use the ATM service of the 
Bank and the related considerations are received generally 
within the following month after the performance obligations 
are satisfied. 

(j) Foreign currency translation
  Assets and liabilities of the Bank denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated into Japanese yen mainly at the 
exchange rate prevailing as of the balance sheet date. 
Assets and liabilities of the consolidated subsidiaries 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet dates of the 
consolidated subsidiaries.

(k) Amortization of goodwill
  Goodwill is amortized using the straight-line method over 

five years or fully expensed when incurred if the amount is 
immaterial.
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(l) Cash and cash equivalents
  For the purpose of presenting the consolidated statement 

of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash 
and due from banks.

(m) Income taxes
  Income taxes of the Bank consist of corporation, 

inhabitants and enterprise taxes. The provision for income 
taxes is computed based on the pretax income of the Bank 
with certain adjustments required for tax purposes. 

   The asset and liability approach is used to recognize 
deferred tax assets and liabilities for expected future tax 
consequences of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities.

(n) Amounts per share
  Net assets per share is calculated by dividing net assets 

excluding amount of subscription rights to shares and 
non-controlling interests by the number of shares of 
common stock outstanding at the end of the fiscal year, 
excluding treasury stock.

   Net income per share is calculated by dividing net 
income attributable to common shareholders of the parent 
by the weighted average number of shares of common 
stock outstanding during the fiscal year, excluding treasury 
stock.

   Cash dividends per share represent the actual amounts 
declared as applicable to the fiscal year.

(o) Appropriation of retained earnings
  Cash dividends are recorded in the fiscal year when the 

relevant proposed appropriation of retained earnings is 
approved by the Board of Directors and for which 
notification is given at a general meeting of shareholders.

(p) Changes in accounting policies
  (Application of the Accounting Standard for Revenue 

Recognition, etc.)
  The Bank has applied the “Accounting Standard for 

Revenue Recognition” (Accounting Standards Board of 
Japan (ASBJ) Statement No. 29, March 31, 2020, 
hereinafter “Revenue Recognition Standard”), etc. from the 
beginning of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022. The 
Bank recognizes revenue when control of a promised good 
or service is transferred to a customer in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the Bank expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods and services.

   The Bank applies the Revenue Recognition Standard, 
etc. in accordance with the transitional provision set forth in 
the proviso to Paragraph 84 of the Revenue Recognition 
Standard, and there was no impact on the beginning 
balance of retained earnings for the fiscal year ended March 
31, 2022. 

   In addition, this change does not have any impact on 
profit or loss and per share information for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2022.

   In accordance with the transitional provision set forth in 
Paragraph 89-3 of the Revenue Recognition Standard, 
disclosure on revenue recognition for the previous fiscal 
year is not presented.

  (Application of the Accounting Standard for Fair Value 
Measurement, etc.)

  The Bank has applied the “Accounting Standard for Fair 
Value Measurement” (ASBJ Statement No. 30, July 4, 
2019; hereinafter “Fair Value Measurement Standard”), etc. 
from the beginning of the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2022, and prospectively applied the new accounting 
policies .in accordance with the transitional provision set 
forth in Paragraph 19 of the Fair Value Measurement 
Standard and Paragraph 44-2 of the “Accounting Standard 
for Financial Instruments” (ASBJ Statement No. 10, July 4, 
2019). There is no impact of this change on the 
consolidated financial statements.

   In addition, the Bank has disclosed the fair value 
information by level within the fair value hierarchy in the 
notes to financial instruments. However, in accordance with 
the transitional provision set forth in Paragraph 7-4 of the 
“Implementation Guidance on Disclosures about Fair Value 
of Financial Instruments” (ASBJ Guidance No. 19, July 4, 
2019), disclosure pertaining to the previous fiscal year is not 
presented.

(q) Newly effective accounting standards not yet applied
  Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair 

Value Measurement (ASBJ Guidance No. 31, June 17, 
2021)

 (1) Overview
  The Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for 

Fair Value Measurement (hereinafter “Implementation 
Guidance”) describes accounting treatments on the 
measurement and disclosure regarding fair values of 
investment trusts and investments in partnerships for which 
equity interests are recorded on a net basis on the balance 
sheet.

 (2) Date of adoption
  The Implementation Guidance is scheduled to be applied 

from the beginning of the fiscal year ending March 31, 
2023.

 (3) The effect of adopting the implementation guidance
  The effect of adopting the Implementation Guidance is 

immaterial.

(r) Additional information
  (Performance-Based Stock Compensation Plan for 

Directors)
  The Bank has introduced a Performance-Based Stock 

Compensation Plan (hereinafter the “Plan”) for the Bank’s 
directors (excluding non-executive Directors and Directors 
residing overseas, the same applies hereinafter) using the 
Directors’ Compensation Board Incentive Plan (BIP) Trust 

(hereinafter “BIP Trust”), aiming to further raise motivation in 
contributing to the medium- to long-term enhancement of 
performance. 

   The accounting treatment for the said trust agreement is 
in accordance with “Practical Solution on Transactions of 
Delivering the Company’s Own Stock to Employees etc. 
through Trusts” (Practical Issue Task Force (PITF) No. 30, 
March 26, 2015).

 (1) Outline of the transaction
  The plan is a performance-based stock compensation plan 

whereby the Bank contributes an appropriate amount of 
money to the BIP Trust, which is used as funds to acquire 
Bank’s shares. The Bank’s shares are delivered to directors 
in accordance with Share Delivery Rules for directors 
stipulated by the Bank. Directors shall receive delivery of 
the Bank’s shares, etc., in principle, upon their retirement.

 (2) Bank’s shares remaining in the BIP Trust
  The Bank’s shares remaining in the BIP Trust are recorded 

as treasury stock under net assets at their carrying amount 
(excluding incidental expenses). The carrying amount and 
the number of Bank’s shares remaining in the BIP Trust as 
of March 31, 2022 and 2021 are ¥588 million and 1,895 
thousand shares.

  (Performance-Based Stock Compensation Plan for 
Executive Officers and Certain Employees)

  The Bank has introduced a Performance-Based Stock 
Compensation Plan (hereinafter the “Plan”) for the Bank’s 
executive officers (excluding those residing overseas; the 
same applies hereinafter) and certain employees (excluding 
those residing overseas; the same applies hereinafter) using 
the Stock Grant Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) 
Trust (hereinafter “ESOP Trust”), aiming to further raise 
motivation in contributing to the medium- to long-term 
enhancement of performance. 

   The Bank adopted “Practical Solution on Transactions of 
Delivering the Company’s Own Stock to Employees etc. 
through Trusts” (PITF No. 30, March 26, 2015) to account 
for the said trust agreement. 

 (1) Outline of the transaction
  The plan is a performance-based stock compensation plan 

whereby the Bank contributes an appropriate amount of 
money to the ESOP Trust, which is used as funds to 
acquire Bank’s shares. The Bank’s shares are delivered to 
executive officers and certain employees in accordance 
with Share Delivery Rules for executive officers and 
employees stipulated by the Bank. Executive officers and 
certain employees shall receive delivery of the Bank’s 
shares, etc., in principle, upon their retirement.

 (2) Bank’s shares remaining in the ESOP Trust
  The Bank’s shares remaining in the ESOP Trust are 

recorded as treasury stock under net assets at their 
carrying amount (excluding incidental expenses). The 
carrying amount and the number of Bank’s shares 
remaining in the Trust as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 are 
¥584 million and ¥492 million and 2,086 thousand shares 
and 1,691 thousand shares, respectively. 

  (Accounting Estimates Followed by the Spread of Novel 
Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19))

  In determining whether impairment on securities is 
necessary or not, the Bank has made an assumption that 
the impact of COVID-19 will remain for a certain period after 
the end of the consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 
2022 considering the businesses of some of the investees, 
and reflected it in the amounts of business plan before 
making accounting estimates. As a result, the Bank has 
determined that there is no need for impairment for the 
consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 2022. There was 
no significant change from the previous fiscal year. 

   Although the above estimates are based on the 
information available at the time of preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements, the consolidated financial 
statements for the following fiscal years may be affected, 
depending on the situation of COVID-19 and its impact on 
the economy.

3. Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 
consisted of cash and due from banks of ¥931,404 million and ¥937,945 million on the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 
2022 and 2021, respectively.

4. Cash and Due from Banks
Cash and due from banks as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Cash  ...................................................................................................................................... ¥819,031 ¥802,247

Due from banks  ...................................................................................................................... 112,372 135,698

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥931,404 ¥937,945
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5. Financial Instruments
1) Disclosure on Financial Instruments
(1) Policy on Financial Instruments

  The Bank has its basic policy for both fund procurement and investments, which is designed to keep volatility low and risks 
minimized, and does not seek to generate profits by aggressive risk taking.

   The Bank procures necessary cash for working capital mainly for cash held in ATMs and capital expenditure for ATM- and 
system-related infrastructure. The Bank raises its base capital taking into account interest rate trends through deposits, long-
term borrowing, and bond issuance and uses the call market to raise additional capital to cover the daily fluctuation of its cash 
needs.

   On the asset side, the Bank makes investments such as lending money to individuals with small lots. However, the main 
operation is in treasury and securities as a limited end user. Investments are limited to securities with high creditworthiness and 
liquidity, such as bonds, deposits placed at highly rated partner financial institutions, and lending of funds in the call-money 
market. The Bank does not invest in high-risk derivatives and other instruments.

(2) Details of Financial Instruments and Associated Risks

  Cash for the operation of the ATM platform business accounts for most of the financial instruments the Bank holds. The Bank 
provides unutilized capital to call loan lending and is exposed to credit risk of the borrowers. Securities mainly consist of bonds 
and stocks with high creditworthiness and liquidity, all of which are classified as available-for-sale securities. These securities are 
exposed to borrower and issuers’ credit risks, interest rate risk, and market (price) risk. Loans are those for individual customers, 
which are exposed to credit risks of the borrowers. However, the risk is limited because guarantees are mostly attached to the 
entire loan amounts.

   The Bank conducts banking business and its deposits and negotiable certificates of deposit that account for most of its 
financial liabilities are exposed to interest rate risk. It also uses the call market to raise short-term additional capital and is 
exposed to liquidity risk that it cannot raise necessary capital when needed.

   Borrowed money and bonds are also exposed to liquidity risk in that the Bank cannot make necessary payments upon the 
due dates under certain circumstances where the Bank cannot access the capital market.

(3) Risk Management Relating to Financial Instruments

(A) Credit Risk Management
  Basic policies related to credit risk are stipulated in the Basic Policy on Risk Control and by the Credit Risk Rules established 

thereunder. Currently, the Bank has low credit risk exposures in the limited areas of the ATM settlement operation, asset liability 
management (ALM)-related interbank deposits placed at highly rated partner financial institutions, money lent in the call-money 
market, and temporary ATM payment amounts due. In addition, the Bank performs self-assessment on asset quality as 
appropriate and sets an allowance for credit losses in accordance with its self-assessment guidelines, reserve guidelines, and 
related internal rules and regulations. 

   Credit risks related to issuers of securities and counterparty risks of derivative transactions are managed by the Risk 
Management Division by periodically collecting updated credit information and fair values of the instruments.

(B) Market Risk Management
  Basic policies related to market risk are stipulated in the Basic Policy on Risk Control and the Market Risk Rules established 

thereunder. The Market Risk Rules establish limits on the maximum level of funds at risk, market position limits and loss 
allowance limits. The Risk Management Group measures and monitors market risk on a daily basis in light of these limits and 
reports the results to management including the Executive Committee. Risk management operations are also based on decisions 
at the quarterly ALM Committee meetings where the Bank’s market risk position, expectations on interest rate trends and other 
matters are reported.

 Quantitative Information related to Market Risk

  Major market risk for the Bank is interest rate risk. The Bank measures the market risk using Value at Risk (VaR) for the overall 
assets and liabilities of the Bank. The Bank has adopted the variance-covariance method and calculates VaR with reference to 
data from the past one year to a 99.9% confidence level assuming a 125-day holding period. As of March 31, 2022, the Bank’s 
market risk quantity (maximum potential loss) is ¥3,191 million in the aggregate. In addition, given the characteristics of the 
Bank’s business, in measuring the market risk, the Bank has recognized the interest period for cash assets and deemed cash 
assets as five-year zero-coupon bonds (average duration of about 2.5 years). The Bank regularly performs back-testing to 

compare the VaR calculated by its internal model against actual profit and loss. However, as VaR measures the amount of market 
risk under certain probabilities statistically calculated based on past market volatility, it may underestimate the probability of 
extreme market movements and, may in some instances, not adequately capture those risks.

(C) Management of Liquidity Risk
  Basic policies related to liquidity risk are stipulated in the Basic Policy on Risk Control and the Liquidity Risk Rules established 

thereunder. The Liquidity Risk Rules establish limits regarding the cash gaps arising from differences between the duration of 
invested funds and those procured to meet current cash needs.

   The Risk Management Group measures and monitors liquidity risk on a daily basis in light of these limits and reports the 
results to management, including the Executive Committee. In the event of a cash shortage, according to the measures 
corresponding to each scenario, which are designed prior to those events, companywide actions are taken to secure the liquidity 
in a fast and flexible manner. Hence, there shall be no concern on liquidity risk.

(4) Supplementary Explanation on Fair Value of Financial Instruments

  Certain assumptions are used for the calculation of the fair value of financial instruments and therefore, the results of such 
calculation may vary if different assumptions are employed.

2) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
  The following table summarizes the amounts stated in the consolidated balance sheets and the fair value of financial instruments 

as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 together with their differences. Note that the following table does not include equity securities, 
etc. that do not have a market price and investments in partnerships (see (Note 1)). In addition, notes on cash and due from 
banks, ATM-related temporary payments and ATM-related temporary advances are omitted because their fair value 
approximates the carrying amount due to the short settlement period.

March 31, 2022 Millions of yen
Carrying 
amount Fair value Difference

(1) Securities

Available-for-sale securities ......................................................................................... ¥  82,732 ¥  82,732 ¥ —

(2) Loans ............................................................................................................................ 28,056

Allowance for credit losses 1  ....................................................................................... (15)

28,040 28,040 0

(3) Other assets 2 3,692

Allowance for credit losses 1, 2  ..................................................................................... (397)

3,295 3,295 —

Total assets  ........................................................................................................................ ¥114,068 ¥114,069 ¥    0

(1) Deposits  ....................................................................................................................... ¥790,687 ¥790,747 ¥  60

(2) Borrowed money  .......................................................................................................... 1,936 1,936 —

(3) Bonds  ........................................................................................................................... 105,000 105,493 493

Total liabilities  ...................................................................................................................... ¥897,624 ¥898,177 ¥553
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March 31, 2021 Millions of yen
Carrying 
amount Fair value Difference

(1) Securities

Available-for-sale securities ......................................................................................... ¥  71,298 ¥  71,298 ¥ —

(2) Loans ............................................................................................................................ 24,329

Allowance for credit losses 1  ....................................................................................... (1)

24,327 24,327 0

(3) Other assets 2 —

Allowance for credit losses 1, 2  ..................................................................................... —

— — —

Total assets  ........................................................................................................................ ¥  95,625 ¥  95,625 ¥ 0

(1) Deposits  ....................................................................................................................... ¥783,408 ¥783,483 ¥ 74

(2) Borrowed money  .......................................................................................................... 591 591 —

(3) Bonds  ........................................................................................................................... 105,000 105,939 939

Total liabilities  ...................................................................................................................... ¥889,000 ¥890,013 ¥1,013

* 1: Allowance for credit losses corresponding to loans and other assets is deducted.
* 2: Other assets subject to fair value disclosure are shown.

(Note 1)  The following table summarizes the carrying amounts of equity securities, etc. that do not have a market price and investments in partnerships. These 
securities are not included in the amount presented in “Available-for-sale securities” under “(1) Securities” in the table summarizing fair value of financial 
instruments.

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Unlisted equity securities 1 and 2  ..................................................................................... ¥3,354 ¥3,379

Shares in an affiliated company 1  ................................................................................. 1,424 1,703

Investments in partnership 3  ......................................................................................... 2,433 1,773

* 1.  Unlisted equity securities and shares in an affiliated company are not included in the scope of fair value disclosure pursuant to Paragraph 5 of the 
“Implementation Guidance on Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” (ASBJ Guidance No. 19, March 31, 2020).

* 2.  Impairment losses of ¥65 million and ¥38 million on unlisted equity securities are recognized for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively.

* 3.  Investments in partnership are not included in the scope of fair value disclosure pursuant to Paragraph 27 of the “Implementation Guidance on 
Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurements” (ASBJ Guidance No. 31, July 4, 2019).

(Note 2) Redemption schedule of monetary claims and securities with maturities

March 31, 2022 Millions of yen

Within one 
year

Over one year 
but within 

three years

Over three 
years but 
within five 

years

Over five 
years but 

within seven 
years

Over seven 
years but 
within ten 

years

Over ten 
years

Securities:
Available-for-sale securities with maturity  .......... ¥35,713 ¥27,162 ¥19,140 ¥— ¥— ¥—

Japanese municipal bonds  .......................... 11,313 7,862 7,840 — — —
Corporate bonds  ......................................... 24,400 19,300 11,300 — — —

Loans 1  ............................................................. 27,979  15  — — — —
Other assets 2  ................................................... 3,484  —  — — — —
Total  ................................................................. ¥67,177 ¥27,177  ¥19,140 ¥— ¥— ¥—

March 31, 2021 Millions of yen

Within one 
year

Over one year 
but within 

three years

Over three 
years but 
within five 

years

Over five 
years but 

within seven 
years

Over seven 
years but 
within ten 

years

Over ten 
years

Securities:
Available-for-sale securities with maturity  .......... ¥11,300 ¥50,831 ¥8,184 ¥— ¥— ¥—

Japanese municipal bonds  .......................... 700 16,731 3,584 — — —
Corporate bonds  ......................................... 10,600 34,100 4,600 — — —

Loans 1  ............................................................. 24,274  8  — — — —
Other assets  ..................................................... —  —  — — — —
Total  ................................................................. ¥35,574 ¥50,839  ¥8,184 ¥— ¥— ¥—

Notes: 1.  For loans, ¥60 million and ¥46 million as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 are excluded for loans that are not expected to be collected, which are for 
the debtors who are bankrupt, substantially bankrupt, and bankruptcy risk obligors. 

 2.  ¥208 million that is not expected to be collected from debtors who are bankrupt, substantially bankrupt, and bankruptcy risk obligors, is excluded 
from other assets.

(Note 3) Repayment schedule of bonds payable, borrowed money, and other interest-bearing liabilities

March 31, 2022 Millions of yen

Within one 
year

Over one year 
but within 

three years

Over three 
years but 
within five 

years

Over five 
years but 

within seven 
years

Over seven 
years but 
within ten 

years

Over ten 
years

Deposits 1  ......................................................... ¥675,399 ¥ 73,069 ¥42,217 ¥ — ¥— ¥—
Borrowed money  .............................................. 1,936 — — — — —
Bonds  .............................................................. 20,000  35,000 — 50,000 — —
Total  ................................................................. ¥697,336 ¥108,069 ¥42,217 ¥50,000 ¥— ¥—

March 31, 2021 Millions of yen

Within one 
year

Over one year 
but within 

three years

Over three 
years but 
within five 

years

Over five 
years but 

within seven 
years

Over seven 
years but 
within ten 

years

Over ten 
years

Deposits 1  ......................................................... ¥667,879 ¥  68,516 ¥47,012 ¥ — ¥ — ¥—
Borrowed money  .............................................. 591 — — — — —
Bonds  .............................................................. —  40,000 15,000 30,000 20,000 —
Total  ................................................................. ¥668,470 ¥108,516 ¥62,012 ¥30,000 ¥20,000 ¥—
Note 1: Demand deposits are included in the “Within one year” category.

3) Fair value information by level within the fair value hierarchy
  The fair value of financial instruments is classified into the following three levels according to the observability and materiality of 

inputs used to measure fair value.

 Level 1 fair value:  Fair value measured using observable inputs, i.e. quoted prices in active markets for assets or liabilities that are 
the subject of the measurement.

 Level 2 fair value: Fair value measured using observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs.
 Level 3 fair value: Fair value measured using unobservable inputs.

   If multiple inputs are used that are significant to the fair value measurement, the fair value is classified in its entirety in the level 
of the lowest priority for calculation of fair value among inputs that are significant to the entire measurement.
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(1) Financial instruments stated at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet

Millions of yen

Year ended March 31, 2022 Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Securities

Available-for-sale:

Japanese municipal bonds  ............................... — ¥27,026 — ¥27,026

Corporate bonds  .............................................. — 55,186 — 55,186

Equity securities  ............................................... ¥520 — — 520 

Total assets  ................................................................. ¥520 ¥82,212 — ¥82,732 

(2) Financial instruments other than those stated at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet
Millions of yen

Year ended March 31, 2022 Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Loans  .......................................................................... — ¥  27,991 ¥49 ¥  28,040

Other assets   ............................................................... — 3,295 — 3,295

Total assets  ................................................................. — ¥  31,287 ¥49 ¥  31,336

Deposits  ...................................................................... — ¥790,747 — ¥790,747

Borrowed money  ......................................................... — 1,936 — 1,936

Bonds  ......................................................................... — 105,493 — 105,493

Total liabilities  ............................................................... — ¥898,177 — ¥898,177 

Note 1: A description of the valuation technique(s) and inputs used in the fair value measurements is as follows.

Assets
(1) Securities
The fair value of securities, for which unadjusted quoted prices in active markets are available, is classified as Level 1. Listed shares are included in this 
category.
 The fair value of securities, for which quoted prices are published, but traded in inactive markets, is classified as Level 2. Municipal bonds and corporate 
bonds are included in this category.
(2) Loans
The fair value of loans is calculated by discounting the sum of principal and interests at the market interest rates reflecting credit risk, etc., categorized 
based on the types and maturity of loans.
 For loans with variable interest rates, the carrying amount is presented as the fair value, as the loans reflect market rates in a timely manner and the 
carrying amount approximates such fair value, unless the creditworthiness of the borrowers change significantly since the loan origination. For receivables 
from bankrupt, substantially bankrupt, and bankruptcy risk obligors, the fair value is determined based on estimated future cash flows discounted to the 
present value or the present value of the expected amount to be recovered from collaterals and guarantees. If the impact from unobservable inputs on the 
fair value is significant, the fair value is classified as Level 3, and Level 2 if the impact from unobservable inputs on the fair value is not significant. 
(3) Other assets
The remaining terms of the payments are short-term (within one year). Thus, the carrying amount is presented as the fair value, as the carrying amount 
approximates such fair value.
 The fair value is classified as Level 2.

Liabilities
(1) Deposits 
For demand deposits to be paid immediately upon request, the carrying amount as of the consolidated balance sheet date is deemed as the fair value. 
Fixed-rate time deposits are grouped by the periods to maturity. The fair value of such deposits is calculated as the present value of expected future cash 
flows. The discount rates used are the interest rates that would be applied to similar deposits newly accepted. For deposits with maturity of less than one 
year, the carrying amount is presented as the fair value, as the carrying amount approximates such fair value. The fair value is classified as Level 2.
(2) Borrowed money
The fair value of borrowed money is calculated as the present value of expected future cash flows from these borrowings grouped by the periods to 
maturity, discounted using interest rates reflecting its remaining periods to maturity and credit risk. For the borrowed money with maturity less than one 
year, the carrying amount is presented as the fair value, as the carrying amount approximates such fair value. The fair value is classified as Level 2. There 
is no floating rate borrowing.
(3) Bonds
The fair value of corporate bonds issued by the Bank is calculated based on the amounts presented in the Reference Statistical Prices [Yields] for OTC 
Bond Transactions published by the Japan Securities Dealers Association. The fair value is classified as Level 2.

6. Securities
(1)  The total amount of equity securities or investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliated companies was as 

follows:
Millions of yen

March 31 2022 2021

Equity securities ...................................................................................................................... ¥1,424 ¥1,703

(2)  The following tables summarize acquisition cost and carrying amount of securities with fair values available as of 
March 31, 2022 and 2021:

 Available-for-sale securities:

March 31, 2022 Millions of yen

Securities with higher balances than acquisition costs Acquisition 
cost

Carrying 
amount Difference

Equity securities ...................................................................................................................... ¥     151 ¥     520 ¥368
Bonds:

Japanese municipal bonds  ................................................................................................ 14,151 14,152 1
Corporate bonds  ............................................................................................................... 6,607 6,607 0

Total  ....................................................................................................................................... ¥20,910 ¥21,280 ¥370

Millions of yen

Securities with the same or lower balances than acquisition costs Acquisition 
cost

Carrying 
amount Difference

Bonds:
Japanese municipal bonds  ................................................................................................ ¥12,903 ¥12,873 ¥ (29)
Corporate bonds  ............................................................................................................... 48,637 48,578 (58)

Total  ....................................................................................................................................... ¥61,540 ¥61,451 ¥ (88)
Grand total  ............................................................................................................................. ¥82,450 ¥82,732 ¥281

March 31, 2021 Millions of yen

Securities with higher balances than acquisition costs Acquisition 
cost

Carrying 
amount Difference

Equity securities ...................................................................................................................... ¥     151 ¥     679 ¥527
Bonds:

Japanese municipal bonds  ................................................................................................ 16,815 16,821 6
Corporate bonds  ............................................................................................................... 19,322 19,332 9

Total  ....................................................................................................................................... ¥36,290 ¥36,833 ¥543

Millions of yen

Securities with the same or lower balances than acquisition costs Acquisition 
cost

Carrying 
amount Difference

Bonds:
Japanese municipal bonds  ................................................................................................ ¥  4,285 ¥ 4,284 ¥ (0)
Corporate bonds  ............................................................................................................... 30,194 30,179 (15)

Total  ....................................................................................................................................... ¥34,480 ¥34,464 ¥ (15)
Grand total  ............................................................................................................................. ¥70,770 ¥71,298 ¥527
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(3) Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities on the consolidated balance sheets were as follows:
Millions of yen

March 31 2022 2021

Unrealized gains (losses):

On available-for-sale securities  .......................................................................................... ¥ 874 ¥ 635

Deferred tax liabilities  ........................................................................................................ (267) (194)

Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes  ............................................ ¥ 606 ¥ 440

Note:  Unrealized gains (losses) on investments in partnership, which do not have a market price, of ¥592 million and ¥107 million as of March 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively, are included in “Available-for-sale securities.”

7. Assets Pledged
Available-for-sale securities were pledged as collateral for exchange settlements and overdraft transactions with the Bank of 
Japan. The securities pledged amounted to ¥82,212 million and ¥70,618 million as of March 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively.

Other assets included guarantee deposits of ¥2,371 million and ¥2,124 million as of March 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively, and deposits to Central Counterparty of ¥1,700 million and ¥800 million as of March 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively.

8. Loans
Loans based on the Banking Act and the Law concerning Emergency Measures for the Revitalization of the Financial 
Functions are as follows:

Loans are defined as corporate bonds included in “Securities” in the consolidated balance sheet (the whole or part of the 
redemption of the principal and payment of interest are guaranteed and limited to the corporate bonds issued through private 
placement of the securities (as provided for by Article 2, Paragraph 3 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act)), loans, 
foreign exchanges, accrued interest and suspense payments included in “Other assets,” items recorded in customers’ 
liabilities for acceptances and guarantees, and lent securities (limited to loan contract for use or lease contract) .

Millions of yen

March 31 2022 2021

Loans under Bankruptcy/rehabilitation or similar proceedings  ................................................. ¥55 ¥45

Risk loans  ............................................................................................................................... 6 0

Delinquent loans past due over three months  ......................................................................... 0 0

Restructured loans  ................................................................................................................. — —

Total  ....................................................................................................................................... ¥61 ¥46

Loans under bankruptcy/rehabilitation or similar proceedings are loans to borrowers under bankruptcy or similar 
proceedings due to the reasons such as commencement of bankruptcy proceedings, commencement of rehabilitation 
proceedings, petition for rehabilitation proceedings, etc.

Risk loans are loans which are not likely to be repaid with the principal and interest according to the contract due to the 
deteriorated financial positions and operating performances of the debtors, and which do not fall in the category of loans 
under bankruptcy/rehabilitation or similar proceedings.

Delinquent loans past due over three months are loans on which the payment of principal and/or interest is past due for 
three months or more from the due date, and which do not fall in the category of loans under bankruptcy/rehabilitation or 
similar proceedings, or risk loans.

Restructured loans are loans on which terms and conditions have been amended in favor of borrowers, in order to facilitate 
or assist the borrowers’ restructuring by reducing the rate of interest, by providing a grace period for the payment of principal 
or interest or by loan forgiveness, and which do not fall into the aforementioned categories.

The amounts of above loans are before deducting allowance for credit losses. 
(Change in presentation method)
Following the enforcement of the “Cabinet Office Ordinance for Partial Revision of the Regulation for Enforcement of the 
Banking Act” (Cabinet Office Ordinance No. 3, January 24, 2020) effective on March 31, 2022, the categories of “Risk 
management loans” of the Banking Act are presented in accordance with the disclosure requirements based on the Law 
concerning Emergency Measures for the Revitalization of the Financial Functions. 

9. Tangible Fixed Assets
Tangible fixed assets as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Buildings  ................................................................................................................................ ¥ 1,784 ¥ 1,690

ATMs  ...................................................................................................................................... 20,947 14,342

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... 3,839 3,185

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥26,571 ¥19,218

The accumulated depreciation of tangible fixed assets as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 amounted to ¥55,966 million and 
¥62,219 million, respectively.

10. Intangible Fixed Assets
Intangible fixed assets as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Software  ................................................................................................................................. ¥28,605 ¥26,215

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... 4,988 8,642

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥33,593 ¥34,857

11. Other Assets
Other assets as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Accrued income  ..................................................................................................................... ¥  9,877 ¥  9,672

Prepaid expenses  ................................................................................................................... 2,634 2,846

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... 11,550 4,923

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥24,062 ¥17,442

12. Deposits
Deposits as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Deposits  ................................................................................................................................. ¥789,937 ¥782,658

Negotiable certificates of deposit  ............................................................................................ 750 750

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥790,687 ¥783,408
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13. Borrowed Money 
Borrowed money as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Borrowed money from banks and insurance companies  ......................................................... ¥1,936 ¥591

The weighted average interest rate applicable to the balance of total borrowed money as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 was 
5.40% and 6.17%, respectively.

The repayment schedule on borrowed money as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:
Millions of yen

Borrowed money 2022 2021

Within one year  ....................................................................................................................... ¥1,936 ¥591

Over one year but within two years  ......................................................................................... — —

Over two years but within three years  ..................................................................................... — —

Over three years but within four years  ..................................................................................... — —

Over four years but within five years  ........................................................................................ — —

Over five years  ........................................................................................................................ — —

Above borrowed money is recorded by a consolidated subsidiary of which fiscal year end is December 31. 

14. Bonds
Bonds as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Unsecured:

0.80% unsecured bonds due March 20, 2023, date of issue March 7, 2013  ..........................
¥  20,000

[20,000] ¥  20,000 
0.53% unsecured bonds due December 20, 2024, date of issue December 17, 2014  ........... 15,000 15,000 

0.39% unsecured bonds due September 17, 2027, date of issue October 20, 2017  .............. 30,000 30,000 

0.16% unsecured bonds due December 20, 2023, date of issue January 25, 2019  ............... 20,000 20,000

0.38% unsecured bonds due December 20, 2028, date of issue January 25, 2019  ............... 20,000 20,000

Total  ..................................................................................................................................
¥105,000

[20,000] ¥105,000 

[  ] denotes a current portion to be repaid within one year.

The repayment schedule on bonds as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 was as follows:
Millions of yen

2022 2021

Within one year  ....................................................................................................................... ¥20,000 ¥ —

Over one year but within two years  ......................................................................................... 20,000 20,000

Over two years but within three years  ..................................................................................... 15,000 20,000

Over three years but within four years  ..................................................................................... — 15,000

Over four years but within five years  ........................................................................................ — —

Over five years  ........................................................................................................................ 50,000 50,000

15. Other liabilities
Other liabilities as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Accrued expenses  .................................................................................................................. ¥10,440 ¥  7,945

Asset retirement obligations  .................................................................................................... 696 677

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... 13,612 12,217

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥24,749 ¥20,839

16. Employees’ Severance and Retirement Benefits
The Bank and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries have employee pension plans that are defined benefit pension 
plans, in addition to the optional defined contribution pension plans. 

Certain overseas consolidated subsidiaries have defined benefit retirement payment plans, in addition to defined 
contribution pension plans.

Defined benefit plan
Fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021

(1) Movement in projected benefit obligation
Millions of yen

2022 2021

Balance at the beginning of the year  ....................................................................................... ¥3,281 ¥3,077

Service cost  ............................................................................................................................ 287 270

Interest cost  ........................................................................................................................... 16 15

Actuarial difference  ................................................................................................................. 117 24

Benefits paid  .......................................................................................................................... (162) (107)

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... (0) (0)

Balance at the end of the year  ................................................................................................ ¥3,540 ¥3,281

(2) Movement in plan assets
Millions of yen

2022 2021

Balance at the beginning of the year  ....................................................................................... ¥4,184 ¥3,452

Expected return on plan assets  .............................................................................................. 83 69

Actuarial difference  ................................................................................................................. 125 472

Contributions paid by the employer  ........................................................................................ 347 297

Benefits paid  .......................................................................................................................... (162) (107)

Balance at the end of the year  ................................................................................................ ¥4,578 ¥4,184
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(3)  Reconciliation from projected benefit obligation and plan assets to liability and assets for retirement benefits 
recorded on the consolidated balance sheet

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Funded projected benefit obligation  ........................................................................................ ¥ 3,527 ¥ 3,274

Plan assets  ............................................................................................................................. (4,578) (4,184)

(1,051) (909)

Unfunded projected benefit obligation ..................................................................................... 13 6

Total net liability (asset) for retirement benefits at the end of the year  ....................................... (1,038) (903)

Liability for retirement benefits  ................................................................................................. 13 6

Asset for retirement benefits  ................................................................................................... (1,051) (909)

Total net liability (asset) for retirement benefits at the end of the year  ....................................... ¥ (1,038) ¥ (903)

(4) Retirement benefit costs
Millions of yen

2022 2021

Service cost  ............................................................................................................................ ¥287 ¥270

Interest cost  ........................................................................................................................... 16 15

Expected return on plan assets  .............................................................................................. (83) (69)

Amortization of actuarial difference  ......................................................................................... (62) (19)

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... (1) 0

Retirement benefit costs  ......................................................................................................... ¥156 ¥197

(5) Adjustments for retirement benefits 
 The components of items recognized in adjustments for retirement benefits (pre-tax) were as follows:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Actuarial difference  ................................................................................................................. ¥(54) ¥428

Total amount recognized for the year  ...................................................................................... ¥(54) ¥428

(6) Accumulated adjustments for retirement benefits 
 The components of items recognized in accumulated adjustments for retirement benefits (pre-tax) were as follows:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Unrecognized actuarial difference  ........................................................................................... ¥(462) ¥(517)

Total balance at the end of the year  ........................................................................................ ¥(462) ¥(517)

(7) Plan assets
(a) Plan assets comprise:

2022 2021

Bonds  .................................................................................................................................... 60% 55%

Equity securities ...................................................................................................................... 29% 36%

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... 11% 9%

Total  ....................................................................................................................................... 100% 100%

(b) Long-term expected rate of return on plan assets
  Current and target asset allocations, historical and expected returns on various categories of plan assets have been 

considered in determining the long-term expected rate of return.

(8) Actuarial assumptions
  The principal actuarial assumptions, presented in weighted average rates, as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 were as 

follows:

2022 2021

Discount rate  .......................................................................................................................... 0.5% 0.5%

Long-term expected rate of return on plan assets ................................................................... 2.0% 2.0%

Expected rate of salary increase  ............................................................................................. 2.5% 2.5%

Note: Disclosure of information on overseas consolidated subsidiaries was omitted since it is immaterial.

Defined contribution plan
The amount of required contribution to the defined contribution plans of the Bank and certain domestic and overseas 
consolidated subsidiaries for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 was ¥58 million and ¥52 million, respectively.

17. Net Assets
Under the Company Law of Japan (the “Company Law”), the entire amount of the issue price for shares is required to be 
accounted for as capital, although a company may, by resolution of its Board of Directors, account for an amount not 
exceeding one-half of the issue price of the new shares as additional paid-in capital, which is included in capital surplus.

The payment of dividends by the Bank is subject to restrictions under Article 18 of the Banking Law of Japan (the “Banking 
Law”). The Banking Law provides that an amount equal to at least 20% of cash dividends and other cash appropriations shall 
be appropriated and set aside as a legal earnings reserve until the total amount of the legal earnings reserve and additional 
paid-in capital equals 100% of common stock. The legal earnings reserve and additional paid-in capital may be used to 
eliminate or reduce a deficit by a resolution of a shareholders’ meeting or may be capitalized by a resolution of the Board of 
Directors. On condition that the total amount of the legal earnings reserve and additional paid-in capital remains equal to or 
exceeds 100% of common stock, they are available for distributions or certain other purposes by a resolution of a 
shareholders’ meeting. 

The maximum amount that the Bank can distribute as dividends is calculated based on the non-consolidated financial 
statements of the Bank in accordance with the Company Law.

18. Fees and Commissions Income
Fees and commissions income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Remittance-related fee income  ............................................................................................... ¥    3,362 ¥    3,438

ATM-related fee income  .......................................................................................................... 121,731 123,501

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... 6,225 4,769

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥131,320 ¥131,709

19. Fees and Commissions Expenses
Fees and commissions expenses for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Remittance-related fee expenses  ............................................................................................ ¥  1,631 ¥  1,773

ATM placement fee expenses  ................................................................................................. 28,345 28,282

ATM-related fee expenses  ...................................................................................................... 2,327 2,444

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... 3,511 2,859

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥35,816 ¥35,360
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20. Other Operating Income
Other operating income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Gains on foreign exchange transactions  ................................................................................. ¥390 ¥201

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥390 ¥201

21. General and Administrative Expenses
Main items and amounts of general and administrative expenses for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were as 
follows:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Salary and allowance  .............................................................................................................. ¥  8,507 ¥  7,608

Retirement benefit costs  ......................................................................................................... 215 249

Depreciation of fixed assets  .................................................................................................... 16,388 14,070

Business outsourcing expenses  .............................................................................................. 22,600 21,179

22. Other Income
Other income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Gain on sales of fixed assets  .................................................................................................. ¥     19 ¥   273

Gain on change in equity  ........................................................................................................ 415 —

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... 924 1,746

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥1,359 ¥2,019

23. Other Expenses
Other expenses for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Losses on disposal of fixed assets  .......................................................................................... ¥   773 ¥   258

Impairment losses  .................................................................................................................. 763 —

Provision of allowance for credit losses  ................................................................................... 415 63

Equity in losses of affiliates  ...................................................................................................... 694 796

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... 638 559

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥3,284 ¥1,677

24. Impairment Losses
Year ended March 31, 2022
Impairment losses on fixed assets for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

Location Purpose Classification 2022

Japan Business assets

Buildings  .............................................................................................. ¥  13

Other tangible fixed assets .................................................................... 2

Software  ............................................................................................... 670

Other intangible fixed assets  ................................................................. 27

Other assets  ......................................................................................... 49

Total  ..................................................................................................... ¥763

The Group identifies by company as the smallest identifiable group of assets that independently generates cash inflows.
For the asset groups above, impairment losses are recognized by reducing their book value to the recoverable amount as 

their performance is below initial plans with no expectation of full recovery.
The recoverable amount of asset groups is measured at value in use, while carrying amount of assets with no future 

potential cash flow are reduced to zero.

Year ended March 31, 2021
Not applicable

25. Other Comprehensive Income
Other comprehensive income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes

Amount arising during the year  .......................................................................................... ¥ 605 ¥ 397

Reclassification adjustment  ............................................................................................... (365) (482)

Amount before income tax effect  ................................................................................. 239 (85)

Income tax effect  ......................................................................................................... (73) 26

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥ 166 ¥  (59)

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Amount arising during the year  .......................................................................................... ¥ 1,353 ¥(369)

Reclassification adjustment  ............................................................................................... — —

Amount before income tax effect  ................................................................................. 1,353 (369)

Income tax effect  ......................................................................................................... — —

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥ 1,353 ¥(369)

Adjustments for retirement benefits

Amount arising during the year  .......................................................................................... ¥ 8 ¥ 447

Reclassification adjustment  ............................................................................................... (62) (19)

Amount before income tax effect  ................................................................................. (54) 428

Income tax effect  ......................................................................................................... 15 (131)

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥ (38) ¥ 296

Total other comprehensive income .......................................................................................... ¥ 1,480 ¥(131)
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26. Income Taxes
Income taxes of the Bank and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries in the consolidated statements of income consist of 
corporation tax, inhabitant tax and enterprise tax. 
(1) Significant components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carry forwards 3  ......................................................................................... ¥ 2,528 ¥ 2,006

Depreciation of fixed assets and impairment losses  ................................................................ 950 720

Enterprise tax  ......................................................................................................................... 271 348

Reserve for bonuses  ............................................................................................................... 238 145

Reserve for stocks payment  ................................................................................................... 237 194

Asset retirement obligations  .................................................................................................... 201 197

Allowance for credit losses  ..................................................................................................... 156 27

Accounts payable

(Formerly recorded as reserve for retirement benefits for directors and  
statutory auditors)  ............................................................................................................. 6 6

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... 287 270

Subtotal deferred tax assets  ................................................................................................... 4,877 3,918

Valuation allowance for net operating loss carry forwards 3  ..................................................... (489) (1,902)

Valuation allowance for total future deductible temporary differences  ...................................... (466) (750)

Subtotal valuation allowance 2  ................................................................................................ (956) (2,652)

Total deferred tax assets  ......................................................................................................... ¥ 3,921 ¥ 1,265

Deferred tax liabilities:

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities .................................................... ¥ (267) ¥ (194)

Intangible fixed assets recognized with business combination  ................................................ (48) (87)

Adjustment for tangible fixed assets related to asset retirement obligations  ............................. (19) (22)

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... (609) (340)

Total deferred tax liabilities  ...................................................................................................... (945) (645)

Net deferred tax assets  ........................................................................................................... ¥ 2,976 ¥ 620

Notes: 1. Net deferred tax assets are included in the following items in the consolidated balance sheets.

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Deferred tax assets  ................................................................................................................. ¥2,979 ¥707

Deferred tax liabilities  .............................................................................................................. ¥       3 ¥  87

 2.  Valuation allowance decreased by ¥1,696 million mainly because valuation allowance on tax loss carryforwards of FCTI, Inc., a consolidated subsidiary, 
decreased by ¥1,631 million.

 3. Net operating loss carry forwards and its deferred tax assets by term as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

March 31, 2022 Millions of yen

Within one 
year

Over one 
year but 

within two 
years

Over two 
years but 

within three 
years

Over three 
years but 
within four 

years

Over four 
years but 
within five 

years

Over five 
years Total

Net operating loss carry forwards 1  ........ ¥40 ¥— ¥— ¥51 ¥89 ¥2,346 ¥2,528
Valuation allowance  ............................... ¥ — ¥— ¥— ¥ — ¥ — ¥  (489) ¥  (489)
Deferred tax assets  ................................ ¥40 ¥— ¥— ¥51 ¥89 ¥1,857 ¥2,038

March 31, 2021 Millions of yen

Within one 
year

Over one 
year but 

within two 
years

Over two 
years but 

within three 
years

Over three 
years but 
within four 

years

Over four 
years but 
within five 

years

Over five 
years Total

Net operating loss carry forwards 1  ........ ¥ 17 ¥ 45 ¥ 12 ¥ 5 ¥ 58 ¥ 1,866 ¥ 2,006
Valuation allowance  ............................... ¥ (17) ¥ — ¥ (12) ¥ (5) ¥ — ¥ (1,866) ¥ (1,902)
Deferred tax assets  ................................ ¥ — ¥ 45 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 58 ¥ — ¥ 104

Note: 1. Net operating loss carry forwards is the amount after multiplying by the statutory tax rate.

(2)  Reconciliation of the material difference between the statutory tax rate and the effective income tax rate for the fiscal 
years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

2022 2021

Statutory tax rate  .................................................................................................................... 30.62% 30.62%

Non-deductible expenses, including entertainment expenses  ................................................. 0.08 0.06

Increase (decrease) in valuation allowance  .............................................................................. (6.81) (1.09)

Equity in losses of affiliates  ...................................................................................................... 0.31 0.68

Deductible losses on valuation of shares in subsidiaries and affiliates  ...................................... — (2.58)

Other  ...................................................................................................................................... (0.37) 0.12

Effective tax rate  ..................................................................................................................... 23.83% 27.81%

27. Changes in Net Assets
(1) Information on shares issued and treasury stock:
  Type and number of shares issued and treasury stock for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were as 

follows:

Year ended March 31, 2022 Thousands of shares
April 1, 
2021 Increase Decrease March 31, 

2022

Shares issued

Common stock 1  ........................................................................................... 1,179,308 — — 1,179,308 

Total  .............................................................................................................. 1,179,308 — — 1,179,308 

Treasury stock

Common stock 2 and 3  ..................................................................................... 3,587 415 21 3,982

Total  .............................................................................................................. 3,587 415 21 3,982
Notes: 1.  Increase in number of shares of treasury stock: 415 thousand shares due to acquisition of the Bank’s shares by the ESOP Trust.

Decrease in number of shares of treasury stock: 21 thousand shares due to issuance of the Bank’s shares held by the ESOP Trust 
 2.  The number of shares of treasury stock as of April 1, 2021 and March 31, 2022 includes 3,587 thousand shares and 3,981 thousand shares of the Bank 

held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust, respectively. 

Year ended March 31, 2021 Thousands of shares
April 1, 
2020 Increase Decrease March 31, 

2021

Shares issued

Common stock 1  ........................................................................................... 1,179,129 179 — 1,179,308 

Total  .............................................................................................................. 1,179,129 179 — 1,179,308 

Treasury stock

Common stock 2 and 3  ..................................................................................... 798 2,853 64 3,587

Total  .............................................................................................................. 798 2,853 64 3,587
Notes: 1. Increase in number of shares issued: 179 thousand shares due to exercise of subscription rights 
 2. Increase in number of shares of treasury stock: 2,853 thousand shares due to acquisition of the Bank’s shares by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust.

Decrease in number of shares of treasury stock: 64 thousand shares due to issuance of the Bank’s shares held by the BIP Trust 
 3.  The number of shares of treasury stock as of April 1, 2020 and March 31, 2021 includes 798 thousand shares and 3,587 thousand shares of the Bank 

held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust, respectively. 

(2) Information on subscription rights to shares:
 Not applicable
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(3) Information on dividends:
 (a)  Dividends paid in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Year ended March 31, 2022 (Millions of yen, except per share amounts)

Type of shares Aggregate amount 
of dividends Source of dividends Cash dividends

per share Record date Effective date

Common stock 1 ¥6,486 Retained earnings ¥5.50 March 31, 2021 June 1, 2021

Common stock 2 ¥6,486  Retained earnings ¥5.50 September 30, 2021 December 1, 2021
Notes: 1. Date of resolution: Board of Directors meeting held on May 21, 2021 

Aggregate amount of dividends determined by the resolution of Board of Directors on May 21, 2021 includes ¥19 million of dividends on the Bank’s shares 
held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust.

 2. Date of resolution: Board of Directors meeting held on November 5, 2021
Aggregate amount of dividends determined by the resolution of Board of Directors on November 5, 2021 includes ¥19 million of dividends on the Bank’s 
shares held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust.

Year ended March 31, 2021 (Millions of yen, except per share amounts)

Type of shares Aggregate amount 
of dividends Source of dividends Cash dividends

per share Record date Effective date

Common stock 1 ¥6,485 Retained earnings ¥5.50 March 31, 2020 June 1, 2020

Common stock 2 ¥6,486  Retained earnings ¥5.50 September 30, 2020 December 1, 2020
Notes: 1. Date of resolution: Board of Directors meeting held on May 22, 2020 

Aggregate amount of dividends determined by the resolution of Board of Directors on May 22, 2020 includes ¥4 million of dividends on the Bank’s shares 
held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust.

 2. Date of resolution: Board of Directors meeting held on November 6, 2020
Aggregate amount of dividends determined by the resolution of Board of Directors on November 6, 2020 includes ¥19 million of dividends on the Bank’s 
shares held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust.

 (b)  Dividends to be paid in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2023
(Millions of yen, except per share amounts)

Type of shares Aggregate amount 
of dividends Source of dividends Cash dividends

per share Record date Effective date

Common stock ¥6,486 Retained earnings ¥5.50 March 31, 2022  June 1, 2022
Note: Date of resolution: Board of Directors meeting held on May 20, 2022

Aggregate amount of dividends to be paid includes ¥21 million of dividends on the Bank’s shares held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust.

Cash dividends per share based on business results for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022 were ¥11.00 annually with the 
year-end dividend of ¥5.50 added to the interim dividend of ¥5.50. 

28. Related Party Transactions
Related party transactions for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:
(1) Transactions between the Bank and related parties
 (a)  Parent company and major shareholders
Year ended March 31, 2022

Amounts of transactions Balance at the end of fiscal year

Related party Category Description of transactions Millions of yen Account title Millions of yen

Seven-Eleven  
Japan Co., Ltd. 1

Other related 
companies

Payment of ATM 
  placement fee 
  expenses 2

¥14,596 Accrued expenses 3 ¥1,373

Notes: 1. 38.47% of the outstanding common stock of the Bank is directly owned by Seven-Eleven Japan Co., Ltd. as of March 31, 2022.
 2.  Terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions:

The terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions associated with ATM placement fees are determined by comprehensively 
taking into account compensation for delegated administrative work and Seven-Eleven Japan’s infrastructure costs.

 3. The accrued expenses include consumption tax.

Year ended March 31, 2021
Amounts of transactions Balance at the end of fiscal year

Related party Category Description of transactions Millions of yen Account title Millions of yen

Seven-Eleven  
Japan Co., Ltd. 1

Other related 
companies

Payment of ATM 
  placement fee 
  expenses 2

¥14,116 Accrued expenses 3 ¥1,381

Notes: 1. 38.46% of the outstanding common stock of the Bank is directly owned by Seven-Eleven Japan Co., Ltd. as of March 31, 2021.
 2.  Terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions:

The terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions associated with ATM placement fees are determined by comprehensively 
taking into account compensation for delegated administrative work and Seven-Eleven Japan’s infrastructure costs.

 3. The accrued expenses include consumption tax.

 (b)  The Bank’s unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates
 There is no material transaction to be noted for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.

 (c)  Company that has the same parent company as the Bank, and subsidiaries of the Bank’s other related companies
 There is no material transaction to be noted for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.

 (d)  The Bank’s directors and major individual shareholders
 There is no transaction for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.

(2) Transactions between the Bank’s consolidated subsidiaries and related parties

 (a)  Parent company and major shareholders
 There is no material transaction to be noted for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.

 (b)  The Bank’s unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates
 There is no material transaction to be noted for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.

 (c)  Company that has the same parent company as the Bank, and subsidiaries of the Bank’s other related companies
Year ended March 31, 2022

Amounts of transactions Balance at the end of fiscal year

Related party Category Description of transactions Millions of yen Account title Millions of yen

7-Eleven, Inc.
Same parent 

company

Payment of ATM 
  placement fee 
  expenses 

¥11,707 Accrued expenses ¥1,124

Note: Terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions:
The terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions associated with ATM placement fees are determined by comprehensively taking 
into account 7-Eleven, Inc.’s infrastructure costs.
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Year ended March 31, 2021
Amounts of transactions Balance at the end of fiscal year

Related party Category Description of transactions Millions of yen Account title Millions of yen

7-Eleven, Inc.
Same parent 

company

Payment of ATM 
  placement fee 
  expenses 

¥11,337 Accrued expenses ¥832

Note: Terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions:
The terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions associated with ATM placement fees are determined by comprehensively taking 
into account 7-Eleven, Inc.’s infrastructure costs.

(3) Notes on the parent company or any significant affiliated company
 (a)  Parent company
 Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd. (listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange)

29. Lease Transactions
Finance Leases:
Disclosure is omitted as it is immaterial.

Operating Leases:
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

Millions of yen

2022 2021

Due within one year  ................................................................................................................ ¥   784 ¥   589

Due after one year  .................................................................................................................. 424 625

Total  .................................................................................................................................. ¥1,208 ¥1,214

30. Asset Retirement Obligations
(1) Overview of asset retirement obligations
  Asset retirement obligations are based upon estimated future restoration obligations pursuant to real estate lease 

agreements of head office and ATM installation agreements of the overseas consolidated subsidiaries.

(2) Method of calculating the amount of the asset retirement obligations
 Estimated useful life: 1-18 years
 Discount rate: 0.0-3.2%

(3) The changes in asset retirement obligations for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:
Millions of yen

2022 2021

Balance at the beginning of the year  ....................................................................................... ¥677 ¥785

Increase due to acquisition of tangible fixed assets  ................................................................. 51 1

Accretion expense  .................................................................................................................. 4 4

Obligations settled in current period  ........................................................................................ (68) (93)

Other increase (decrease)  ....................................................................................................... 32 (20)

Balance at the end of the year  ................................................................................................ ¥696 ¥677

31. Revenue Recognition
(1) Information on disaggregated revenue from contracts with customers
 Information on disaggregated revenue from contracts with customers is described in Note 33 “Segment Information.”

(2) Basic information to understand revenue from contracts with customers
  The Bank and its consolidated subsidiaries conduct banking business, focusing on the ATM platform business and 

provide services such as accepting or dispensing cash which the users of the partner financial institutions deposit in or 
withdraw from their deposit accounts when they use the Bank’s ATMs. The Bank receives the service fee income from 
providing these ATM services. The transaction price is principally determined by multiplying the number of usage of ATMs 
with the unit price of the service fee based on the contracts with partner financial institutions. The Bank recognizes 
revenue at the time when the users of the partner financial institutions use the ATM service of the Bank and the related 
considerations are received generally within the following month after the performance obligations are satisfied.

(3)  Information to understand the amounts of revenue from contracts with customers for the fiscal year and after the end 
of the fiscal year

 • Amounts of receivables from contracts with customers are as follows:
Millions of yen

April 1, 2021 March 31, 2022

Receivables from contracts with customers  ............................................................................ ¥7,609 ¥7,239

(Note) Receivables from contracts with customers are included in “Other assets” of the consolidated balance sheet.

32. Per Share Data
Amounts per share as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the fiscal years then ended were as follows:

Yen

March 31 2022 2021

Net assets per share  ............................................................................................................... ¥206.33 ¥198.40

Yen

Years ended March 31 2022 2021

Net income per share  ............................................................................................................. ¥ 17.71 ¥22.01

Net income per share (diluted)*  ............................................................................................... ¥ — ¥22.00

*Net income per share (diluted) for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022 is not presented since there is no potentially dilutive shares.

Notes: 1.  Net assets per share is calculated based on the following: The Bank has introduced the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust and the Bank’s shares held by these 
Trusts are included in treasury stock that is deducted from the total number of shares issued at the fiscal year end when calculating net assets per share. 
The number of shares deducted for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were 3,981 thousand and 3,587 thousand, respectively.

Millions of yen, except thousands of shares

March 31 2022 2021

Net assets  .............................................................................................................................................. ¥   244,113 ¥   234,676
Amount excluded from net assets  .......................................................................................................... 1,606 1,407

Non-controlling interests ...................................................................................................................... 1,606 1,407
Net assets attributable to common stock at the fiscal year end ............................................................... ¥   242,506 ¥   233,269
Number of shares of common stock at the fiscal year end used for the calculation of 

net assets per share  ............................................................................................................................ 1,175,325 1,175,720
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 2.  Net income per share and net income per share (diluted) are calculated based on the following: The Bank has introduced the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust 
and the Bank’s shares held by these Trusts are included in treasury stock that is deducted from the weighted average number of shares during the fiscal 
year when calculating net income per share and diluted net income per share. The weighted average number of shares deducted during the fiscal years 
ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were 3,711 thousand and 2,511 thousand, respectively. 

Millions of yen, except thousands of shares

Years ended March 31 2022 2021

Net income per share
Net income attributable to owners of the parent  .................................................................................. ¥     20,827 ¥     25,905
Amount not attributable to common shareholders  ............................................................................... — —
Net income attributable to common shareholders of the parent  ........................................................... ¥     20,827 ¥     25,905
Average number of shares of common stock during the year  .............................................................. 1,175,596 1,176,755

Net income per share (diluted)
Adjustment for net income attributable to owners of the parent  ........................................................... ¥ — ¥ —
Increase in number of shares of common stock  .................................................................................. — 254

Subscription rights to shares (inclusive)  ............................................................................................ — 254

Description of dilutive shares not included in the calculation 
of net income per share (diluted) because the shares have no dilutive effects  ...................................... — —

33. Segment Information
(1) Overview of reportable segments
  The Group’s reportable segments are units of the Group for which discrete financial information is available and are 

subject to the periodical review by the Board of Directors, which is the decision maker of the allocation of management 
resources and assess performances. The Group has two reportable segments: “Domestic business segment” and 
“Overseas business segment.” Domestic business segment consists of banking services focusing on ATM platform 
business in Japan while Overseas business segment consists of ATM services engaged primarily in the U.S., Indonesia 
and the Philippines.

(2)  Calculation method for ordinary income, segment profit or loss, assets, liabilities and other material items by 
reportable segment

  Accounting treatment for reportable segments is consistent with those described in “2. Significant Accounting Policies.” 
Segment profit is based on ordinary profit. 

  Ordinary income from internal transactions is based on transaction prices between third parties.

(3)  Information on ordinary income, segment profit or loss, assets and other items and on disaggregated revenue are as 
follows:

Year ended March 31, 2022 Millions of yen

Reportable segment
Adjustments Consolidated

Domestic Overseas Total

Ordinary income:

ATM fee ¥     97,427 ¥24,303 ¥   121,731 ¥     — ¥   121,731

Other 9,454 133 9,588 — 9,588

Ordinary income from customer contracts 106,882 24,437 131,320 — 131,320

Other 5,119 255 5,374 (26) 5,347

Ordinary income from external customers 112,001 24,693 136,694 (26) 136,667

Internal transactions 10 — 10 (10) —

Total ¥   112,012 ¥24,693 ¥   136,705 ¥    (37) ¥   136,667

Segment profit ¥     27,035 ¥  1,282 ¥     28,317 ¥    (62) ¥     28,255

Segment assets ¥1,214,380 ¥30,617 ¥1,244,997 ¥(23,374) ¥1,221,623

Other:

Depreciation ¥     15,150 ¥  1,238 ¥     16,388 ¥ — ¥     16,388

Interest income 4,015 17 4,032 — 4,032

Interest expenses 507 94 602 — 602

Equity in losses of affiliates (694) — (694) — (694)

Impairment losses 763 — 763 — 763

Investments in equity-method affiliates 1,424 — 1,424 — 1,424

Increase in tangible 
and intangible fixed assets 19,612 4,100 23,712 — 23,712

Notes: 1. Ordinary income is stated in lieu of sales of general enterprises.
 2. Adjustments are mainly elimination of internal transactions.

Year ended March 31, 2021 Millions of yen

Reportable segment
Adjustments Consolidated

Domestic Overseas Total

Ordinary income:

External customers ¥   112,792 ¥24,653 ¥   137,446 ¥ (178) ¥   137,267

Internal transactions 15 — 15 (15) —

Total ¥   112,808 ¥24,653 ¥   137,461 ¥ (194) ¥   137,267

Segment profit (loss) ¥     33,751 ¥  1,836 ¥     35,588 ¥ 52 ¥     35,640

Segment assets ¥1,198,326 ¥14,005 ¥1,212,332 ¥(15,173) ¥1,197,158

Other:

Depreciation ¥     13,120 ¥     950 ¥     14,070 ¥ — ¥     14,070

Interest income 3,606 16 3,623 (13) 3,609

Interest expenses 524 28 553 (13) 539

Equity in losses of affiliates (796) — (796) — (796)

Investments in equity-method affiliates 1,703 — 1,703 — 1,703
Increase in tangible 
and intangible fixed assets

24,467 664 25,132 — 25,132

Notes: 1. Ordinary income is stated in lieu of sales of general enterprises.
 2. Adjustments are mainly elimination of internal transactions.
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Related Information
(1) Information by service
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022

March 31, 2022 Millions of yen

Securities with higher balances than acquisition costs ATM related 
business Other Total

Ordinary income attributable to external customers ¥121,731 ¥14,936 ¥136,667
Note: Ordinary income is stated in lieu of sales of general enterprises.

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021

March 31, 2021 Millions of yen

Securities with higher balances than acquisition costs ATM related 
business Other Total

Ordinary income attributable to external customers ¥123,501 ¥13,765 ¥137,267
Note: Ordinary income is stated in lieu of sales of general enterprises.

(2) Information by geographical area
 (a)  Ordinary income
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022

Millions of yen

Japan U.S. Other Total

¥112,047 ¥22,675 ¥1,944 ¥136,667

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021
Millions of yen

Japan U.S. Other Total

¥112,610 ¥24,234 ¥421 ¥137,267
Notes: 1. Ordinary income is stated in lieu of sales of general enterprises.
 2. Ordinary income is classified into countries or regions based on the location of the Group’s regional headquarters.

 (b)  Tangible fixed assets
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022

Millions of yen

Japan U.S. Other Total

¥21,353 ¥1,394 ¥3,823 ¥26,571

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021
The amount of tangible fixed assets located in Japan exceeds 90% of that on the consolidated balance sheet as of March 
31, 2021; therefore, geographical information is omitted.

(3) Information by major customer
  Disclosure is omitted because there were no specific customers whose ordinary income accounts for 10% or more of 

ordinary income in the consolidated statements of income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.

Information on impairment losses on fixed assets for each reportable segment
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022

Millions of yen

Reportable segment
Other Total

Year ended March 31, 2022 Domestic Overseas Total

Impairment losses ¥763 ¥— ¥763 ¥— ¥763

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021
None

Information on amortization of goodwill and its remaining balance for each reportable segment
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022

None

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021
None

34. Significant Subsequent Events
None
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Shareholder name/title Number of shares
(Thousands of shares)

Holding
(%)

Seven-Eleven Japan Co., Ltd. 453,639 38.46

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (trust account) 93,355 7.91

Ito-Yokado Co., Ltd. 46,961 3.98

York-Benimaru Co., Ltd. 45,000 3.81

Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd. (trust account) 42,117 3.57

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 15,000 1.27

The Dai-ichi Life Insurance Company, Limited 15,000 1.27

MUFG Bank, Ltd. 10,000 0.84

Nomura Research Institute, Ltd. 10,000 0.84

NEC Corporation 10,000 0.84

(Holding ratios have been truncated to the second decimal place.)
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Company Name Seven Bank, Ltd.
Head Office 1-6-1, Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 100-0005, Japan
Chairman and Representative Director Yasuaki Funatake
President and Representative Director Masaaki Matsuhashi
Established April 10, 2001
Initiated Operations May 7, 2001
Common Stock 30,724 million yen
Number of Shares Issued 1,179,308,000

Number of 
Employees

515 (Non-consolidated, excluding officers, executive offi-
cers, temporary staff and part-time employees)

Credit Ratings [S&P] Long-term counterparty issuer rating “A”
Outlook “negative”
Short-term counterparty issuer rating “A-1”
[Rating & Investment Information, Inc. (R&I)]
Issuer rating “AA—” Outlook “stable”

 The Company (As of June 30, 2022)

 Consolidated subsidiaries (As of March 31, 2022)

Company Name FCTI, Inc. PT. ABADI TAMBAH MULIA INTERNASIONAL Bank Business Factory Co., Ltd. Seven Payment Services, Ltd.

Head Office Los Angeles, California, USA Jakarta Special Capital Region, 
Indonesia

134 Kodo-cho, Hodogaya-ku, Yokoha-
ma-shi, Kanagawa Prefecture, Japan

1-6-1 Marunouchi,  Chiyo-
da-ku, Tokyo, Japan

Representative 
(title/name)

President: Wayne Malone President: Jo Watabe President and Representative 
Director: Sumito Inoue

President and Representative 
Director: Satoshi Wada

Established August 25, 1993 June 10, 2014 July 1, 2014 January 11, 2018

Common Stock 19 million U.S. dollars 690,390 million Indonesian Rupiah 250 million yen 475 million yen

Business Description ATM operation business ATM operation business Back-office support on commission Remittance and settlement ser-
vices, Bank Agency Business

Percentage of Voting Rights 
Held by the Bank

100% 85.48% 100% 100%

Percentage of Voting Rights 
Held by Subsidiaries, etc.

— — — —

Organization Chart (As of July 1, 2022)

Status of Major Shareholders (As of March 31, 2022)
Composition of Shareholders

(As of March 31, 2022)

Company Information

Company Name Pito AxM Platform, Inc. Seven Global Remit, Ltd. ACSiON, Ltd. Credd Finance, Ltd.

Head Office Makati, Manila Metropolitan Area, 
Republic of the Philippines

1-6-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, 
Tokyo, Japan

1-6-1 Otemachi, Chiyoda-ku, 
Tokyo, Japan

1-6-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, 
Tokyo, Japan

Representative 
(title/name)

President: Masanori Sakaguchi CEO: Yasuharu Ueki President: Yoshiki Yasuda President and Representative 
Director: Yasuharu Ueki

Established April 1, 2019 June 3, 2019 July 16, 2019 January 22, 2020

Common Stock 1,500 million Philippine pesos 100 million yen 349 million yen 100 million yen

Business Description ATM operation business Money Transfer Services for 
Foreign Nationals

Identity verification and fraud 
detection platform business

Money Lending Services for 
Foreign Nationals

Percentage of Voting Rights 
Held by the Bank

100% 100% 58.25% 60%

Percentage of Voting Rights 
Held by Subsidiaries, etc.

— — — —

Headquarters Location: 1-6-1, Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 100-0005, Japan

Branches Location: 1-6-1, Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 100-0005, Japan

Each branch has been assigned a name of a flower suitable for each month. (As our bank en-
gages in non-face-to-face transactions mainly through ATMs, we do not conduct over-the-
counter services at these branches. We receive and handle all inquiries from customers at our 
Contact Centers.

Month when 
Account was 

Opened
Branch Name

Month when 
Account was 

Opened
Branch Name

Month when 
Account was 

Opened
Branch Name

January Margaret May Carnation September Salvia

February Freesia June Iris October Cosmos

March Pansy July Rose November Cattleya

April Tulip August Hibiscus December Poinsettia

For corporate customers, we open corporate ac-
counts providing services necessary for business op-
erations, such as ATM tie-ups and acceptance of 
cash proceeds from sales. Branches offering services 
to corporate customers are as follows.

Name of Branches

Corporate Business Division I

Corporate Business Division II

Corporate Business Division III

Corporate Business Division IV

Corporate Business Division V

Joint 
Outlets

Number of ATM installation locations and
number of ATMs installed according to outlet

*  Please refer to the Seven Bank Web site (https://www.
sevenbank.co.jp/english/) for the latest information on ATMs.

Bank 
Agency

 Relia, Inc.
Location: 2-6-5, Yoyogi, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo

 Seven Global Remit, Ltd.
Location: 1-6-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo

 Seven Payment Services, Ltd.
Location: 1-6-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, Japan

Name and Address of Branches and Outlets (As of March 31, 2022)

Individuals and other shareholders

18.39%

Financial institutions

19.24%

Securities
companies

1.25%

Overseas investors

11.78%

Other corporations

49.34%

(Amounts have been truncated to the second 
decimal place.)

Number of locations Number of ATMs

Seven-Eleven 21,172 22,550

Others 3,196 3,703

Total 24,368 26,253
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2005 July 26 Introduction of second-generation 
ATMs

Second-generation ATM

October 11 Company name changed to Seven Bank, Ltd.

Seven Bank IC 
cash card

2006 January 3 Began operation of new accounting system

March 20 Began providing time deposit service

April 3 Began accepting IC cash cards with ATMs

2007 June 25 Began receiving outsourcing of ATM 
operation and administration

July 11 Initiated services for cards issued overseas

Started new installation of ATMs 
outside Seven & i Group

September 3 ATMs became capable of topping up 
nanaco electronic money cards

September 27 Completed installation of ATMs in 
Seven-Eleven and Ito-Yokado operating 
areas (36 prefectures at the time)

November 26 Initiated ATM services for visually 
impaired customers (voice-guided 
transactions)

December 17 Completed installation of ATMs in all 
47 prefectures

2008 February 29 Listed on the JASDAQ Securities 
Exchange (currently the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange JASDAQ Market)

2010 January 25 Initiated personal loan services

July 7 Established directly managed ATM corner

Shinjuku Kabukicho corner (internal view)

2001 April 6 Preliminary license received

April 10 IY Bank Co., Ltd. established
(common stock: 20,205 million yen)

April 25 Banking business license received

May 7 Initiated operations (began accepting 
applications for new accounts)

IY Bank cash card

May 15 Initiated ATM services

First-generation ATM

May 23 Joined Japanese Bankers 
Association (full member)

June 11 Connected to Zengin system

June 13 Connected to BANCS

June 18 Initiated money transfer services

July 13 Number of ATMs installed exceeded 1,000

December 1 Began services for acceptance of 
cash proceeds from sales

December 17 Initiated Internet banking services

2004 March 31 Turned profitable on a single fiscal year basis

2005 April 4 Number of ATMs installed exceeded 10,000

Began handling time deposits for 
defined contribution pension plans

2010 November 29 Introduction of third-generation ATMs

Third-generation ATM

2011 March 22 Initiated international money transfer services

December 1 Stock split
Adopted share unit number system 
with 100 shares per unit

December 26 Listed on the First Section of the 
Tokyo Stock Exchange

2012 June 27 Number of Seven Bank accounts exceeded 1 million

October 6 Acquired all issued shares of Financial 
Consulting & Trading International, Inc. 
of the United States to make it a wholly 
owned subsidiary

2013 September 27 U.S.-based subsidiary Financial Consulting 
& Trading International, Inc. acquired the 
ATM business of Global Axcess Corp.

2014 January 8 Initiated Seven Bank account ATM 
transaction screens in nine languages

June 10 Established PT. ABADI TAMBAH MULIA 
INTERNASIONAL (“ATMi”), a joint 
venture operating ATMs in Indonesia

July 1 Established Bank Business Factory Co., 
Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary engaged 
in back-office support on commission

July 31 Number of ATMs installed exceeded 20,000

2015 August 6 PT. ABADI TAMBAH MULIA INTERNASIONAL 
started operating ATM business in Indonesia

October 1 Financial Consulting & Trading International, 
Inc., a subsidiary in the United States, 
changed its name to “FCTI, Inc.”

December 16 Expansion of language options on ATM 
screens and slips to 12 languages, etc. 
when cards issued overseas are used

2016 October 17 Issued cash cards with a debit function

2017 March 27 Began offering the ATM deposit/
withdrawal service via smartphones

October 1 Began real-time money transfers services

2018 January 11 Established Seven Payment Service, Ltd., 
a wholly owned subsidiary, which conducts 
remittance and settlement services

May 7 Seven Payment Service, Ltd. began 
offering ATM cash receiving services

October 15 Began handling a top-up service 
at ATMs for electronic money to 
transportation IC cards, etc.

2019 April 1 Established Pito AxM Platform, Inc., 
a wholly owned subsidiary in the 
Philippines operating ATMs

April 5 Designated fi ve “material issues”

June 3 Established Seven Global Remit, Ltd., a wholly 
owned subsidiary engaged in fund transfer 
business for foreign nationals in Japan

July 16 Established ACSiON, Ltd., a joint 
venture operating security services

September 26 Introduction of fourth-generation ATMs

Fourth-generation ATM

2020 January 22 Established Credd Finance, Ltd., a 
joint venture engaged in money lending 
business for foreign nationals in Japan

April 20 Launched “My Seven Bank,” an app 
that enables instant account opening 
with a smartphone

August 20 Credd Finance, Ltd. launched Sendy 
Credit Card, credit-related services 
for foreign nationals in Japan

August 31 Began ATM services for Individual Number 
Card Points preregistration/application

October 1 ACSiON, Ltd. launched Detecker, a 
fraud detection platform

October 30 Credd Finance, Ltd. launched Sendy Personal 
Loan, loan services for foreign nationals in 
Japan according to their purposes

December 8 ACSiON, Ltd. launched proost, an 
online personal authentication service

2021 February 26 Pito AxM Platform, Inc. started operating 
ATM business in the Philippines

March 26 Began ATM services for application 
to use Individual Number Card as a 
health insurance card

March 29 Seven Global Remit, Ltd. launched 
Sendy, a smartphone app for 
international money transfer service

April 5 Formulated Purpose of Seven Bank Group

September 21 Launched Seven Bank Post Payment Service

History (As of March 31, 2022)
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Okinawa 137

Hokkaido

1,154

Aomori 109

Iwate

153

Akita

120

Miyagi

544

Yamagata

210

Fukushima

557

Niigata

635

Ibaraki

763

Tochigi

549
Gunma

521

Yamanashi

225

Mie

188

Nara

168

Hyogo

836

Wakayama

92

Gifu

235
Shiga

251

Fukui

80

Osaka

1,758

Kyoto

454
Tottori

48

Okayama

363Hiroshima

612

Shimane

62

Yamaguchi

372

Miyazaki

210

Oita

198

Fukuoka

1,236Saga

201
Nagasaki

214

Kagoshima

216

Kochi

44

Ehime

128 Tokushima

83

Kagawa

121

Nagano

498

Toyama

147

Ishikawa

148

Aichi

1,262

Kumamoto

404

Shizuoka

1,035

Chiba

1,561

Kanagawa 1,758

Tokyo 4,004

Saitama

1,589

26,253ATMs nationwide
(as of March 31, 2022)

* The number of ATMs installed at Seven-Eleven stores 
in facilities outside the Group is included in the num-
ber of ATMs in Seven-Eleven stores.

Seven-Eleven stores 22,550
(Stores with multiple ATMs installed: 1,378stores)
* At stores with a high usage volume, we are 
promoting multiple installations of ATMs so that 
customers do not have to wait to use an ATM.

Other Seven & i Group stores 662
Commercial facilities outside the Group 1,669
Office buildings 108
Railway stations 726
Highway rest areas 77
Airports 63
Other locations (financial institutions, etc.) 398

(As of March 31, 2022)
 Number of ATMs installed by location

Principal Data
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*There are some cards that have the same marks but cannot be accepted at our ATMs. *These are the logos of some of the services provided.

Partner Deposit-taking Financial Institutions (as of May 31, 2022)

Banks by location of head of�ce

Hokkaido/Tohoku region

Kanto region

Chubu region

Financial Institutions, Etc. (as of May 31, 2022)

Securities companies

Life insurance companies

Alliance Network (as of May 31, 2022)

Cards issued overseas (international brands)

Credit card companies, credit companies, consumer �nance companies, business loan providers, operating companies

Electronic money

Labor banksShinkin banks Credit cooperatives JA Bank JF Marine Bank Shoko Chukin Bank

Kinki region

Chugoku/Shikoku region

Kyushu/Okinawa region

Overseas banks

Principal Data
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Within Seven & i Group
Total 

23,212

Seven-Eleven 
(Stores with multiple units installed: 1,378)

22,550

Ito-Yokado 254

York-Benimaru 238

York Mart 96

Seibu 13

Sogo 9

LOFT 5

Akachan Honpo 3

Denny’s 1

Headquarters, Directly 
managed ATM corner, etc.

43

Outside the 
Group

Total 
3,041

Commercial facilities 1,669

Office buildings 108

Railway stations 726

Highway rest areas 77

Airports 63

Others (financial 
institutions, etc.)

398

Fiscal 2021

Fiscal 2021

Withdrawal:

57.4%

Money transfer:  0.7%

Deposit: 41.7%

The average deposit 
per transaction:

38 thousand yen

The average withdrawal 
per transaction:

40 thousand yen

Deposit-taking financial
institutions*2:

69.6%

Seven Bank: 3.7%

Other financial 
institutions, etc.*3:

26.6%

0

5,500

11,000

16,500

22,000

27,500

19,514
21,056

22,472
24,392

25,676 26,253
25,21525,152

23,368

18,123
16,632

14,60113,803
13,03212,08811,484

9,981
7,804

5,250

15,363

3,657

2014 2015201320122011201020092008200720062005200420032002 2016 2018 2021 2022202020192017

(Units)

Growth Trajectory of Seven Bank’s ATM

0

550

1,100

1,650

2,200

2,750

(Number of accounts: Thousand accounts)

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2016 20172015
0

130

260

390

650

520

2022202020192018 2021

■Outstanding balance of ordinary deposits   ■Balance of time deposits
●Number of individual accounts

(Balance: billion yen)

6363 108108

331
466

163 225

580

971

688

885
775

1,0661,066

1,2141,214

1,562

2,001

2,528
2,364

2,179

1,827
1,690

1,4051,405

52.0

5.1 14.6 29.8 40.049.7

72.1

57.92.3
14.1

92.4
113.6 129.5

219.2

66.8
125.525.6

41.7

212.3

104.0
76.3 87.7

108.3
93.7

37.2

251.2

143.9

107.3

312.1

158.9
212.4

153.1

177.3

245.2

151.6

190.4

180.6

389.7
396.8

371.0

294.2
268.2

140.4141.2

434.6

423.0

127.7

550.7

383.2

135.7

519.0

324.5

134.0

458.6

409.5

(Amounts have been truncated to the second decimal place.)

Growth Trajectory of Seven Bank’s Accounts (individuals) 

 Growth in Total Balance and Number of Accounts (individuals) as of March 31 Amounts less than one unit have been truncated. 

(Billions of yen) 

-25

0

25

50

75

100

125

150

20142013201220112010200920082007200620052004200320022001 2015 2021201920182016

●Total income   ●Ordinary expenses   ●Ordinary profit   ●Net income

39.0

71.4

110.4

26.1

28.4

45.0

81.8
75.2

110.2
120.2

18.1

2020

34.5

77.0

111.6

15.8
27.6

43.0

76.5

119.5

14.5

2017

42.2

74.3

116.6

29.1

38.9

74.1

113.1

26.8

-8.1

19.7

11.5

-8.1

19.4

45.2

64.6

10.5

28.7

58.461.0

88.889.8

16.9 17.9
10.8

37.8

47.9

10.0
5.0

29.1

-12.1

1.9

-12.1

26.0

3.0

25.0

50.4

12.6

75.4

24.6

59.0

83.6

13.8

30.4

14.0

29.527.4

58.756.5
62.0

88.383.9

19.5

37.1

62.6

99.8

22.3

38.2

67.3

105.6

24.4
16.0 17.2

94.1

32.0

(Fiscal Year)

Financial Highlights

 Changes in Profit/Loss (non-consolidated) Amounts less than one unit have been truncated. 

 Number of ATMs installed as of March 31

0

400

800

1,200

0

50

100

150

815

(Fiscal Year)

910
836849829

590 609
655

698
736

24.924.9

46.846.8

67.567.5
76.676.6

88.288.2
97.897.8

109.0109.0
114.3114.3

342

14
72

158
257

112.6111.1
107.8

418
498

782

98.8 796

95.5743

100.9

555

114.4112.3

96.5

90.592.192.394.1

2011 201320122010200920082007200620052004200320022001 201620152014

(Number of transactions: millions) (Transactions/ATM/Day)

■Number of transactions
●Daily average transactions per ATM

20212020201920182017

 Number of ATM transactions per Fiscal Year*1 and Daily Average Transactions per ATM*1 Amounts less than one unit have been truncated.

 Number of ATMs Installed by Location (as of March 31, 2022: 26,253 units)  Number of ATM Transactions by Service*1 Breakdown (excluding Seven Bank) 

 Number of ATM Transactions by Business Category*1 Breakdown 

*1. Number of transactions: Total number of deposits, withdrawals and money transfers. Balance inquiry, electronic money charge/balance confirmation, 
PIN number change, usage limit change, and Individual Number Card Points preregistration/application are not included.

*2. Deposit-taking financial institutions: Banks (excluding Seven Bank), Shinkin banks, credit cooperatives, labor banks, the JA Bank, the JF Marine Bank, 
the Shoko Chukin Bank. 

*3. Other financial institutions, etc.: securities companies, life insurance companies, credit card companies, consumer finance companies, business loan 
providers, operating companies, cards issued overseas. 

Principal Data
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1. We aim to be a sincere company that our customers trust.

2.  We aim to be a sincere company that our business partners, shareholders, 

and local communities trust.

3. We aim to be a sincere company that our employees trust.

Corporate 
Principles

Management 
policy

1. We aspire to be a trusted � nancial service provider that fully meets customer needs.

2.  We act to promptly introduce the bene� ts of technical innovation and 

pursue self-development.

3.  We strive to contribute to the stability and advancement of the � nancial system 

by providing a secure and ef� cient payment infrastructure.

(Only items are excerpted)

1. Be fully aware of the public nature and social responsibilities of a bank.

2.  Provide highly convenient, customer focused services, matched to current needs.

3. Act with integrity and fairness.

4. Communicate with society.

5. Have respect for humanity.

Charter of 
Ethics

As a member of the Group
Holding true to our core philosophy
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